

Estimation and mitigation assessment of N₂O emission and nitrate leaching in a mountainous catchment in South Korea using the LandscapeDNDC model

Dissertation

to attain the academic degree of Doctor of Natural Science (Dr. rer. nat.) of the Bayreuth Graduate School of Mathematical and Natural Sciences (BayNAT) of the University of Bayreuth

> presented by Youngsun Kim

Bayreuth, January 2015

This doctoral thesis was prepared at the Department of Plant Ecology, University of Bayreuth, between May 2010 and December 2014 and was supervised by PD. Dr. Ralf Kiese, Prof. Dr. John Tenhunen and Prof. Dr. Gerhard Gebauer.

This is a full reprint of the dissertation submitted to attain the academic degree of Doctor of Natural Science (Dr. rer. nat.) and approved by the Bayreuth Graduate School of Mathematical and Natural Sciences (BayNAT) of the University of Bayreuth.

Date of submission: 16. 01. 2015

Date of defense: 03. 03. 2015

Acting director:

Prof. Dr. Franz Xaver Schmid

Doctoral committee:

Prof. Dr. John Tenhunen (first reviewer)

PD. Dr. Ralf Kiese (second reviewer)

Prof. Dr. Christoph Thomas (chairman)

Prof. Dr. Bernd Huwe

Abstract

The application of excessive N fertilizer is a common farming practice in Southeast Asia to ensure the optimum crop yield. However, surplus N in soil induced from higher fertilization than crop N demand is highly susceptible to loss as N_2O emission and nitrate leaching during heavy rainfall events in the monsoon season. Intensive farming conducted in the Haean catchment of South Korea has received much attention due to its geographical importance as an upstream region of the Soyang River Dam, which is used as the major drinking water for urban residents (including Seoul). Taking into account the combination of monsoon climate, intensive N fertilizer use and sand dressing prior to mulching and seeding of upland fields in the Haean catchment are likely to cause significant N loss and soil erosion, which have a high potential for directly impacting on the dam water quality via the Mandae stream.

The plastic mulch as well as high N fertilization is a typical agricultural management practice for upland crop cultivation in the Haean catchment. To consider effects of plastic mulch on the dynamics of soil temperature and water content, based on soil measurements, meteorological input data i.e. air temperature and precipitation were adjusted to allow the biogeochemical LandscapeDNDC model differentiating simulations of plastic mulch (row) conditions. Furthermore, the actual weather data was applied for the simulation of interrow conditions. The main parameters such as MaxTDD, Tlimit, OptYield and WUECMAX for the simulation of plant growth of major upland crops (i.e. potato, radish, soybean and cabbage) and dominant tree species (i.e. Quercus Mongolica) of the Haean catchment were newly implemented into the model. Taking into account mulching effects and different agricultural management practices, the LandscapeDNDC was validated against detailed field measurements of N₂O emission, nitrate concentration, soil temperature and water content (5, 15 and 30 cm soil depth) and biomass production from potato, radish, soybean and cabbage fields. Furthermore, the LandscapeDNDC was also tested against field data of N₂O emission, soil temperature and water content (10 cm soil depth) from temperate deciduous forest sites located at three different altitudes and thus different exposure to atmospheric N deposition (24 - 51 kg N ha⁻¹). Application of the adjusted meteorological data showed better prediction of soil temperature and water content from rows covering with plastic mulch as compared to application of the actual weather data (e.g. adjusted data: $r^2 = 0.49$; actual data: $r^2 = 0.18$). Developmental stages of major upland crops were successfully captured by the LandscapeDNDC and separately simulated above- and belowground biomass were in good agreement with measured biomass $(r^2 = 0.81 - 0.98)$. The peak N₂O emissions after N fertilization from potato, radish and cabbage fields were generally underestimated, however, with respect to high uncertainties and low frequency of measurements, temporal dynamics and magnitude of N₂O emission (r^2 up to 0.45; ME up to 0.21) as well as nitrate concentration (r^2 up to 0.89; ME up to 0.43) were well captured by the model. Based on the

successful site validation, the LandscapeDNDC was connected to a GIS database holding all spatially explicit information on climate, soil, vegetation and management and used for estimating N_2O emission, nitrate leaching and crop production from intensively managed upland fields and temperate deciduous forest of the Haean catchment (61.5 km²).

The main objectives of this thesis were to estimate N₂O emission, nitrate leaching and crop yield from the Haean catchment taking into account different land use and environmental conditions and to evaluate mitigation options to minimize N losses while maintaining the current crop yield. The LandscapeDNDC simulation of the mean annual direct N₂O emissions from upland fields and temperate deciduous forest was 2.03 and 0.50 kg N ha⁻¹ through 2009 - 2010, respectively. Simulated mean nitrate leaching rates from upland fields resulted in much higher annual values of 112.2 and 125.4 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. In contrast, simulated mean nitrate leaching rates from temperate deciduous forest were negligible (≤ 0.01 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) both in 2009 and 2010. Direct N₂O emission factors for upland fields of the Haean catchment were 0.80 and 0.94% in 2009 and 2010, respectively, which is slightly lower than the IPCC default value of 1%. However, due to the high nitrate leaching rate estimated indirect N_2O emission from nitrate leaching was substantial and was in the similar range of direct N₂O emission from upland fields. Simulated upland crop biomass ranged between 5.5 and 17.8 t DW ha⁻¹ with annual mean values of 10.4 and 9.3 t DW ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Estimation of area-weighted total N₂O emission (sum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions) from the Haean catchment was 3.31 and 2.93 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. About 52% of the total N₂O emission was derived from fertilized upland fields, covering only 27% of the catchment area. The model predicted nitrate leaching as the dominant pathway of N loss from the Haean catchment with annual values of 72.0 and 59.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Fertilized upland fields were the strongest source of nitrate leaching, which accounted for 99% of simulated total nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment through 2009 - 2010. Mainly due to the decrease in total N fertilization rate in response to the reduction of cultivation area, N₂O emission and nitrate leaching were about 14% lower in 2010 as compared to 2009.

Adopted mitigation options were based on the maximum reduction of nitrate leaching and N_2O emission without penalizing the current crop yield. Generally simulations show that N export to the environment could be reduced by overall lowering of fertilization rates by approximately 34% without impacting on current crop yields. Splitting N fertilizer application into 3 times rather than 2 times showed slightly higher potential for minimizing N loss from upland fields of the Haean catchment. By splitting N fertilizer application into 3 times the total nitrate leaching could be significantly reduced by 68% (32.7 t N yr⁻¹) in 2009. Even a higher reduction rate of 78% was achieved for the year 2010. Reduced nitrate leaching would significantly decrease mean nitrate concentrations in the Mandae stream at the Haean

catchment outflow from 3.5 to about 2 mg l^{-1} , which is much closer to the quality standard of inland water of 1.5 mg l^{-1} . Estimated mitigation of N₂O emissions from upland fields was 0.93 and 0.78 t N yr⁻¹, which was about 49 and 52% reduction in N₂O emissions as compared to farmers` practices in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Taking into account a 47 ton reduction in N fertilization by the adopted mitigation option, fertilizer-induced N loss (sum of nitrate leaching rate and N₂O emission) from upland fields of the Haean catchment was projected to decrease significantly by 73% as compared to the N loss from the farmers` practices through 2009 - 2010.

To the best of our knowledge this was the first study of upscaling N₂O emission and nitrate leaching including assessment of mitigation options in order to reduce N loss from a catchment in South Korea with a process based biogeochemical model. The most remarkable finding of this thesis was to show the significant potential for decreasing N loss without affecting the current crop yield by the application of adopted mitigation option. However, further studies are still required to evaluate additional mitigation options such as cover crops (e.g. rapeseed and winter wheat which have been already started by a cultivation experiment in Gangwon Province) and reduced tillage both potentially contributing also to increase of soil carbon stocks and soil fertility. Furthermore, adaptation of fertilization depending on accurate weather predictions, which can be particularly important under monsoon climate conditions. The finding of this study could be suggested as guidelines for improving farmers` practices while minimizing the N loss from the entire crop field of the Haean catchment.

Zusammenfassung

Übermäßige Stickstoffdüngung ist in weiten Teilen Südost-Asien gängige landwirtschaftliche Praxis, um optimale Ernten zu gewährleisten. Düngung über den Pflanzenbedarf hinaus führt jedoch dazu, dass insbesondere in der Monsoon-Zeit, überschüssiger Stickstoff aus den Böden in Form von Nitrat (NO₃) ausgewaschen oder als N₂O in die Atmosphäre emittiert werden kann. Der intensiven Landwirtschaft im Haean-Becken in Südkorea kommt große Aufmerksamkeit zu, da dieses Einzugsgebiet über den Mandae-Fluss den Soyang River Dam speist, welcher zur Trinkwassergewinnung für die umliegende städtische Bevölkerung (inklusive Seoul) dient. Die Kombination von Monsunklima, intensiver Stickstoffdüngung, Topdressing mit Sand und Mulchen der Felder mit Plastikfolie im Haean Einzugsgebiet, lässt einen signifikanten Austrag von Stickstoffin die Umwelt und Bodenerosion vermuten, die sich negativ auf die Wasserqualität des Soyang River Dams auswirken.

Mulchen mit Plastikfolie, sowie starke Stickstoffdüngung sind typische landwirtschaftliche Praktiken für den Feldfruchtanbau im Haean-Becken. Um die Effekte des Plastikmulchens auf die Dynamik der Bodentemperatur und des Bodenwassergehalts zu berücksichtigen, wurden basierend auf Bodenmessdaten meteorologische Inputdaten wie Lufttemperatur und Niederschlag so angepasst, dass das biogeochemische LandscapeDNDC Model die Bedingungen in den mit Plastikfolie bedeckten Pflanzenreihen besser simulieren konnte. Die tatsächlichen Wetterdaten wurden verwendet um die Bedingungen zwischen den Pflanzreihen zu simulieren. Weiterhin wurde das LandscapeDNDC Model erweitert, um das Pflanzenwachstum für diese Studie wichtige Feldfrüchte wie Kartoffeln, Rettich, Sojabohnen und Kohl, sowie die im Hean Einzugsgebiet dominierende Baumart Quercus mongolica simulieren zu können. Hierzu wurden insbesondere die Hauptparameter für das Pflanzenwaschstum, wie MaxTDD, Tlimit, OptYield und WUECMAX angepasst. Das für die spezfischen landwirtschaftlichen Praktiken wie Mulchen angepasst LandscapeDNDC Modelwurde im nächsten Schritt mit detailierten Feldmessungen von N₂O-Emissionen, NO₃-Konzentrationen, Bodentemperatur und Bodenwassergehalt (in 5, 15 und 30 cm Bodentiefe) und Biomasseproduktion von Kartoffel-, Rettich-, Sojabohnen- und Kohlfeldern validiert. Außerdem wurde das Model auch mit Messungen von N₂O-Emissionen, Bodentemperatur und Bodenwassergahlt (in 10 cm Bodentiefe) temperater Laubwälder in drei verschiedenen Höhenlagen und somit unterschiedliche Raten der Stickstoffdeposion (24 - 51 kg N ha⁻¹), getestet. Die Verwendung des angepassten meteorologischen Inputdatensates führte zu einer besseren Vorhersagbarkeit von Bodentemperatur und -Wassergehalt in mit Plastikfolie bedeckten Beeten als die Anwendung der für diese Verhältnisse unrealistischeren tatsächlichen Wetterdaten (angepasste Daten: r² = 0.49; tatsächliche Daten: $r^2 = 0.18$). Die Biomassen der verschiednenen Entwicklungsstadien der wichtigen Feldfrüchte wurde erfolgreich vom Model erfasst und seperat modellierte oberirdische und

unterirdische Biomasse waren ebenso in gutem Einvernehmen mit der im Feld gemessenen Biomasse ($r^2 = 0.81 - 0.98$). Die N₂O-Emissionspitzen nach der Stickstoffdüngung von Kartoffel-, Rettich und Kohlfeldern wurden generell unterschätzt. In Anbetracht relativ hoher Unsicherheiten und der niedrigen Messfrequenz der Messwerte, wurde jedoch die zeitliche Dynamik und Menge der N₂O-Emissionen (r^2 bis zu 0.45; ME bis zu 0.21) generell gut vom Model erfasst. Die Simulationen der zeitlichen Veränderung der Nitratkonzentrationen in verschiedenen Bodentiefen stimmten ebenso gut (r^2 bis zu 0.89; ME bis zu 0.43) mit Messwerten überein. Basierend auf der erfolgreichen Validierung auf Plot-Skale, wurde das LandscapeDNDC Model an eine GIS-Datenbank gekoppelt, welche räumlich explizite Informationen über Klima, Boden, Vegetation und Managementpraktiken vorhält, und verwendet um N₂O-Emissionen, NO₃⁻-Auswaschung und Ernteerträge von intensiv bewirtschafteten Feldfrüchten und Laubwäldern des Haean-Beckens abzuschätzen (61.5 km²).

Die Hauptzielstellungen dieser Arbeit waren das Abschätzen von N2O-Emissionen, NO3 -Auswaschung und Ernteerträgen im Haean-Becken unter Berücksichtigung verschiedener Landnutzung- und Umweltparameter und die Evaluierung von Optionen um Stickstoffverluste bei gleichbleibend hohen Ernteerträgen zu mindern. Die LandscapeDNDC-Simulation der mittleren jährlichen N₂O-Emissionen der Felder und Laubwälder waren 2.03, beziehungsweise 0.50 kg N ha⁻¹ für den Zeitraum 2009 - 2010. Simulierte mittlere NO₃⁻Auswaschungsraten ergaben viel höhere Werte von 112.2, beziehungsweise 125.4 kg N ha⁻¹ für den Zeitraum 2009 - 2010. Im Kontrast dazu waren die simulierten mittleren NO₃⁻-Auswaschungsraten der Laubwälder für den gleichen Zeitraumvernachlässigbar klein (≤ 0.01 kg N ha⁻¹ vr⁻¹). Die direkten N₂O-Emissionsfaktoren des Feldfruchtanbaus im Haean-Beckens waren 0.80 und 0.94% für 2009 und 2010, was geringfügig unter der IPCC-Vorgabe von 1% liegt. Allerdings waren die indirekten N₂O-Emission in Folge von NO₃-Auswaschung substanziell höher und vergleichbar der Größenordnung der direkten N2O-Emissionen. Die simulierte Feldfruchtbiomasse lag zwischen 5.5 und 17.8 t DW ha⁻¹ mit jährlichen Mittelwerten von 10.4 und 9.3 t DW ha⁻¹ für 2009 und 2010. Eine Abschätzung von auf die Fläche bezogenen N2O-Emissionen (Summe aus direkter und indirekter N2O-Emission) des Haean-Beckens ergab 3.31, beziehungsweise 2.93 t N yr⁻¹ für 2009 und 2010. Dabei stammen 52% der gesamten N₂O-Emissionen von den gedüngten Feldern, welche flächenmäßig nur 27% des Haean-Beckens ausmachen. Die Model-Simulationen zeigen, dass die NO3-Auswaschung der dominante Weg für Stickstoffverluste im Haean-Becken darstellt, mit jährlichen Werten von 72.0, beziehungsweise 59.5 t N yr⁻¹ für 2009 und 2010. Gedüngte Felder waren die größte Quelle für ausgewaschenes NO3⁻ und bedingten 99% der gesamten simulierten NO3⁻-Auswaschung des Haean-Beckens im Zeitraum von 2009 - 2010. Verursacht durch eine Abnahme der gesamten

Stickstoffdüngungsrate als Folge einer Verringerung der gesamten kultivierten Fläche, waren N_2O -Emissionen und NO_3^- -Auswaschung im Jahr 2010 um 14% geringer als 2009.

In dieser Studie angewandte Mitigations-optionen basierten auf der maximalen Reduzierung von NO₃-Auswaschung und N₂O-Emissionen ohne nachteilige Auswirkung auf die derzeitigen Erntebeträge. Die Simulationen zeigen, dass generell niedrigere N-Düngegaben zu einer deutlichen Reduzierung des N-Austrags in die Umwelt führen, ohne Auswirkungen auf die derzeitige Höhe der Ernteerträge. Verglichen mit zwei Applikationszeitpunkten würde die Ausbringung des Stickstoffdüngers zu drei Zeitpunkten zu einer höheren Reduzierung der Stickstoffverluste von den Feldern des Haean-Beckens führen. Bei drei Düngungszeitpunkten war die modellierte Gesamt-NO₃⁻-Auswaschung für 2009 um 68% geringer (32.7 t N yr⁻¹). Für 2010 ergab sich sogar eine Reduzierung um 78%. Diese reduzierte NO₃⁻-Auswaschung würde die NO₃⁻-Konzentrationen im Abfluss des Mandae-Flusses von 3.5 auf 2 mg l⁻¹ verringern, was deutlich näher am für Binnengewässern festgelegten Qualitätsstandard-Wert von 1.5 mg l⁻¹ liegt. Die abgeschätzte Minderung der N₂O-Emissionen aus landwirtschaftlichem Anbau betrug 0.93 und 0.78 t N yr⁻¹, was eine Reduzierung um 49% für 2009 und 52% für 2010 ergeben würde. Unter der Annahme einer reduzierten Stickstoffdüngung von 47 Tonnen bei der vorgeschlagenen Milderungsoption, wäre der durch Düngung induzierte Stickstoffverlust (Summe aus NO₃⁻Auswaschung und N₂O-Emissionen) um 73% geringer gewesen als im Vergleich zum Stickstoffverlust, der durch die Feldmanagementpraktiken 2009 und 2010 tatsächlich aufgetreten ist.

Unseres Wissens nach, ist dies die erste Studie, in der N₂O-Emissionen und NO₃⁻Auswaschung, sowie Vorschläge für Milderungsstrategien um Stickstoffverluste zu reduzieren, regional für ein Wassereinzugsgebiet in Südkorea mit einem prozessbasierten biogeochemischen Modell abgeschätzt wurden. Das bedeutendste Resultat dieser Studie ist das Aufzeigen des hohen Potenzials von Minderungsstrategien, Stickstoffverluste zu reduzieren ohne Ernteerträge zu beeinträchtigen. Jedoch sind weitere Studien notwendig, um weitere Optionen wie Gründüngung (Raps und Winterweizen, welche in einem Bepflanzungsexperiment in der Kangwon-Provinz bereits getestet werden) und reduziertes Pflügen, zu evaluieren. Beide Praktiken tragen weiterhin dazu bei die Boden-Kohlenstoffgehalte und damit die Bodenfruchtbarkeit zu erhöhen. Außerdem würde eine veränderte Düngungspraxis mit Düngergaben direkt in die Pflanzlöcher unter Berücksichtigung von aktuellen Wetterprognosen, vor allem während der Monsunwetterlage, weitere Milderungen des N-Austrags ermöglichen. Die Ergebnisse dieser Studie könnten als Basis zur Modifizierung der derzeitigen landwirtschaftlichen Praxis von Landwirten im Haean Einzugsgebiet dienen, um Stickstoffverluste in die Umwelt stark zu verringern.

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank all people who have supported and inspired me to complete this thesis. First and foremost, I would like to express my sincere gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Ralf Kiese for his valuable guidance, constant support and encouragement during my doctoral studies. I deeply thank him for his great effort and patience he put into training me in the modeling field.

I am very grateful to Prof. John Tenhunen for giving me the opportunity to join a new research project and his thoughtful consideration for continuing my doctoral studies in Garmisch. I wish to give my great appreciation to Prof. Gerhard Gebauer for his helpful comments and encouragement. I would like to give my special thanks to Prof. Hojeong Kang, Dr. Dongwon Shin, Prof. Yongpyo Kim and Prof. Seunghun Lee for their friendly advice and heartfelt concern.

I am thankful to all my friends and colleagues at the Division of Bio-Geo-Chemical Processes, Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Institute for Meteorology and Climate Research-Atmospheric Environmental Research and the TERRECO Project, University of Bayreuth.

My warmest thanks go to family Dongjae Lee-Otto and family Seeeun Sung for their enduring love and care throughout my doctoral studies. I will never forget all warm memories of times I have made together with them in Bayreuth and Garmisch. My sincere thanks go to Kaehwan, Jion and Woogun Sunim for their prayers and good wishes. Very special thanks go to my best friends Juyeon Park and Yejin Hong for always being there for me and sending me One Ring, which made me feel more cheerful and powerful.

Most importantly, none of this thesis would have been possible without unending love, faith and encouragement of my parents who prayed for me every moment and filled me with positive energy and also my sister who shared the same challenges as a doctoral student and inspired me a lot to finish this thesis. I would like to express my deepest love and appreciation to my grandmother who passed away before the completion of this thesis.

Table of Contents

bstract	i
usammenfassung	.iv
cknowledgements	vii
able of contents	viii
ist of figures	. xi
ist of tables	xiii
ist of abbreviations	xv

Chapter 1	1
Synopsis	1
1.1 Introduction	1
1.2 Materials and methods	3
1.2.1 Description of study region	3
1.2.2 Description and application of the LandscapeDNDC model	5
1.3 Results and discussion	8
1.4 Conclusions	22
1.5 List of manuscripts and specification of individual contributions	25
1.6 References	27

Chapter 2	
Plastic mulching in agriculture-friend or foe of N ₂ O emissions?	
Abstract	
2.1 Introduction	
2.2 Methods	
2.2.1 Study site	
2.2.2 Experimental design in 2010	
2.2.3 Experimental design in 2011	
2.2.4 Measurements of N ₂ O fluxes	
2.2.5 Measurement of soil moisture and soil temperature	
2.2.6 Statistical methods	

2.3 Results
2.3.1 N_2O fluxes and cumulative N_2O emissions at the radish field in 2010
2.3.2 Soil moisture and temperature of the PE-mulched ridges and furrows at the N200 plot
$2.3.3 N_2O$ fluxes and cumulative N_2O emissions at the soybean field in 2011
2.3.4 Soil moisture and temperature of the PE mulched ridges, the non-PE-mulched ridges and furrows at the soybean field
2.3.5 Correlations between N ₂ O fluxes and soil moisture, soil temperature and amount of N fertilizer applied
2.4 Discussion
2.4.1 General comments on crop yields of the study region
2.4.2 Discussion of the results
2.5 Conclusions
2.6 Acknowledgements
2.7 References
2.8 Appendix

apter 3	
Simulation of N ₂ O emissions and nitrate leaching from plastic mulch r with LandscapeDNDC	adish cultivation
Abstract	
3.1 Introduction	
3.2 Materials and methods	
3.2.1 Site description	
3.2.2 Agricultural management	
3.2.3 LandscapeDNDC: model description and adaptation	
3.2.4 Field measurements used for model validation	
3.2.5 Model performance criteria	61
3.3 Results	61
3.3.1 Soil temperature and water content	61
3.3.2 Radish biomass	
3.3.3 N ₂ O emissions	
3.3.4 Nitrate leaching	
3.4 Discussion	73

3.5 Conclusions	
3.6 Acknowledgements	
3.7 References	

Chapter 4
Estimation and mitigation of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from intensive crop cultivation in the Haean catchment, South Korea
Abstract
4.1 Introduction
4.2 Materials and methods
4.2.1 Site description
4.2.2 LandscapeDNDC model
4.2.3 Site scale initialization and validation dataset
4.2.4 Regional scale model input data
4.2.5 Model performance measures
4.3 Results and discussion
4.3.1 Site scale model validation
4.3.2 Regional scale model application (Haean catchment)97
4.3.3 Assessment of mitigation strategies
4.4 Conclusions
4.5 Acknowledgements
4.6 References

Assurance and Declaration	Versicherungen und	Erklärungen		12	2
---------------------------	--------------------	-------------	--	----	---

List of figures

Figure 1.1 Land uses of the Haean catchment in a) 2009 and b) 2010. Forest is the dominant land use (59%), followed by upland (27%) and rice paddy (9%) fields. Potato, radish, soybean and cabbage are the major upland crops (yellow-colored area), covering about 27% of the total upland area. Black circles indicate the locations of automatic weather stations
Figure 1.2 Regional distribution of simulated annual crop biomass, N ₂ O emission and nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment in a) 2009 and b) 2010
Figure 1.3 Comparison between a) N loss by farmers` practices and b) reduced N loss by mitigation option in 2009 and 2010. Note that only row with upland crops was simulated for assessing mitigation options and interrow and forest were not simulated
Figure 2.1 Schematic drawing of the experimental design of the radish field site in 2010
Figure 2.2 Scheme of a typical ridge cultivation system with plastic mulching in a temperate South Korean area with summer monsoon. Shown are the distribution of N fertilizer in the system and width, height and distance of the ridges
Figure 2.3 N_2O flux [µmol m ⁻² h ⁻¹] and cumulative N_2O emission [mmol m ⁻²] of the radish field site from May 13 through October 22, 2010. The first dotted line indicates the day when the N fertilizer was applied (June 1) and the second dotted line indicates the day when the radish was harvested, the PE mulch was removed and the ridge and furrow system was dissolved. Error bars in N_2O flux- and cumulative N_2O emission- graphs represent the standard error of the mean (n=3)
Figure 2.4 Mean daily volumetric water content [%] and mean daily soil temperature [°C] from June 14 through August 31 of the N200 plot at the radish field site in 2010
Figure 2.5 N ₂ O flux [μ mol m ⁻² h ⁻¹] and cumulative N ₂ O emission [mmol m ⁻²] of the soybean field site from May 15 through September 14, 2011. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean (n=3) 44
Figure 2.6 Mean daily volumetric water content [%] and mean daily soil temperature [°C] from May 15 through September 14 at the soy bean field site in 2011
Figure 3.1 Daily precipitation and average daily air temperature of the study site. The weather data was collected from the automatic weather station on site in 2010
Figure 3.2 Comparison of measured and simulated temperature at a) 15 and b) 30 cm soil depth of rows including data of all N fertilizer treatments (Note: soil temperature across different treatments were not statistically different). Open circles represent simulated soil temperature with average air temperature (Tair) as input and closed squares represent simulated soil temperature with 90% of maximum air temperature of that recorded at the climate station on site as input. Lines (gray dashed: average air temperature; black solid: 90% maximum air temperature and 1:1 line) represent linear fit and prediction bands
Figure 3.3 Measured (circle) and simulated soil water content (line) at a) 15 and b) 30 cm depth of rows with 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments
Figure 3.4 Comparison of measured (circle) and simulated (line) radish biomass dry weight from rows with 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments. Above- and belowground radish biomass were measured at 25, 50 and 75 days after seeding. Bars represent standard errors of measurements

List of tables

Table 1.1 The LandscapeDNDC simulation of N_2O emission, nitrate leaching rate and biomassproduction of the Haean catchment in 2009 and 201017
Table 1.2 Mitigation potential for N ₂ O emission and nitrate leaching rate from upland fields of the Haean catchment in 2009 and 2010 21
Table 2.1 Statistically significant differences between N2O fluxes of PE mulches, plant holes and furrows of the N50, N200, N250 and N350 plots of those measurement days when such differences occurred. * indicates P < 0.05, ** indicates P < 0.01 and *** indicates P < 0.00153
Table 2.2 N ₂ O flux [μ mol m ⁻² h ⁻¹] and Standard Error (n = 3) as well as cumulative N ₂ O emission [mmol m ⁻²] and Standard Error (n = 3) of the soybean field site's furrows from May 15 through September 14. 2011. Those N ₂ O fluxes are a mixture of N ₂ O fluxes from furrows which were located next to PE-mulched and such which were located next to non-PE-mulched ridges so that they cannot be included into Figure 2.5
Table 3.1 Physico-chemical soil properties of the study site for 0 - 60 cm soil depth
Table 3.2 Agricultural management for radish cultivation including different rates of N fertilizer application
Table 3.3 Measured and simulated radish biomass dry weight at the last harvest day (75 days after seeding). Note that N treatments have 187 kg N ha ⁻¹ mineral fertilizer and 228 kg N ha ⁻¹ of organic fertilizer addition prior to planting (details see Table 3.2)65
Table 3.4 Evaluation criteria of LandscapeDNDC simulations of N_2O emissions and soil nitrate concentrations of Korean radish cultivation considering different rates of N fertilization (50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N ha ⁻¹). Note that N treatments have 187 kg N ha ⁻¹ mineral fertilizer and 228 kg N ha ⁻¹ of organic fertilizer addition prior to planting (details see Table 3.2). Note, Wilcoxon signed-rank test revealed no statistical difference between measured and simulated N ₂ O emissions and nitrate leaching of any treatment
Table 3.5 Simulated annual N ₂ O emissions and nitrate leaching from 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments. Note that all of the treatments have received additional basal fertilization of 187 kg N ha ⁻¹ mineral and 228 kg N ha ⁻¹ organic N fertilizer. Interrow -N and Field -N represent results of a scenario without fertilizing interrow. Field values were calculated as area weighted mean of row (50%)
Table 4.1 Soil properties and agricultural management practices of three typical crops cultivated in the Haean catchment used for site scale validation. Note that validation data of N ₂ O emissions and yields originated from different fields
Table 4.2 Site characteristics of the three simulated forest sites 87
Table 4.3 Soil properties of agricultural and forest sites on different landscape positions in the Haean catchment

Table 4.4 Evaluation of model performance for simulation of soil environmental conditions 93
Table 4.5 Evaluation of model performance for simulation of N ₂ O emissions from major upland crop fields and forest sites
Table 4.6 Regional simulation of annual crop biomass, N2O emission and nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment 101
Table 4.7 Regression analysis of N ₂ O emission and nitrate leaching
Table 4.8 Mitigation potential of N ₂ O emission and nitrate leaching from major upland crop fields of the Haean catchment

List of abbreviations

BD	Bulk Density
С	Carbon
CH ₄	Methane
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide
DEM	Digital Elevation Model
DNDC	DeNitrification and DeComposition
DW	Dry Weight
FAO	Food and Agriculture Organization
FC	Field Capacity
GHG	Greenhouse Gas
GIS	Geographical Information System
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
KEEI	Korea Energy Economics Institute
MAFRA	Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs
Max	Maximum
MaxTDD	Sum of daily temperature necessary for complete crop development
ME	Model Efficiency
Min	Minimum
Ν	Nitrogen
N ₂ O	Nitrous oxide
N ₂ O EF _d	direct N ₂ O Emission Factor
NH ₃	Ammonia
$\mathrm{NH_4}^+$	Ammonium
NO ₃ ⁻	Nitrate
NUE	Nitrgen Use Efficiency
O ₂	Oxygen
OptYield	Maximum yield under optimum condition
p	Probability
PE	PolyEthylene
r ²	Coefficient of determination
RDA	Rural Development Administration

RMSPE _n	Normalized Root Mean Square Prediction Error				
SF	Stone Fraction				
SOC	Soil Organic Carbon				
SS	Suspended Solids				
TERRECO	Complex TERRain and ECOlogical Heterogeneity				
Tlimit	Minimum temperature for plant growth				
TN	Total Nitrogen				
ТР	Total Phosphorus				
Vol	Volume				
WP	Wilting Point				
WUECMAX	Maximum water use efficiency				

Chapter 1

Synopsis

1.1 Introduction

Agriculture represents the largest anthropogenic source of N₂O, which is one of the most important non-CO₂ greenhouse gases. Global N₂O emissions from agriculture are expected to increase up to 7.6 Tg N₂O-N yr⁻¹ by 2030 due to the increase of N fertilizer use in Africa, Asia and Latin America (Reay et al. 2012). The increase of anthropogenic N input including chemical fertilizer, animal waste and other organic fertilizer, crop residue, etc. is a major factor enhancing N₂O emissions (IPCC 2000). The world consumption of N fertilizer has increased by 150% since 1970 and is projected to be 116 million tons in 2016 (FAO 2012; IPCC 2000). Of the global consumption of N fertilizer, Asia is the world's largest consumer (62%) of N fertilizer (FAO 2012). The fertilizer consumption in South Korea is 2.5 times higher than the world average fertilizer consumption of 132 kg N ha⁻¹ (Alexandratos and Bruinsma 2012) even though the fertilizer consumption in South Korea has decreased by 28% in 2012 as compared to a decade ago (MAFRA 2013).

About 24% of national N₂O emissions in South Korea is induced by agriculture and agricultural soils are the major source of N₂O emissions, accounting for 59% of the total N₂O emissions in agriculture (KEEI 2009b). N₂O is an intermediate product of nitrification and denitrification processes, which is regulated by substrate availability, pH, soil temperature and water content (Chapuis-Lardy et al. 2007; Mosier et al. 1998). With these soil environmental factors, agricultural management practices such as type and timing of N fertilizer, plastic mulch and tillage influence on soil N₂O emissions as well as nitrate leaching and NH₃ volatilization (Bouwman et al. 2002a; Kim et al. 2014; Nishimura et al. 2012). Arable land in Korea is relatively small, which covers only 17.3% of the total area of South Korea (MAFRA 2013). Korean agriculture has been characterized as excessive use of N fertilizer due to the expectation of high crop yields from this small cultivation area. The survey of fertilizer use in Gangwon Province showed that 59.8% of the local farmers (total participants = 241) have applied 1.3 to 3 times more fertilizer and even 1.2% of them have added 4 times more fertilizer than the recommended rate (Gangwon-do 2006). Considering 94% of uplands in Gangwon Province (\geq 400 m a.s.l) located near the Han River Watershed (Lee et al. 2007; Shin et al. 2005b), which is a major drinking water source of 24 million metropolitan residents, the high application rates of N fertilizer have significant potential risks on this water source. The application of black polyethylene mulch film for upland crop cultivation is typical farming management with the intensive fertilization in South Korea. Due to the benefits of plastic mulch such as improving crop yield, reducing fertilizer loss and soil surface evaporation and regulating soil temperature (Fisher 1995; Ghosh et al. 2006; Romic et al. 2003), it has been widely used in many other countries in the world. For example, in Northern China, facing a shortage of water, plastic mulch is a significant farming practice to save water and improve crop yields (Wang et al. 2009a; Xie et al. 2005). Despite of many field studies focusing on soil environmental factors, nutrient losses and crop production under plastic mulch (Chakraborty et al. 2010; Ibarra et al. 2001; Li et al. 2004b; Nishimura et al. 2012; Ramakrishna et al. 2006), to the best of our knowledge few modeling research has considered the plastic mulch in the models due to the complicated interaction between the plastic mulch and soil environmental condition and plant physiology. In this thesis, the LandscapeDNDC model (Haas et al. 2013) was adopted, applied and validated against field measurements of soil temperature and water content, biomass production, N₂O emission and nitrate concentration in rows with plastic mulch and interrow without mulch of upland crop fields in the Haean catchment, South Korea.

Study 1: Site scale simulation of radish cultivation under plastic mulch

Radish is the third leading upland crop in South Korea (MAFRA 2013). It is a short duration crop with a high demand for nutrients cultivated under plastic mulch in the cool season (Akoumianakis et al. 2011; El-Desuki et al. 2005). Due to a high growth rate and a rapid return of capital (Cortez et al. 2010; Hegde 1987), farmers usually apply high rates of N fertilizer to increase the marketable yield of radish. The first study (Chapter 3) focused on adaptation and application of the LandscapeDNDC model to the typical farming system in South Korea. The objectives of this study were to test the LandscapeDNDC for simulation of soil temperature and water content, crop growth, N₂O emission and nitrate leaching from radish cultivation under plastic mulch and investigate the effects of plastic mulch while comparing simulation results between row and interrow. Previous studies have shown that plastic mulch increases soil temperature and restricts the penetration of precipitation into the soil so that N₂O emission is enhanced but nitrate leaching rate is reduced (Nishimura et al. 2012; Romic et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2012). Therefore, the hypotheses were set up as follows:

1) N₂O emission is higher under plastic mulch as compared to no-mulch.

2) Plastic mulch is effective in reducing nitrate leaching rate due to inhibiting the penetration of rainfall into the soil.

Study 2: Regional scale simulation of major upland crop fields and temperate deciduous forest and assessment of mitigation options

In conjunction with radish, potato, soybean and cabbage are the major upland crops, accounting for about a half of the total upland area (Yanggu-gun 2011; 2012) of the Haean catchment. The first study (Chapter 3) showed the potential of LandscapeDNDC for differentiating between plastic mulch (row) and nomulch (interrow) simulation of the radish field. Based on the results of the site scale simulation, the second study (Chapter 4) was conducted on the catchment scale with simulation of major upland crops, considering various agricultural management practices and environmental conditions. Approximately 60% of the Haean catchment is covered by forest. Taking into account broadleaved trees as the dominant species covering 60% of the catchment area (TERRECO, unpublished data), the LandscapeDNDC model was tested against three forest sites located at different altitudes (450, 650 and 950 m a.s.l) and then extended also to the simulation of the entire forest area of the Haean catchment. The aims of this study were to estimate N₂O emission, nitrate leaching and biomass production from the Haean catchment and evaluate potential mitigation options, which could reduce environmental N loads (N₂O emission and nitrate leaching) without reducing crop yields. The hypotheses were set up as follows:

1) Nitrate leaching is the dominant pathway of N loss from upland fields of the Haean catchment.

2) Reduction in fertilization rate with splitting fertilizer application is effective in decreasing N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from upland fields of the Haean catchment.

1.2 Materials and methods

1.2.1 Description of study region

The study was performed at the Haean catchment (38° 19' 34" N, 128°10' 25" E, 400 - 1100 m a.s.l), Yanggu County, Gangwon Province, South Korea. The Haean catchment (ca. 62 km²) consists of forest (59%), cropland (36%) and residential area and other land uses (5%) (Yanggu-gun 2012) (Figure 1.1). According to the extensive field survey conducted within the scheme of the TERRECO project (GRK 1565/1), the deciduous forest covers almost the entire forest area of the Haean catchment and less than 1% is occupied by the coniferous forest. Agriculture is the primary industry, with upland fields covering about 76% of the total agricultural area of the Haean catchment. Half of the total upland area is used for major upland crop cultivation such as potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.), radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.), soybean (*Glycine max* L.) and cabbage (*Brassica oleracea* var. *capitata* and *Brassica rapa* var. *glabra*) (Yanggu-gun 2011; 2012).



Figure 1.1 Land uses of the Haean catchment in a) 2009 and b) 2010. Forest is the dominant land use (59%), followed by upland (27%) and rice paddy (9%) fields. Potato, radish, soybean and cabbage are the major upland crops (yellow-colored area), covering about 27% of the total upland area. Black circles indicate the locations of automatic weather stations

The Haean catchment has a geographical importance as one of the upper regions of the Soyang River Dam, which is used as the major drinking water source of urban residents (NIER 2012). Upland fields are intensively managed at high altitude (≥ 400 m a.s.l) with high application rates of N fertilizer (430 - 640 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), which have a high potential for significant rates of nutrient loading from upland fields to downstream in particular at heavy rainfall events. The Mandae stream forms the hydrological outlet of the Haean catchment located at 5 - 20° (average 11°) slopes and flows into the Soyang River Dam (Lee et al. 2011). 4-year average of measured total nitrogen (TN), total phosphorus (TP) and suspended solids (SS) in the Mandae stream water during rain events were 3.49, 0.75 and 924 mg l⁻¹ (Eum 2015), respectively, which were beyond the final stage of water quality standard for inland water in South Korea ($\leq 1.5, 0.15$ and 15 mg l⁻¹ for TN, TP and SS) (ME 2000). The climate of Haean catchment is characterized as the East Asian monsoon with 13-year (1999 - 2011) annual average air temperature of 8.7°C and annual

precipitation of 1617 mm. About 70% of the annual precipitation is concentrated on the monsoon season (end June - August).

1.2.2 Description and application of the LandscapeDNDC model

The LandscapeDNDC is a process-based biogeochemical model, which integrates the Agriculture-DNDC (Abdalla et al. 2009; Giltrap et al. 2010; Li et al. 1992) and the Forest-DNDC (Jungkunst et al. 2012; Kiese et al. 2011; Li et al. 2000) for simulation of plant growth, C and N cycling, biosphere-atmosphere exchange of GHGs (e.g. CO_2 , N_2O and CH_4) and nitrate leaching based on the interactions of plants, microbes and physico-chemical soil processes. The LandscapeDNDC is applicable for site scale as well as for regional, national and global scale simulations of arable, forest and grassland ecosystems (Cameron et al. 2013a; Haas et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2014; Werner et al. 2012). The model runs at a sub-daily time step requiring specific input data such as climate (e.g. air temperature, precipitation, radiation), soil properties (e.g. pH, bulk density, texture, SOC) and agricultural management practices (e.g. planting and harvesting dates, fertilizer types and rates, tilling date and depth). In this thesis, the LandscapeDNDC model was i) adopted and tested against field data of forest and upland crops under consideration of different application rates of N fertilizer and ii) in a coupled GIS-modelling approach applied for regional scale simulations of major upland crops and broadleaved trees in the Haean catchment.

Study 1: Application to the site scale simulation of radish cultivation under plastic mulch

All field measurements used for the model validation were carried out within the scheme of the TERRECO project (GRK 1565/1) in 2009 and 2010. 187 kg N ha⁻¹ of inorganic fertilizer and 228 kg N ha⁻¹ of organic fertilizer were manually applied to the entire field as a basal fertilization two weeks before radish seeding. In general, additional fertilizer is recommended to be applied around 20 days after seeding (RDA 2002a). In this study, additional fertilizer was applied one day after basal fertilization, which corresponded to 13 days before seeding. One day after basal fertilization the entire field was divided into four subplots and four different treatments of inorganic N fertilization (50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N ha⁻¹) were added to each subplot (49 m²) in 4 replicates. All subplots were plowed at 15 - 20 cm depth one week after additional fertilization for creating rows and interrows. Rows were covered with black plastic mulch before seeding and 2 or 3 radish seeds were sown per plant hole on rows. Plastic mulch has continuously covered the rows until harvest.

Soil samples were taken from top to 60 cm soil depth and analyzed for pH, BD, texture, SOC and stone fraction. To measure the soil temperature and water content at 15 and 30 cm soil depth under plastic mulch, ECH₂O loggers (EM50 Data logger, Decagon Devices, WA, USA) were installed in all N fertilizer treatments with 2 replicates and recorded every 30 minutes. N₂O fluxes were measured in rows and interrows of 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N treatments with 3 replicates by closed chamber method in connection with a photo-acoustic infrared trace gas analyzer (Multigas Monitor 1312, INNOVA, Ballerup, Denmark) (Berger et al. 2013b). Suction lysimeters connected with a soil hydrological monitoring network of standard tensiometers were installed at 15 cm depth in row and 30 cm depth in interrow across all N fertilizer treatments in order to quantify the nitrate concentration in seepage water on a weekly basis (Kettering et al. 2013). Above- and belowground radish biomass were measured in each N fertilizer treatment plot (dry weight of 8 radish per plot) at 25, 50 and 75 days after seeding. The meteorological data such as average, maximum and minimum air temperature, precipitation, radiation, relative humidity and wind speed was collected from the automatic weather station on site.

Still, the LandscapeDNDC is a one-dimensional model, which is not able to simulate lateral water and matter flow and, thus required to simulate row and interrow conditions separately. Meteorological input data of air temperature and precipitation was adjusted to consider the impacts of plastic mulch on soil environmental conditions. 90% of daily maximum air temperature and a half of daily precipitation, which was based on the field measurement at study site that 50% surface runoff from rainfall was mainly induced by plastic mulch (Arnhold et al. 2013), were used for the simulation conditions of row under plastic mulch. These findings were also supported by a previous field study of Tian et al. (2003), indicating 53% runoff from precipitation caused by plastic mulch (0.22 m height and 0.3 m width of row; 0.2 m height and 0.35 m width of row in this study). Adjusted meteorological data was only applied to the period when the row was covered with plastic mulch (before seeding to harvest) and the actual weather data was used for the rest of periods and the simulation of interrow conditions. For all LandscapeDNDC simulations a spin up period of 2 years was used considering the management input data of the 50 kg N treatment.

Study 2: Application to the regional scale simulation of major upland crop fields and temperate deciduous forest and assessment of mitigation options

This study was conducted in two parts: further site scale LandscapeDNDC model validation and regionalization. Except radish (Study 1) the model was initialized and validated against other major upland crops (i.e. potato, soybean and cabbage) and temperate deciduous forest sites dominated by

Ouercus Mongolica of the Haean catchment. Detailed information on soil properties (e.g. pH, BD, SOC and texture) and agricultural management practices (e.g. seeding/harvest date, fertilization rate and tilling depth) were collected for each simulated crop field. The latter data was based on the intensive interviews with local farmers, who actually conducted all farming practices on sites. Daily meteorological data was provided from nearby weather stations. ECH₂O loggers (EM50 Data logger, Decagon Devices, WA, USA) were installed in each row and interrow in order to measure soil temperature and water content at 5 cm depth every 30 minutes. Using the closed chamber method in connection with a photo-acoustic infrared trace gas analyzer (Multigas Monitor 1312, INNOVA, Ballerup, Denmark) (Berger et al. 2013b), N₂O fluxes were measured in row and interrow with 3 replicates from May 16th to September 13th, 2011. Since there was no N₂O flux measurement in potato and cabbage fields, this data was provided from sites (Seo et al. 2013), which had similar soil and weather conditions to the ones in the Haean catchment. N_2O fluxes were measured only in row of cabbage and potato fields without plastic mulch by the closed chamber method every 2 or 3 times a week with 3 replicates from 2009 to 2012. Data on soil temperature and water content in cabbage and potato fields were not available. Field measurements of above- and belowground cabbage, potato and soybean biomass (5 - 8 plants per plot) were conducted in the Haean catchment within the scheme of the TERRECO project in 2009.

To implement the catchment scale simulation, a GIS database holding all site specific climate, soil and management information was established and linked to the LandscapeDNDC. A 2-year (2009 and 2010) land use map (ArcGIS 10.0) was created on the basis of an extensive field survey conducted within the framework of the TERRECO project. Taking into account the upland farming as the major agriculture of the Haean catchment, four major upland crops, accounting for half of the total upland area (Yanggu-gun 2011; 2012), were selected and applied for simulation of the LandscapeDNDC. The forest simulation was conducted with Quercus Mongolica, which is observed as the dominant tree species of the deciduous forest (Jung et al. 2014), on assumption that it covers the entire deciduous forest area of the Haean catchment. The field-based soil survey was carried out together with the land use survey in 2010 and the soil map was created using a 30 m resolution DEM. Since the soil map was made for indicating soil information on most typical land uses (e.g. major upland crop, forest and rice paddy fields) of the Haean catchment, other land uses were not considered in this map. Although averaged soil conditions of forest and upland crop types were well described in this soil map, it was somehow limited to be used for simulation of the LandscapeDNDC with the spatially explicit land use map, which considered 2-years of crop rotations at different location. Therefore, it was necessary to assume that specific soil conditions attributed to each upland crop type did not vary depending on location and topography. Similarly, forest soils were classified according to moderate (664 - 546 m a.s.l) and low (\leq 545 m a.s.l) slopes and soils at

the same slope were assumed to have the same soil conditions and N deposition (Kim et al. 2015, under review). Soil data on major upland crops and forest was taken from the soil map and applied to each upland crop and forest site based on the spatial explicit land use map. Input data on agricultural management practices was provided from the survey of 300 local farmers in 2010 (Shope et al. 2014). Data on application rates of N fertilizer was not collected from the survey and the official statistics, which were based on the intensive field survey conducted by the agricultural technology center located at each city/ county (RDA 2010; 2011), were used in the regionalization study. Meteorological data was collected from 12 automatic weather stations at different locations (450 - 1050 m a.s.l) within the Haean catchment. The locations of all weather stations were marked on the map (See Figure 1.1) and each weather station was linked to the nearest polygon (land use map) using ArcGIS analysis tool. Based on available information from RDA guidelines (2001; 2002a; b; 2003), the main parameters such as MaxTDD, Tlimit, OptYield and WUECMAX for potato, radish, soybean and cabbage were set for the simulation of plant growth dynamics of LandscapeDNDC.

To evaluate the mitigation potential for N_2O emission and nitrate leaching without penalizing crop yields, the decrease of N fertilization rates as well as split fertilizer applications were considered and benefits were tested against the conventional farming practices. Other farming practices such as seeding/ harvest date and tilling date and depth remained the same as conventional farming practices. Reduction rate of 1 -75% and split fertilization into 2 or 3 times were randomly assigned (899 model runs) as management practices of each upland crop and applied to simulation of the LandscapeDNDC. The model ran for 4 years and the first 2 years with conventional farming practices were used as spin-up periods.

1.3 Results and discussion

Study 1: Site scale simulation of radish cultivation under plastic mulch

Application of the adjusted meteorological data of 90% maximum air temperature and 50% precipitation significantly improved the LandscapeDNDC prediction of soil temperature and water content under plastic mulch as compared to application of the actual weather data. Simulation of soil temperature for all N fertilizer treatments using 90% maximum temperature were in agreement with measurement values (90% max: $r^2 = 0.27 - 0.50$; actual weather: $r^2 \le 0.19$). Studies of Nishimura et al. (2012) and Wang et al. (2009a) showed the dynamic patterns of soil temperature under plastic mulch, which temperature differences ranged between 5 and 10°C with the high soil temperature at early growing stage. In contrast with previous studies, slight variation of daily soil temperature was observed under plastic mulch during the entire measurement period in this study with average values of 23.9±1.2 and 23.2±0.9°C (simulation:

 23.3 ± 1.3 and $22.4\pm1.0^{\circ}$ C) at 15 and 30 cm soil depth, respectively. According to drying and rewetting events during the growing season, the high dynamics of soil water content were observed and captured well by the LandscapeDNDC across all N fertilizer treatments. Soil water content was slightly higher at 30 cm depth with the wide range of 22.0 - 27.7 vol % than at 15 cm depth, ranging from 17.9 - 19.3 vol %. Since previous studies have shown that plastic mulch retained soil water by preventing soil evaporation (Ramakrishna et al. 2006; Xie et al. 2005) and the high soil water content of 53 - 64 vol % was observed under plastic mulch during the summer season (Nishimura et al. 2012), measured and simulated soil water content did not exceed 35 vol % during the monsoon season due to the high sand content (> 80%) of topsoil at this study site.

The LanscapeDNDC can distingush the simualtion between above- and belowground biomass. The aboveground biomass consists of leaves and stems and the belowground biomass inlcudes fine roots and coarse roots. At the day of harvest (75 days after seeding), the model overestimated the aboveground biomass for all N fertilizer treatments by 16%. In contrst, the belowground biomass was silghtly overestiamted only for 150 kg N treatment and underestimated for the rest treatments. The simulation of total biomass was in good agreement with the measurement ($r^2 = 0.81 - 0.88$), ranging between 4.4 - 5.6 and 4.0 - 5.4 t DW ha⁻¹ for simulation and measurement, respectivley. NUE was calcualted as the ratio between simulated crop N uptake and the amount of applied N fertilizer. Meausred and simulated radish biomass increased with increasing N fertilization rates, whereas NUE decreased from 42.6 to 32.7% with higher application rates of N fertilizer. This result agreed with the study of Li et al. (2007), showing NUE substantially decreased from 75 to 18% with increasing N fertilization rates from 200 to 800 kg N ha⁻¹. In additon, as compared to significantly increase in N fertilization rates from 50 to 350 kg N ha⁻¹ (including basal fertilization: 465 - 765 kg N ha⁻¹), slightly increase in radish yields was observed (0.5 - 1.4 t DW ha⁻¹) 1 yr⁻¹) in this study. These findings were in good agreement with a small increase of 0.5 - 2.1 t DW ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ ¹ from increasing N fertilization rates of 270 - 850 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ reported by Liu et al. (2012). This was also supported by Ju et al. (2009) and Min et al. (2012b) who found that high fertilization rates (550 -1100 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) did not substaintally enhance crop yields, whereas led to the twofold increase in N loss.

Elevated N₂O emissions were observed and simulated 3 days after N fertilizer application, followed by a steady decrease in N₂O emissions 2 - 3 months after fertilization. Measured and simulated N₂O emissions in rows showed slight increases with increasing rates of N fertilization. The LandscapeDNDC predicted peak N₂O emission (> 90 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹ in rows; > 50 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹ in interrows) about 17 days after additional fertilization, which were lower than measured N₂O emission in rows and interrows for all N fertilizer treatments. However, field measurements showed high uncertainty by varying in the range of

43.7 - 127.2 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹. Measured and simulated mean N₂O emissions in rows during the period when the field measurement was conducted ranged between 27.9 - 65.8 and 51.8 - 63.1 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively. Except for 50 (measurement) and 350 (simulation) kg N treatments, measured and simulated mean N₂O emissions in interrows showed similar emission levels among different N treatments, ranging between 26.6 - 29.9 and 54.5 - 56.6 µg N m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively. Taking into account the high uncertainty and the low sampling frequency, the model captured well the temporal patterns of N_2O emissions in rows and interrows with r^2 up to 0.45 and RMSPE_n of 0.81 - 1.41. Since the row was covered with plastic mulch just after N fertilizer application, higher N₂O emissions were assumed for row than interrow conditions. This hypothesis was confirmed by the field measurement, indicating approximately 2 times higher N_2O emissions from row than interrow. The LandscapeDNDC simulation of higher N_2O emissions in row as compared to interrow until 30 days after fertilization proved this hypothesis as well, even though the model predicted higher N_2O emissions only in 250 kg N treatment with respect to the same period of measurement data. These results were partially supported by Nishimura et al. (2012), reporting plastic mulch could enhance N₂O emission through denitrification process due to the high N content and the low O_2 concentration under plastic mulch. In this study, N_2O emissions could mainly be induced by nitrification rather than denitrification. Very high sand content (> 80%) of topsoil could still allow substantial aeration via the plant hole in plastic mulch, indicating no substantial differences of N_2O emissions between row and interrow. These findings were supported by the LandscapeDNDC simulation of the rather low annual mean anaerobic volume fraction (> 18%) in topsoil. The annual direct N_2O emissions for all N fertilizer treatments were calculated from the daily simulations of the LandscapeDNDC. Direct N₂O emissions in row and interrow increased with increasing N fertilization rates, ranging between 2.1 - 2.4 and 2.4 - 3.2 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively. N₂O EF_d was calcualted by the difference of N₂O emissions between fertilized and unfertilized fields devided by the applied N fertilizer. $N_2O EF_d$ showed higher value in interrow as compared to row in the range of 0.26 - 0.36%. $N_2O EF_d$ for row and interrow were somehow within the uncertainty range of IPCC N₂O EF_d (0.3 - 3.0%), whereas much lower than the default value of 1% (IPCC 2006). The low N₂O EF_d for radish in this study were supported by Xiong et al. (2006), indicating a comparable N₂O EF_d of 0.39% for radish under similar management and soil conditions. This result showed a high potential of LandscapeDNDC application for improving predictions of N₂O emission as well as development of national N₂O EF_d. Simulated nitrate leaching rates were multiplied by IPCC EF₅ of 0.0075 (IPCC 2006) to estimate indirect N₂O emission. Indirect N₂O emissions (2.0 - 3.4 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) were in the same range of direct N₂O emissions, which indicated their significance under the given soil and weather conditions of this study site.

Field measurement of nitrate concentrations in soil water at 15 cm depth of row and 30 cm depth of interrow was compared with the LandscapeDNDC simualtion. Nitrate concentrations in soil water were calcualted with predicted amount of water and nitrate in given soil layers. High rates of N fertilizer generally increased measured and simulate nitrate concentrations. The peak nitrate concentration in row and interrow of all N treatment plots (> 200 mg NO₃-N l⁻¹) was observed and simulated about 30 - 39 days after additional fertilization and gradually decreased to a low level of 10 mg NO₃-N l⁻¹ afterwards. Measured nitrate concentrations were higher in row than interrow, which were captured well by the simulation of LandscapeDNDC with r² up to 0.89 and RMSPE_n of 0.75 - 1.79. Measured and simulated mean nitrate concentrations in row and interrow during the period of field measurement ranged between 79.8 - 143.2 and 53.0 - 108.0 mg NO₃-N 1⁻¹ in measurement and 95.5 - 172.1 and 91.1 - 124.7 mg NO₃-N 1^{-1} in simulation, respectively. The annual nitrate leaching rate below radish root zone was calcualted by daily simulations of the LandscapeDNDC for all N fertilizer treatments. High nitrate leaching rates were simulated both in row and interrow of all N treatments. Interrow revealed higher nitrate leaching rate of > 400 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ than row (< 300 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) due to approximately 1.8 times higher percolation rate and no N uptake by the radish crop (> 190 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) in interrow. These findings proved the hypothesis of less nitrate leaching rate under plastic mulch than no-mulch in this study, which was also supported by Romict et al. (2003) and Zhang et al. (2012), showing reduced nitrate leaching rate by 11 and 62% under plastic mulch as compared to no-mulch, respectively. It should be noted that the previous studies showed comparable nitrate leaching rates in the range of 277 - 354 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ from intensively managed crop fields (Min et al. 2012b; Song et al. 2009; Zhao et al. 2010), which were mainly caused by 20 - 30% of applied N fertilizer in contrast with 59% of applied N in this study. These findings emphasized that the reduction of nitrate leaching should be considered as the highest priority in the further N management at our study site.

Study 2: Regional scale simulation of major upland crop fields and temperate deciduous forest and assessment of mitigation options

2.1 Site scale simulation of potato, cabbage and soybean fields

In the first study (Chapter 3), soil temperature and water content under plastic mulched radish field were well captured by the LandscapeDNDC with adjusted meteorological data of 90% maximum air temperature and a half of precipitation. Based on this adaptation, the LandscapeDNDC simulated soil temperature and water content at 5 cm depth in the soybean field. In contrast to the first study, field measured data on soil temperature and water content in interrow was also available and compared with

simulated values in this study. The model successfully captured the temporal dynamics of soil temperature in row with 90% maximum air temperature and interrow with the actual average air temperature with r² up to 0.67 and 0.76 and ME of 0.66 and 0.30, respectively. Measured and simulated mean soil temperature in row was 22.0±2.6 and 22.2±2.3°C, respectively, while observed soil temperature in interrow was slightly underestimated by 7%. Comparison of measured mean soil temperature between row and interrow revealed slightly higher soil temperature in row with a value of 0.5°C (max: 0.9°C; min: 0.4°C). This result agreed well with Lie et al. (2004a), showing 0.6°C higher mean soil temperature at 5 cm depth in row under plastic mulch during the wheat growing season. A small difference of max and min soil temperature between row and interrow was also reported by Chakraborty et al. (2010), indicating 1.5 and 0.4°C higher max and min soil temperature at 5 cm depth in row under plastic mulch as compared to interrow under bare soil. In contrast to soil temperature, soil water content showed significant difference between row and interrow. The soil water content was much lower in row as compared to interrow with the range of 2 - 19 vol %. A wide range of soil water content in interrow was observed, ranging from 15 to 50 vol %. The LandscapeDNDC captured well drying and rewetting events at 5 cm soil depth in row and interrow during the soybean growing period. Measured and simulated mean soil water content in row was 9.0±4.9 and 12.5±6.5 vol %, respectively and higher soil water content was predicted in interrow (17.8 \pm 8.0 vol %) as well as the field measured values (30.2 \pm 10.8 vol %). Measured soil water content in row was significantly lower at the beginning and the end of growing season (< 10 vol %) and the overall soil water content was < 20 vol %. The LandscapeDNDC also predicted the low soil water content for the same period, but still overestimated the measured values. Taking also into account the high uncertainty of field measurements due to no replication, soil water content was relatively well captured by the LandscapeDNDC model (row: $r^2 = 0.61$, ME = -0.16, RMSPE_n = 1.08; interrow: $r^2 =$ 0.19, ME = -1.23, RMSPE_n = 1.49). Previous studies have reported that evaporation is lower under plastic mulch than no-mulch due to the restriction of soil water by plastic mulch (Anikwe et al. 2007; Xie et al. 2005; Zhao et al. 2012). These findings agreed with the simulation result of the LandscapeDNDC, showing higher evaporation of 481 mm in interrow than that of 304 mm in row during the period of field measurement.

It was already identified in the first study (Chapter 3) that the LandscapeDNDC could differentiate the simulations of above- and belowground biomass. Potato, soybean and cabbage biomass were separately simulated and compared with available field measured values. Measured total biomass (sum of above- and belowground biomass) of potato, soybean and cabbage were 11.3, 5.8 and 9.7 t DW ha⁻¹ at the day of harvest, which were successfully captured by the LandscapeDNDC with the simulated total biomass of 11.3, 5.6 and 9.6 t DW ha⁻¹, respectively ($r^2 = 0.84 - 0.98$). Measured and simulated biomass increased

with increasing N fertilization rates, whereas NUE decreased by 51.4%. Among the upland crops, potato showed the highest yield both for measurements and simulations with the lowest NUE, which agreed well with the findings of Zvomuya and Rosen (2002), reporting 11.6 t DW ha⁻¹ with the low NUE (38.2%) in a comparable fertilized potato field (336 kg N ha⁻¹).

4 year-field measurements of N₂O emissions in cabbage and potato fields (Chuncheon-si) and 1-year measurements in soybean field (Haean catchment) were used for further site scale validation of the LandscapeDNDC. Rows in cabbage, potato and soybean fields were covered with black plastic mulch before transplanting/ seeding and were removed from the first two-crop fields while N_2O emission were measured. N₂O emissions varied over the entire measurement period. The high peak of N_2O emission in cabbage and potato fields was observed around 10 days following the application of N fertilizer. Due to higher fertilization of cabbage, about 2 times higher N₂O emissions were measured in cabbage field as compared to the potato field. There was no fertilizer applied to the soybean field and the first N2O emission peak was observed about 6 days after seeding in row and interrow following a rainfall event. In general, the LandscapeDNDC captured the seasonal dynamics of N_2O emission and the fertilizer induced peak emission. Comparison between measured and simulated mean N₂O emissions revealed the underestimation of the LandscapeDNDC by 6.4% for cabbage field ($r^2 = 0.21$; ME = 0.11; RMSPE_n = 0.94; p < 0.001) and by 19.9% for potato field ($r^2 = 0.31$; ME = 0.21; RMSPE_n = 0.89; p < 0.001). Measured and simulated 4-year mean N₂O emissions were 58.0 \pm 80.4 and 54.3 \pm 62.2 µg N m⁻² h⁻¹ in cabbage field and 27.1±27.6 and 21.7±22.1 µg N m⁻² h⁻¹ in potato field, respectively. The field measurement and the LandscapeDNDC simulation showed about 2 times higher N₂O emissions in interrow as compared to row under plastic mulch in soybean field. Measured mean N2O emissions in row and interrow were 16.5±24.3 and 34.7± 46.1 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively. The LandscapeDNDC predicted the temporal patterns of N₂O emissions in row and interrow well, however, generally overestimated N₂O emissions (row 5.7 \pm 7.5 µg N m⁻² h⁻¹; interrow 14.9 \pm 11.5 µg N m⁻² h⁻¹). The annual N₂O emission calculated from daily simulations of the LandscapeDNDC ranged between 3.0 - 5.9 and 1.4 - 1.9 kg N ha ¹ yr⁻¹ for 4 years in cabbage and potato fields, respectively. These results were supported by the field studies of Cao et al. (2006) and Gao et al. (2013), reporting 5.0 and 1.5 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in cabbage and potato fields under comparable management and soil conditions, respectively. Simulated 4-year mean anaerobic volume faction of 15% in topsoil indicated that N₂O emissions in cabbage and potato fields were mainly produced through nitrification process. Due to double cropping with the high N fertilization rate (640 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), simulated nitrate leaching rate was much higher in cabbage field as compared to potato field, ranging between 202.9 - 398.0 and 51.7 - 63.0 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ over 4 years, respectively. Consequently, indirect N₂O emission from simulated nitrate leaching was also higher in cabbage field

than potato field with 4-year mean values of 2.2 and 0.4 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively. N₂O EF_d of cabbage and potato fields were 0.35% and 0.39%, respectively, which were within the uncertainty range of IPCC EF_d (0.3 - 3.0%), but lower than the default value of 1.0% (IPCC 2006). Predicted annual N₂O emissions from row and interrow of non-fertilized soybean field were 0.31 and 0.72 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively, which were likely to be induced by residual N in soil (row 12.7 kg N ha⁻¹; interrow 21.5 kg N ha⁻¹) from the previous radish cultivation. However, supporting field measured data on initial soil N content before soybean cultivation was not available. Taking into account the annual N₂O emissions of 1.23 and 1.65 kg N ha⁻¹ from non-fertilized soybean fields by MacKenzie et al. (1997) and Gregorich et al. (2008), simulated and measured annual N₂O emissions from soybean field in this study showed relatively low values. Previous studies have reported that nitrate leaching rate is decreased under plastic mulch (Nishimura et al. 2012; Romic et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2012). These findings were supported by the LandscapeDNDC simulation for non-fertilized soybean field, showing significantly less nitrate leaching rate from row under plastic mulch (0.65 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) as compared to interrow under no-mulch (29.7 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). With respect to the higher nitrate leaching rate from interrow than row, indirect N₂O emission from simulated nitrate leaching was also higher in interrow (0.22 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹).

2.2 Site scale simulation of three temperate deciduous forest sites

Estimated N deposition of three forest sties at high (38.14°N, 128.6°E, 950 m a.s.l), medium (38.18°N, 128.8°E, 650 m a.s.l) and low (38.17°N, 128.7°E, 450 m a.s.l) altitudes were 24 ± 13.8 , 31 ± 2.14 and 51 ± 15.3 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively (Berger et al. 2013a). Taking into account differences of N deposition among sites, the LandscapeDNDC simulated N₂O emission and soil temperature and water content and was validated against the measured values. N₂O uptake was observed at all three sites (from -0.28 to -16.3 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹) by Berger et al. (2013a), which was beyond the current prediction capacity of the LandscapeDNDC and only emission values (> 0) were taken from measured data to compare with simulated N₂O emission.

Previous studies have shown no significant correlation between N deposition and N_2O emission from forest soils (Ambus and Robertson 2006; Pilegaard et al. 2006; Wei et al. 2008), which are in agreement with measured and simulated N_2O emissions from the temperate deciduous forest of the Haean catchment. Soil temperature and water content, which are major factors controlling soil N mineralization, production and consumption of N_2O emission (Aguilera et al. 2013; Brumme and Khanna 2009; Eickenscheidt and Brumme 2013; Luo et al. 2013; Stange et al. 2000), would be more significant for soil N_2O emissions in this study. Soil temperature showed the strong correlation with N_2O emissions at high altitude-site (mea r^2 = 0.41; sim $r^2 = 0.54$) and soil water content was more important factor for N₂O emissions at low (mea $r^2 = 0.29$; sim $r^2 = 0.74$) altitude-site. Both measured and simulated N₂O emissions from medium altitudesite showed the low or no correlation with soil temperature (mea $r^2 = 0.18$; sim $r^2 < 0.1$) and water content (mea and sim $r^2 < 0.1$). The dynamics of N₂O emissions derived from drying and rewetting events during the monsoon season were relatively well captured by the LandscapeDNDC. Due to the scarcity of measured N₂O emission data, however, the assessment of model performance was devalued. ME was below zero for all three sites and r^2 was ≤ 0.1 except for high altitude-site ($r^2 = 0.46$).

2.3 Regional simulation of crop yield, N₂O emission and nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment

The LandscapeDNDC simulation of major upland crop fields of the Haean catchment showed differences between year 2009 and 2010 (Figure 1.2). Estimated potato, radish, soybean and cabbage biomass were 17.8, 6.4, 6.3 and 11.0 t DW ha⁻¹ in 2009 and slightly lower in 2010 with values of 14.8, 5.5, 5.8 and 11.0 t DW ha⁻¹, respectively (Table 1.1). Annual direct N₂O emissions increased with increasing rates of applied N fertilizer. Predicted annual mean direct N₂O emission from upland crops was 2.14 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2010, which was slightly higher as compared to 1.92 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009. The highest N₂O emission was predicted for radish, followed by potato, cabbage and soybean cultivation, ranging from 1.17 to 2.77 kg N ha-1 in 2009. Similarly, radish showed the highest N2O emission also in 2010, followed by cabbage, potato and soybean in the range of 1.29 - 2.77 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively. N₂O EF_d was calculated by difference between simulated fertilizer- and non-fertilizer-induced N₂O emissions divided by applied total N fertilization rate. N₂O EF_d ranged between 0.54 - 1.09% in 2009 and 0.59 - 1.22% in 2010, which is in the uncertainty range of IPCC EF_d (0.3 - 3%) (IPCC 2006). The mean EF_d for total upland fields of the Haean catchment was slightly lower than the IPCC default value of 1% (IPCC 2006) with values of 0.80 and 0.94% in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Similar to N_2O emission, simulated annual nitrate leaching rates generally increased with increasing N fertilization rates. The model predicted the highest nitrate leaching rate from cabbage cultivation in 2009 but from radish cultivation in 2010. The annual nitrate leaching rates from the total upland fields of the Haean catchment ranged between 74.7 - 135.0 and 70.4 -151.4 kg N ha⁻¹ with the annual mean values of 112.6 and 125.4 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively (Figure 1.2). Taking into account approximately 53% and 60% of applied N fertilizer lost by nitrate leaching in 2009 and 2010, respectively, the hypothesis of this study was confirmed that nitrate leaching was the dominant pathway of N loss from the total upland fields of the Haean catchment. Indirect N_2O emission from simulated nitrate leaching was estimated by using the IPCC EF₅ of 0.0075 (IPCC 2006). Due to the overall high nitrate leaching rate, estimated indirect N₂O emission revealed the similar range of direct N₂O emission. Indirect N₂O emissions from the total upland fields ranged between 0.56 - 1.01

and 0.53 - 1.14 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. The total N₂O emission (sum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions) from the entire upland fields of the Haean catchment were 2.76 and 3.08 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. The highest total N₂O emission was expected from radish field, followed by cabbage, potato and soybean fields through 2009 - 2010.



Figure 1.2 Regional distribution of simulated annual crop biomass, N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment in a) 2009 and b) 2010

In contrast to the upland fields, estimated annual mean direct N₂O emissions from the temperate deciduous forest were similar between 2009 and 2010 with values of 0.51 and 0.50 kg N ha⁻¹, respectively (Table 1.1). Regression analysis showed the strong correlation between N₂O emission and soil temperature with r² up to 0.87 and 0.88 in 2009 and 2010, respectively, while no significant effect was found with variation of soil water content (r² \leq 0.1). Estimated N₂O emission derived from N deposition was in the range of 1.9 - 9.3%, which showed the similar range of 6 - 13% found for temperate forest (Eickenscheidt et al. 2011) and 8 - 10% reported for subtropical forest ecosystems (Zhu et al. 2013). Simulated annual mean nitrate leaching rates from the deciduous forest was 0.001 and 0.004 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively (Table 1.1). No significant correlation was found between nitrate leaching rate and soil water content (r² < 0.1). Due to very low leaching rate, indirect N₂O emission from simulated nitrate leaching rate had hardly impact on the total N₂O emissions (sum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions).

Land use	Crop/Slope	Year	N ₂ O emission [kg N ha ⁻¹]			NO ₃ ⁻ leaching	N ₂ O EF _d	Biomass
			Direct	Indirect ^a	Total ^b	$[kg N ha^{-1}]$	[%] ^c	[t DW ha ⁻¹]
Upland	Potato	2009	1.87	0.84	2.71	111.6	0.54	17.8
		2010	1.92	0.97	2.89	129.2	0.59	14.8
	Radish	2009	2.78	0.96	3.74	127.3	0.95	6.4
		2010	2.77	1.14	3.91	151.4	1.03	5.5
	Soybean	2009	1.17	0.56	1.73	74.7	1.09	6.3
		2010	1.29	0.53	1.82	70.4	1.22	5.8
	Cabbage	2009	1.85	1.01	2.86	135.0	0.61	11.0
		2010	2.59	1.13	3.72	150.5	0.93	11.0
Forest	Moderate	2009	0.62	0.00	0.62	0.00		
		2010	0.60	0.00	0.60	0.01		
	Low	2009	0.40	0.00	0.40	0.00		
		2010	0.39	0.00	0.39	0.00		

Table 1.1 The LandscapeDNDC simulation of N_2O emission, nitrate leaching rate and biomass production of the Haean catchment in 2009 and 2010

 a N₂O emission from simulated nitrate leaching. Indirect N₂O emission was calculated using the IPCC default value of 0.0075 (IPCC 2006)

^bSum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions

^c Direct N₂O emission factor [%] = {(N₂O emission from fertilized upland field - N₂O emission from unfertilized upland field) / applied total N fertilizer} * 100

The reduction of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment inform 2009 to 2010 could mainly be explained by the decrease in cultivation area (-23%) and related amount of N fertilization (-

28%) as compared to 2009. The area-weighted total N₂O emission from the Haean catchment was about 3.31 and 2.93 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Even though the temperate deciduous forest covers approximately 59% of the total area of the Haean catchment, still more than 50% of the total N₂O emission was derived from the fertilized upland fields (27% of the catchment area) through 2009 - 2010. The area-weighted nitrate leaching rate of the Haean catchment was 72.0 and 59.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively, with almost the entire nitrate leaching being induced from the upland crop cultivation and hardly contribution from the temperate deciduous forest (< 0.01 t N yr⁻¹). The total nitrate leaching as calculated from the simulation of the major upland crops of the Haean catchment was in the similar range of NO₃-N loadings (calculated from discharge and NO₃-N concentration measurements) in the Mandae stream with the cumulative values of 89.9 and 81.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010 (Eum 2015), respectively. Overall, estimated total N loss from 4345 and 4197 ha of the Haean catchment was 101.7 and 87.7 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Nitrate leaching was shown as the most significant pathway of N loss, contributing approximately 80% of the total N loss (sum of N₂O, NO₃, NO, NH₃, NH₄ and N₂) from the Haean catchment in 2009 and 2010.

2.4 Assessment of mitigation options for N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from upland crop cultivation in the Haean catchment

It is common that farmers apply more N fertilizer than the actual crop N demand (Snyder et al. 2014), which may result in substantial N₂O emission and nitrate leaching from surplus N in soil. Decrease in excessive N addition and surplus N in soil could be the most effective mitigation option in agriculture (Hoben et al. 2011). However, mitigation options which reduce GHG emission and increase/ sustain crop yield simultaneously are more likely to be chosen rather than only aiming to reduce emissions (Smith et al. 2008). The study of Sehy et al. (2003) showed the reduction of fertilization rate from 150 to 125 kg N ha⁻¹ resulted in 34% less N₂O emission without affecting maize yield. Liu et al. (2012) also demonstrated the decrease in fertilization rate from 430 to 270 kg N ha⁻¹ led to reduction of N₂O emission by 26% with maintaining the current crop yield. In this study, reduction in N fertilization rates and splitting fertilizer application was tested as mitigation options for N₂O emission and nitrate leaching from upland fields of the Haean catchment. Adopted mitigation options were based on the maximum reduction of N₂O emission and nitrate leaching, while ensuring the same crop yield as conventional farming practices. Overall, splitting fertilizer application into 3 times (Split3) showed slightly higher mitigation potential for N₂O emission and nitrate leaching. This was mainly caused by the overall higher reduction of total fertilization rates with Split3 (35%) compared to the Split2 (33%). Figure 1.3 shows the regional
distribution of N loss (N₂O emission and nitrate leaching rate) from farmers` practices and mitigated N loss by Split3 in 2009 and 2010. Due to the slightly higher mitigation potential for N loss by Split3 rather than Split2, here the reduction rate by Split3 was only presented. The range of reduced fertilization rate was 16 - 209 and 49 - 194 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. As compared to the farmers` practices, simulated annual N₂O emissions were expected to decrease by 45 and 43% in 2009 and 2010, respectively with the application of Split3. By Split2, about 34 and 39% of N₂O emissions decreased in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Expected reduction rate of simulated annual nitrate leaching was 38 and 37% by Split3 and Split2 in 2009, respectively. In 2010, significantly more reduced nitrate leaching was predicted by 49 (Split3) and 48% (Split2). Of the total upland fields, the highest N_2O emission was reduced in radish field by Split3, followed by cabbage, soybean and potato fields in the range of 0.30 -2.14 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009. Different from 2009, the highest reduction rate of 1.91 kg N ha⁻¹ was expected from cabbage field by Split2, but other crops showed more reduction of N₂O emissions by Split3, ranging from 0.44 to 1.72 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2010. Simulated annual nitrate leaching rate was highly reduced from cabbage field in 2009 with Split2 and Split3 showing similar reduction rates of 94.3 and 94.2 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻ ¹, respectively. The second largest reduction rate of simulated nitrate leaching was shown in radish field by Split3, followed by potato and soybean fields in the range of 19.2 - 77.1 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. In 2010, more reduced nitrate leaching rates were estimated in cabbage fields by Split3, followed by radish, potato and soybean fields, ranging from 22.0 to 136.4 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.



Figure 1.3 Comparison between a) N loss by farmers` practices and b) reduced N loss by mitigation option in 2009 and 2010. Note that only row with upland crops was simulated for assessing mitigation options and interrow and forest were not simulated

Splitting fertilizer application into 2 times (i.e. basal and additional fertilization) is a common farming practice for cabbage and radish cultivation in the Haean catchment. In general, additional fertilization has been conducted about 33 days after basal fertilization in cabbage and radish fields. Different from cabbage and radish cultivation, a single fertilization (i.e. only basal fertilization) is usual for potato and soybean cultivation under conventional farming practices (TERRECO, unpublished data). Simulation results of mitigation options showed that slightly earlier fertilization was beneficial to reduce N_2O emission and nitrate leaching in the cabbage field (12/16 instead of 33 days after basal fertilization) and the radish field (26/30 instead of 32 days after basal fertilization). The area-weighted N_2O emission and nitrate leaching rate with the application of Split2 and Split3 showed significantly reduced N loss from the Haean catchment (Table 1.2). Due to the decrease in cultivation area in 2010, reduction of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching was higher in 2010 as compared to 2009. By Split3, reduction potential for

fertilizer-induced N₂O emission and nitrate leaching was 0.78 and 39.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2010, which were approximately 52 and 78% reduction rate from the conventional farming practices (Table 1.2). Application rate of N fertilizer could be reduced by 47 t N yr⁻¹ in 2010. Similar range but less N₂O emission, nitrate leaching and N fertilization rate were estimated to decrease by Split2 as compared to Split3 through 2009 - 2010.

Taking into account nitrate leaching as the most significant pathway of N loss from the Haean catchment, Split3 would be better option for decreasing more nitrate leaching rate and N₂O emission as compared to Split2. However, considering the cost efficiency such as time and labor needed to conduct split applications, Split2 with reduced fertilization rates in combination with changes in application time, which also showed relatively high potential for reducing N loads to the environment, might be the most promising tool for management adoption accepted by farmers in the Haean catchment. In addition, differences of simulation results between 2009 and 2010 indicate the high spatial and temporal variabilities of reduced environmental N loads, which could be taken into account for further assessment of mitigation potentials guiding even spatial explicit adaptation of agricultural management in the Haean catchment.

Table 1.2 Mitigation potential for N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from upland fields of the Haeancatchment in 2009 and 2010

Crop	Year	Option	Fertilization rate [t N yr ⁻¹]	N_2O emission [t N yr ⁻¹] ^a	Nitrate leaching [t N yr ⁻¹]
Potato	2009	Split3	-3.82 (7)	-0.11 (22)	-6.02 (56)
		Split2	-3.37 (6)	-0.12 (24)	-5.78 (54)
	2010	Split3	-11.8 (27)	-0.16 (38)	-12.3 (83)
		Split2	-11.5 (27)	-0.16 (38)	-12.5 (84)
Radish	2009	Split3	-16.3 (26)	-0.52 (61)	-14.8 (74)
		Split2	-13.4 (21)	-0.24 (29)	-11.5 (58)
	2010	Split3	-14.8 (38)	-0.32 (59)	-14.6 (84)
		Split2	-14.2 (36)	-0.25 (47)	-14.0 (80)
Soybean	2009	Split3	-5.26 (56)	-0.10 (48)	-2.66 (44)
		Split2	-5.53 (59)	-0.08 (38)	-2.39 (39)
	2010	Split3	-7.21 (74)	-0.10 (43)	-3.18 (43)
		Split2	-7.09 (72)	-0.10 (42)	-3.08 (41)
Cabbage	2009	Split3	-20.6 (60)	-0.19 (63)	-9.30 (82)
		Split2	-20.6 (60)	-0.20 (64)	-9.31 (82)
	2010	Split3	-13.4 (56)	-0.20 (64)	-9.45 (87)

		Split2	-13.1 (55)		-0.20 (6	55)		-9.25	(85)	
Note that negative va	alues are	difference	between mitigation	options and	farmers`	practices	and v	alues in	brackets	represent
mitigation rates [%] by	y applicati	ion of mitig	gation options							

^a Sum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions

1.4 Conclusions

The effects of intensive farming practices on N_2O emission, nitrate leaching and biomass production of the Haean catchment in South Korea were tested and analyzed by the LandscapeDNDC model in this thesis. The first study (Chapter 3) focused on adaptation of the LandscapeDNDC model for simulation of spatial difference in N_2O emission and nitrate leaching between row with plastic mulch and interrow without mulch with regard to four different N treatments of a radish field. In the second study (Chapter 4), the site application of the LandscapeDNDC was extended to other upland crops (i.e. cabbage, potato, radish and soybean) and temperate deciduous forest sites constituting the main land use types in the Haean catchment. After successful site validation the LandscapeDNDC model was used to upscale crop yields, N_2O emissions and nitrate leaching for the main land uses of the Haean catchment. Finally, mitigation options for N_2O emission and nitrate leaching without penalizing crop yields were evaluated to potentially guide improvement of farmers` practices in order to reduce N loads to the environment of the Haean catchment.

Study 1 Conclusions: Site scale simulation of radish cultivation under plastic mulch

The first study showed the successful application of the LandscapeDNDC model to the distinctive environmental conditions (e.g. monsoon season) and farming practices (e.g. plastic mulch, excessive N fertilizer use, sand dressing, etc) of the Haean catchment in South Korea. Taking account of different soil environmental conditions between plastic mulch and no-mulch by adjusting maximum air temperature and annual precipitation, the LandscapeDNDC simulation of N₂O emission, nitrate leaching, soil temperature and water content and radish biomass in response to 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N ha⁻¹ treatments agreed well with the measured values. Simulated nitrate leaching rate was revealed as the significant source of N loss from the radish field with the average value of 352 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Due to this high nitrate leaching rate, estimated annual indirect N₂O emission was higher than the annual direct N₂O emission with the values of 2.6 and 2.4 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Both measured and simulated radish biomass demonstrated the necessity of improving farmers` practices of the Haean catchment due to no significant difference of radish biomass among four N treatments. Radish biomass slightly increased from 0.5 to 1.1 t

DW ha⁻¹, whereas increasing N fertilization rates by 3 to 7 times. This finding could be implemented to the further study, which is supplemented with more detailed scenarios for mitigating nitrate leaching rate and N_2O emission while optimizing the crop yield. It was a challenge to apply the plastic mulch into the LandscapeDNDC model due to its complicated effect on soil biogeochemical processes and the horizontal movement of nutrient and water between plastic mulched-row and no-mulched-interrow was hard to be considered in this study. The further research would be required to be connected with hydrological and thermal models for better prediction of the effects of plastic mulch on soil nutrient cycling and associated N_2O emission and nitrate leaching.

Study 2 Conclusions: Regional scale simulation of major upland crop fields and temperate deciduous forest and assessment of mitigation options

Taking into account different environmental conditions and agricultural managements, the LandscapeDNDC was successfully applied to the simulation of N₂O emission, nitrate leaching and crop yield from major upland crop fields and deciduous forest of the Haean catchment for two consecutive years 2009 and 2010. With respect to no significant difference of weather condition (air temperature 8.2 and 7.9°C; precipitation: 1527 and 1522 mm) between 2009 and 2010, about 23% reduction in cultivation area led to less N₂O emission, nitrate leaching rate crop production in 2010 as compared to 2009. Estimated total N₂O emissions (sum of agricultural and forest N₂O emissions) from the Haean catchment were 3.3 and 2.9 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010 with 52% of the total N₂O emissions originating from upland fields covering only 27% of the total catchment area. The LandscapeDNDC simulation of nitrate leaching was revealed as the most significant pathway of N loss from the Haean catchment. The total nitrate leaching rates from the Haean catchment were 72.0 and 59.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Thereby, 99% of the leaching was induced from the fertilized upland fields. These numbers agreed very well with NO₃-N loads calculated from discharge and concentration measurements at the catchment outlet with 89.9 and 81.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010. Overall, estimated total N losses from the Haean catchment were 101.7 and 87.7 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. This study demonstrates that the use of the IPCC default N₂O EF_d of 1% would significantly overestimate direct N₂O emissions from the Haean catchment characterized by sandy soils and a monsoon climate. However, with nitrate leaching as the main fate of N fertilizer application indirect N₂O emissions from the Haean catchment are in the same range of direct N₂O emissions and thus, cannot be neglected.

Decrease in N fertilization rates with splitting fertilizer into 2 and 3 applications were tested as mitigation options for reducing N loss from the upland crop cultivation in the Haean catchment. Adopted mitigation

option showed the significant potential for minimizing nitrate leaching rate and N₂O emission with maintaining the current crop yield mainly by reducing fertilization rates by about 35%. Splitting fertilizer application into 3 times (Split3) rather than 2 times (Split2) revealed even better results of decreasing nitrate leaching rate, N₂O emission through 2009 and 2010. Application of Split3 could reduce about 47 t N fertilizer and associated nitrate leaching rate and N₂O emission by 62% as compared to the application of conventional farming practices. This finding demonstrated the necessity to improve the farming practices of the Haean catchment. Reduced nitrate leaching would significantly decrease mean nitrate concentrations in the Mandae stream at the catchment outflow from 3.5 to about 2 mg 1^{-1} , which is much closer to the quality standard of inland water of 1.5 mg l⁻¹. To the best of our knowledge this was the first study of upscaling N₂O emission and nitrate leaching including testing of mitigation options in order to reduce N losses from a catchment in South Korea by use of a process-based biogeochemical model. However, further studies are required to evaluate more detailed mitigation options such as cover crops (e.g. rapeseed and winter wheat which have been already started by a cultivation experiment in Gangwon Province) and reduced tillage both potentially contributing also to increase of soil carbon stocks and soil fertility. Furthermore, adaptation of fertilizer management with fertilization only into the plant holes of rows and adjustment of timing of fertilization depending on actual weather predictions, which can be particularly important under monsoon climate conditions.

1.5 List of manuscripts and specification of individual contributions

Manuscript 1

Sina Berger, Youngsun Kim, Janine Kettering, Gerhard Gebauer (2013) Plastic mulching in agriculture friend or foe of N₂O emissions?. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 167C: 43-51. DOI: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.01.010

S. Berger	Idea, data collection and analysis, discussion, manuscript writing and editing
Y. Kim	Data collection and analysis
J. Kettering	Data collection and analysis
G. Gebauer	Idea, discussion, manuscript editing

Manuscript 2

Youngsun Kim, Sina Berger, Janine Kettering, John Tenhunen, Edwin Haas, Ralf Kiese (2014) Simulation of N_2O emissions and nitrate leaching from plastic mulch radish cultivation with LandscapeDNDC. Ecological Research 29: 441-454. DOI: 10.1007/s11284-014-1136-3

Y. Kim	Idea, data collection and analysis, discussion, manuscript writing and editing
S. Berger	Data collection and analysis
J. Kettering	Data collection and analysis
J. Tenhunen	Discussion, manuscript editing
E. Haas	Discussion
R. Kiese	Idea, discussion, manuscript editing

Manuscript 3

Youngsun Kim, Youngho Seo, David Klaus, Steffen Klatt, Edwin Hass, John Tenhunen, Ralf Kiese (under review) Estimation and mitigation of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from intensive crop cultivation in the Haean catchment, South Korea

- Y. Kim Idea, data collection and analysis, discussion, manuscript writing and editing
- Y. Seo Data collection
- D. Klaus Data collection

- S. Klatt Data collection
- E. Haas Discussion, manuscript editing
- J. Tenhunen Discussion
- R. Kiese Idea, discussion, manuscript editing

1.6 References

- Abdalla M, Wattenbach M, Smith P, Ambus P, Jones M, Williams M (2009) Application of the DNDC model to predict emissions of N2O from Irish agriculture. Geoderma 151: 327-337. doi: 10.1016/j.geoderma.2009.04.021.
- Aguilera E, Lassaletta L, Sanz-Cobena A, Garnier J, Vallejo A (2013) The potential of organic fertilizers and water management to reduce N2O emissions in Mediterranean climate cropping systems. A review. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 164: 32-52. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.09.006.
- Akoumianakis KA, Karapanos IC, Giakoumaki M, Alexopoulos AA, Passam HC (2011) Nitrogen, season and cultivar affect radish growth, yield, sponginess and hollowness. International Journal of Plant Production 5 (2).
- Alexandratos N, Bruinsma J (2012) World agriculture towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision. FAO, Rome.
- Ambus P, Robertson GP (2006) The Effect of Increased N Deposition on Nitrous oxide, Methane and Carbon dioxide Fluxes from Unmanaged Forest and Grassland Communities in Michigan. Biogeochemistry 79: 315-337. doi: 10.1007/s10533-005-5313-x.
- Anikwe MAN, Mbah CN, Ezeaku PI, Onyia VN (2007) Tillage and plastic mulch effects on soil properties and growth and yield of cocoyam (Colocasia esculenta) on an ultisol in southeastern Nigeria. Soil and Tillage Research 93: 264-272. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2006.04.007.
- Arnhold S, Ruidisch M, Bartsch S, Shope CL, Huwe B (2013) Simulation of runoff patterns and soil erosion on mountainous farmland with and without plastic covered ridge-furrows cultivation in South Korea. Transactions of the ASABE 56 (22): 667-679. doi: 10.13031/2013.42671.
- Berger S, Jung E, Köpp J, Kang H, Gebauer G (2013a) Monsoon rains, drought periods and soil texture as drivers of soil N2O fluxes – Soil drought turns East Asian temperate deciduous forest soils into temporary and unexpectedly persistent N2O sinks. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 57: 273-281. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.09.026.
- Berger S, Kim Y, Kettering J, Gebauer G (2013b) Plastic mulching in agriculture friend or foe of N₂O emissions? Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 167C: 43-51. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.01.010.
- Bouwman AF, Boumans LJM, Batjes NH (2002) Emissions of N2O and NO from fertilized fields: Summary of available measurement data. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 16: 1058. doi: 10.1029/2001gb001811.
- Brumme R, Khanna PK (2009) Functioning and Management of European Beech Ecosystems. Springer, Berlin.
- Cameron DR, Van Oijen M, Werner C, Butterbach-Bahl K, Grote R, Haas E, Heuvelink GBM, Kiese R, Kros J, Kuhnert M, Leip A, Reinds GJ, Reuter HI, Schelhaas MJ, De Vries W, Yeluripati J (2013) Environmental change impacts on the C- and N-cycle of European forests: a model comparison study. Biogeosciences 10: 1751-1773. doi: 10.5194/bg-10-1751-2013.
- Cao B, He F-Y, Xu Q-M, Yin B, Cai G-X (2006) Denitrification Losses and N2O Emissions from Nitrogen Fertilizer Applied to a Vegetable Field. Pedosphere 16: 390-397. doi: 10.1016/S1002-0160(06)60067-2.
- Chakraborty D, Garg RN, Tomar RK, Singh R, Sharma SK, Singh RK, Trivedi SM, Mittal RB, Sharma PK, Kamble KH (2010) Synthetic and organic mulching and nitrogen effect on winter wheat (Triticum aestivum L.) in a semi-arid environment. Agricultural Water Management 97: 738-748. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2010.01.006.

- Chapuis-Lardy L, Wrage N, Metay A, Chotte J-L, Bernoux M (2007) Soils, a sink for N2O? A review. Global Change Biology 13: 1-17. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2006.01280.x.
- Cortez JWM, Filho ABC, Coutinho EL (2010) Cattle manurea and N-urea in radish crop (*Raphanus sativus*). Ciencia e investigación agraria 37 (1): 45-53.
- Eickenscheidt N, Brumme R (2013) Regulation of N2O and NOx emission patterns in six acid temperate beech forest soils by soil gas diffusivity, N turnover, and atmospheric NOx concentrations. Plant and Soil 369: 515-529. doi: 10.1007/s11104-013-1602-7.
- Eickenscheidt N, Brumme R, Veldkamp E (2011) Direct contribution of nitrogen deposition to nitrous oxide emissions in a temperate beech and spruce forest a 15N tracer study. Biogeosciences 8: 621-635. doi: 10.5194/bg-8-621-2011.
- El-Desuki M, Salman SR, El-Nemr MA, Abdel-Mawgoud AMR (2005) Effect of plant density and nitrogen application on the growth, yield and quality of radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.). Journal of Agronomy 4 (3): 225-229.
- Eum J (2015) Runoff Characteristics of Non-point Source Pollution from Forest-agricultural Watershed and Water Quality Simulations with Crop Change Environmental Science. Kangwon National University, Chuncheon-si.
- FAO (2012) Current world fertilizer trends and outlook to 2016. FAO, Rome.
- Fisher PD (1995) An alternative plastic mulching system for improved water management in dryland maize production. Agricultural Water Management 27: 155-166. doi: 10.1016/0378-3774(95)01134-5.
- Gangwon-do (2006) The survey of upland field farmers Chuncheon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Gao X, Tenuta M, Nelson A, Sparling B, Tomasiewicz D, Mohr RM, Bizimungu B (2013) Effect of nitrogen fertilizer rate on nitrous oxide emission from irrigated potato on a clay loam soil in Manitoba, Canada. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 93: 1-11. doi: 10.4141/cjss2012-057.
- Ghosh PK, Dayal D, Bandyopadhyay KK, Mohanty M (2006) Evaluation of straw and polythene mulch for enhancing productivity of irrigated summer groundnut. Field Crops Research 99: 76-86. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2006.03.004.
- Giltrap DL, Li C, Saggar S (2010) DNDC: A process-based model of greenhouse gas fluxes from agricultural soils. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 136: 292-300. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.06.014.
- Gregorich EG, Rochette P, St-Georges P, McKim UF, Chan C (2008) Tillage effects on N2O emission from soils under corn and soybeans in Eastern Canada. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 88: 153-161. doi: 10.4141/cjss06041.
- Haas E, Klatt S, Fröhlich A, Kraft P, Werner C, Kiese R, Grote R, Breuer L, Butterbach-Bahl K (2013) LandscapeDNDC: a process model for simulation of biosphere–atmosphere–hydrosphere exchange processes at site and regional scale. Landscape Ecology 28: 615-636. doi: 10.1007/s10980-012-9772-x.
- Hegde DM (1987) Effect of soil matric potential, method of irrigation and nitrogen fertilization on yield, quality, nutrient uptake and water use of radish (<i>Raphanus sativus</i> L.). Irrigation Science 8: 13-22. doi: 10.1007/bf00256812.
- Hoben JP, Gehl RJ, Millar N, Grace PR, Robertson GP (2011) Nonlinear nitrous oxide (N2O) response to nitrogen fertilizer in on-farm corn crops of the US Midwest. Global Change Biology 17: 1140-1152. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2486.2010.02349.x.

- Ibarra L, Flores J, Díaz-Pérez JC (2001) Growth and yield of muskmelon in response to plastic mulch and row covers. Scientia Horticulturae 87: 139-145. doi: 10.1016/s0304-4238(00)00172-2.
- IPCC (2000) IPCC Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Hayama, Japan.
- IPCC (2006) 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Hayama, Japan.
- Ju X-T, Xing G-X, Chen X-P, Zhang S-L, Zhang L-J, Liu X-J, Cui Z-L, Yin B, Christie P, Zhu Z-L, Zhang F-S (2009) Reducing environmental risk by improving N management in intensive Chinese agricultural systems. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0813417106.
- Jung E, Otieno D, Kwon H, Berger S, Hauer M, Tenhunen J (2014) Influence of elevation on canopy transpiration of temperate deciduous forests in a complex mountainous terrain of South Korea. Plant and Soil 378: 153-172. doi: 10.1007/s11104-013-2019-z.
- Jungkunst HF, Bargsten A, Timme M, Glatzel S (2012) Spatial variability of nitrous oxide emissions in an unmanaged old-growth beech forest. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 175: 739-749. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201100412.
- KEEI (2009) Greenhouse gas emission trends 2006. Korea Energy Economics Institute, Uiwang-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Kettering J, Ruidisch M, Gaviria C, Ok Y, Kuzyakov Y (2013) Fate of fertilizer 15N in intensive ridge cultivation with plastic mulching under a monsoon climate. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 95: 57-72. doi: 10.1007/s10705-012-9548-3.
- Kiese R, Heinzeller C, Werner C, Wochele S, Grote R, Butterbach-Bahl K (2011) Quantification of nitrate leaching from German forest ecosystems by use of a process oriented biogeochemical model. Environmental Pollution 159: 3204-3214. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2011.05.004.
- Kim Y, Berger S, Kettering J, Tenhunen J, Haas E, Kiese R (2014) Simulation of N2O emissions and nitrate leaching from plastic mulch radish cultivation with LandscapeDNDC. Ecological Research 29: 441-454. doi: 10.1007/s11284-014-1136-3.
- Lee G, Yum K, Park U, Song S (2007) Analysis of the major cause of muddy water in Soyang River Dam Water and Future 40: 73-82 (in Korean).
- Lee J, Eom J, Kim B, Jang WS, Ryu J, Kang H, Kim K, Lim K (2011) Water Quality Prediction at Mandae Watershed using SWAT and Water Quality Improvement with Vegetated Filter Strip. Journal of the Korean Society of Agricultural Engineers (in Korean) 53: 37-45. doi: 10.5389/KSAE.2011.53.1.037.
- Li C, Aber J, Stange F, Butterbach-Bahl K, Papen H (2000) A process-oriented model of N2O and NO emissions from forest soils: 1. Model development. J Geophys Res 105: 4369-4384. doi: 10.1029/1999jd900949.
- Li C, Frolking S, Frolking TA (1992) A Model of Nitrous Oxide Evolution From Soil Driven by Rainfall Events: 1. Model Structure and Sensitivity. J Geophys Res 97: 9759-9776. doi: 10.1029/92jd00509.
- Li F-M, Song Q-H, Jjemba PK, Shi Y-C (2004a) Dynamics of soil microbial biomass C and soil fertility in cropland mulched with plastic film in a semiarid agro-ecosystem. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 36: 1893-1902. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2004.04.040.

- Li F-M, Wang J, Xu J-Z, Xu H-L (2004b) Productivity and soil response to plastic film mulching durations for spring wheat on entisols in the semiarid Loess Plateau of China. Soil and Tillage Research 78: 9-20. doi: 10.1016/j.still.2003.12.009.
- Li X, Hu C, Delgado JA, Zhang Y, Ouyang Z (2007) Increased nitrogen use efficiencies as a key mitigation alternative to reduce nitrate leaching in north china plain. Agricultural Water Management 89: 137-147. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2006.12.012.
- Liu C, Wang K, Zheng X (2012) Responses of N2O and CH4 fluxes to fertilizer nitrogen addition rates in an irrigated wheat-maize cropping system in northern China. Biogeosciences 9: 839-850. doi: 10.5194/bg-9-839-2012.
- Luo GJ, Kiese R, Wolf B, Butterbach-Bahl K (2013) Effects of soil temperature and moisture on methane uptake and nitrous oxide emissions across three different ecosystem types. Biogeosciences 10: 3205-3219. doi: 10.5194/bg-10-3205-2013.
- MacKenzie AF, Fan MX, Cadrin F (1997) Nitrous oxide emission as affected by tillage, corn-soybeanalfalfa rotations and nitrogen fertilization. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 77: 145-152. doi: 10.4141/s96-104.
- MAFRA (2013) Major Statistics of Food, Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, Sejong-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- ME (2000) Improvement of water quality standards Ministry of Environment Sejong-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Min J, Zhang H, Shi W (2012) Optimizing nitrogen input to reduce nitrate leaching loss in greenhouse vegetable production. Agricultural Water Management 111: 53-59. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2012.05.003.
- Mosier A, Kroeze C, Nevison C, Oenema O, Seitzinger S, van Cleemput O (1998) Closing the global N2O budget: nitrous oxide emissions through the agricultural nitrogen cycle. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 52: 225-248. doi: citeulike-article-id:1437935.
- NIER (2012) Monitoring and evaluation of NPS pollution priority management region in the Soyang Lake Watershed. In: HRER Center (ed). National Institute of Environmental Research, Incheon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Nishimura S, Komada M, Takebe M, Yonemura S, Kato N (2012) Nitrous oxide evolved from soil covered with plastic mulch film in horticultural field. Biology and Fertility of Soils 48: 787-795. doi: 10.1007/s00374-012-0672-7.
- Pilegaard K, Skiba U, Ambus P, Beier C, Brüggemann N, Butterbach-Bahl K, Dick J, Dorsey J, Duyzer J, Gallagher M, Gasche R, Horvath L, Kitzler B, Leip A, Pihlatie MK, Rosenkranz P, Seufert G, Vesala T, Westrate H, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S (2006) Factors controlling regional differences in forest soil emission of nitrogen oxides (NO and N2O). Biogeosciences 3: 651-661. doi: 10.5194/bg-3-651-2006.
- Ramakrishna A, Tam HM, Wani SP, Long TD (2006) Effect of mulch on soil temperature, moisture, weed infestation and yield of groundnut in northern Vietnam. Field Crops Research 95: 115-125. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2005.01.030.
- RDA (2001) Standard Farming Handbook-116: Soybean cultivation. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- RDA (2002a) Standard Farming Handbook-126: Cultivation techniques of radish. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).

- RDA (2002b) Standard Farming Handbook-128: Cultivation techniques of Chinese cabbages. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- RDA (2003) Standard Farming Handbook-31: Potato cultivation. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- RDA (2010) Regional income data of agricultural product. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- RDA (2011) Regional income data of agricultural product. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Reay DS, Davidson EA, Smith KA, Smith P, Melillo JM, Dentener F, Crutzen PJ (2012) Global agriculture and nitrous oxide emissions. Nature Clim Change 2: 410-416. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1458.
- Romic D, Romic M, Borosic J, Poljak M (2003) Mulching decreases nitrate leaching in bell pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) cultivation. Agricultural Water Management 60: 87-97. doi: 10.1016/s0378-3774(02)00168-3.
- Sehy U, Ruser R, Munch JC (2003) Nitrous oxide fluxes from maize fields: relationship to yield, sitespecific fertilization, and soil conditions. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 99: 97-111. doi: 10.1016/S0167-8809(03)00139-7.
- Seo Y, Kim G, Park K, Kim K, Jung Y (2013) Nitrous Oxide Emissions from Red Pepper, Chinese Cabbage, and Potato Fields in Gangwon-do, Korea. Korean Journal of Soil Science and Fertilizer 46: 463-468. doi: 10.7745/KJSSF.2013.46.6.463.
- Shin Y, Kim C, Kim T, Joo J (2005) A Basic Study for Environmentally Friendly Reorganization of Highland Agriculture. Korea Rural Economic Institute Seoul, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Shope CL, Maharjan GR, Tenhunen J, Seo B, Kim K, Riley J, Arnhold S, Koellner T, Ok YS, Peiffer S, Kim B, Park JH, Huwe B (2014) Using the SWAT model to improve process descriptions and define hydrologic partitioning in South Korea. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 18: 539-557. doi: 10.5194/hess-18-539-2014.
- Smith P, Martino D, Cai Z, Gwary D, Janzen H, Kumar P, McCarl B, Ogle S, O'Mara F, Rice C, Scholes B, Sirotenko O, Howden M, McAllister T, Pan G, Romanenkov V, Schneider U, Towprayoon S, Wattenbach M, Smith J (2008) Greenhouse gas mitigation in agriculture. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences 363: 789-813. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2007.2184.
- Snyder CS, Davidson EA, Smith P, Venterea RT (2014) Agriculture: sustainable crop and animal production to help mitigate nitrous oxide emissions. Current Opinion in Environmental Sustainability 9–10: 46-54. doi: 10.1016/j.cosust.2014.07.005.
- Song X-Z, Zhao C-X, Wang X-L, Li J (2009) Study of nitrate leaching and nitrogen fate under intensive vegetable production pattern in northern China. Comptes Rendus Biologies 332: 385-392. doi: 10.1016/j.crvi.2008.11.005.
- Stange F, Butterbach-Bahl K, Papen H, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S, Li C, Aber J (2000) A processoriented model of N2O and NO emissions from forest soils: 2. Sensitivity analysis and validation. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 105: 4385-4398. doi: 10.1029/1999jd900948.
- Tian Y, Su D, Li F, Li X (2003) Effect of rainwater harvesting with ridge and furrow on yield of potato in semiarid areas. Field Crops Research 84: 385-391. doi: 10.1016/S0378-4290(03)00118-7.

- Wang F-X, Feng S-Y, Hou X-Y, Kang S-Z, Han J-J (2009) Potato growth with and without plastic mulch in two typical regions of Northern China. Field Crops Research 110: 123-129. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2008.07.014.
- Werner C, Haas E, Grote R, Gauder M, Graeff-Hönninger S, Claupein W, Butterbach-Bahl K (2012) Biomass production potential from Populus short rotation systems in Romania. GCB Bioenergy 4: 642-653. doi: 10.1111/j.1757-1707.2012.01180.x.
- Xie Z-k, Wang Y-j, Li F-m (2005) Effect of plastic mulching on soil water use and spring wheat yield in arid region of northwest China. Agricultural Water Management 75: 71-83. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2004.12.014.
- Xiong Z, Xie Y, Xing G, Zhu Z, Butenhoff C (2006) Measurements of nitrous oxide emissions from vegetable production in China. Atmospheric Environment 40:2225-2234 doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.12.008
- Yanggu-gun (2011) The Statistical Yearbook of Yanggu-gun 2010. Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Yanggu-gun (2012) The Statistical Yearbook of Yanggu-gun 2011. Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Zhang H, Liu Q, Yu X, Lü G, Wu Y (2012) Effects of plastic mulch duration on nitrogen mineralization and leaching in peanut (Arachis hypogaea) cultivated land in the Yimeng Mountainous Area, China. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 158: 164-171. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.06.009.
- Zhao C, Hu C, Huang W, Sun X, Tan Q, Di H (2010) A lysimeter study of nitrate leaching and optimum nitrogen application rates for intensively irrigated vegetable production systems in Central China. J Soils Sediments 10: 9-17. doi: 10.1007/s11368-009-0063-3.
- Zhao H, Xiong Y-C, Li F-M, Wang R-Y, Qiang S-C, Yao T-F, Mo F (2012) Plastic film mulch for half growing-season maximized WUE and yield of potato via moisture-temperature improvement in a semi-arid agroecosystem. Agricultural Water Management 104: 68-78. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2011.11.016.
- Zhu J, Mulder J, Wu LP, Meng XX, Wang YH, Dörsch P (2013) Spatial and temporal variability of N2O emissions in a subtropical forest catchment in China. Biogeosciences 10: 1309-1321. doi: 10.5194/bg-10-1309-2013.
- Zvomuya F, Rosen CJ (2002) Biomass partitioning and nitrogen use efficiency of 'Superior' potato following genetic transformation for resistance to colorado potato beetle. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 127: 703-709.

Chapter 2

Plastic mulching in agriculture-friend or foe of N₂O emissions?

Sina Berger¹, Youngsun Kim^{2,3}, Janine Kettering⁴, Gerhard Gebauer¹

¹ BayCEER-Laboratory of Isotope Biogeochemistry, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

² Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Institute for Meteorology and Climate Research (IMK-IFU), 82467 Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Germany

³ Department of Plant Ecology, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

⁴ Department of Agroecosystem Research, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

Abstract

Polyethylene (PE) mulching is a very common method in agriculture worldwide because the use of PE films can improve product quality and yield by mitigating extreme weather changes, optimizing growth conditions and extending the growing season. Other than the problem with disposal of the plastics hardly any other of its effects on the environment are known. To determine whether covering fields with PE films affects N₂O emission, we conducted two experiments: first, comparing N₂O emissions of furrows and PE-mulched ridges of a radish field which had received different amounts of N fertilizer and second, assessing whether PE mulching increases N₂O emissions from PE-mulched ridges in comparison to non-PE-mulched ridges and furrows of a non-fertilized field. To achieve those aims we took comparative closed chamber measurements in conjunction with a photoacoustic infrared trace gas analyzer during the growing seasons of 2010 and 2011 at a radish and soybean field site in South Korea. For the radish field site we found significant differences between the N2O emitted by furrows and PE-mulched ridges and found extraordinarily low N₂O fluxes from those spots of the ridges which were totally PE-mulch-covered between plant hole openings. At the soybean field we observed that plant holes of PE-mulched ridges showed only 68% of the emission measured of soils around soybean plants of non-PE-mulched ridges, implying that PE mulching may decrease N₂O emissions. Since our result is contrary to very recent findings we consider the extremely low soil moisture at our sites as explanation for the differences. Because knowledge on how PE mulches affect production and emissions of greenhouse gases is very limited, our study contributes greatly to understanding N2O emission behavior of PE-mulched, poor sandy soils in a temperate monsoon climate.

Keywords: N₂O flux, polyethylene (PE) film, soil moisture, soil temperature, NH₄⁺ fertilizer

2.1 Introduction

Nitrous oxide (N_2O) is a greenhouse gas of special concern due to its high global warming potential per molecule (Rodhe 1990), its high contribution to the observed global warming at present (WMO 2006) and its involvement in the destruction of the ozone layer in the stratosphere (Cicerone 1987), although its atmospheric concentration of 323 ppb (global mean concentration in 2005 (IPCC 2007)) is rather low. Major sources of N_2O are agriculturally managed soils (Vitousek et al. 1997), which produce and release N_2O through microbial denitrification, nitrification and nitrifier denitrification (Wrage et al. 2001; Kool et al. 2011). An overall aim should be to reduce N_2O emissions from such soils.

Plastic mulching - covering soil with polyethylene (PE) plastic films - is being established worldwide as a method in agriculture to increase crop production not only by keeping soil temperature and water content high but also by restricting arable weed growth. One obvious drawback of the method is the problem with the disposal of the plastic film (Kyrikou and Briassoulis 2007), but other side effects of the method such as its influence on greenhouse gas emissions are still hardly investigated. N₂O emissions from arable soils are known to increase both with fertilizer application and after heavy rainfall events (Flessa et al. 1995), but emissions are also driven by soil temperature and moisture parameters (Shepered et al. 1991). Many studies have been published on how plastic films increase soil temperature and improve soil water dynamics (e.g., Ban et al. 2009; Díaz- Pérez 2010; Katan and Devay 1991; Zhang et al. 2011), which in combination with high inorganic N and organic matter contents and low O₂ concentration in the soil (e.g., Akiyama and Tsuruta 2003a, 2003b; Hayakawa et al. 2009; Yanai et al. 2011), may increase the N₂O production of such covered soils. Recently, Arriaga et al. (2011) and Nishimura et al. (2012) reported on increased N₂O production from agricultural soils covered with plastic mulch films.

Here we present two consecutive experiments: the first attempts to provide an overview on the amounts of N_2O emitted from agricultural soils under plastic mulching and second, assesses the effect of plastic mulching on N_2O emissions from poor and rapidly drying sandy soils in a temperate monsoon climate. Therefore, in 2010 we took comparative measurements of N_2O emissions at the soil/atmosphere interface of PE-mulched ridges and uncovered furrows of a radish field's plots which had received different amounts of nitrogen fertilizer and because of unexpected results we conducted one further experiment in 2011, comparing the N_2O emissions of PE-mulched and non-mulched ridges of an unfertilized soybean field. Both experiments were conducted in East Asia (Korea), where plastic mulching is an extensively used method in agriculture. We hypothesized that the plastic mulching would cause higher N_2O emissions due to the mentioned conditions underneath the plastic film which are considered to be favorable for N_2O production.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Study site

The study sites were located in the Haean catchmentin Yanggu County, Gangwon Province, South Korea. The agricultural soils of the catchment are mainly characterized as terric cambisols or even as anthrosols (IUSS Working Group WRB 2007) because of an artificial long-term addition of sandy soil on the top of the fields.

The 2010 experiment was conducted at the Punchball Tongil Agricultural Experimental Farm (38°17'42.471"N, 128°8'28.088"E, 420 m a.s.l), the 2011 experiment was conducted at a conventionally treated soybean field (38°16'26.211"N, 128°8'45.354"E, 452 m a.s.l). The study area falls within the East Asian monsoon climate and has an 11-year (1999-2009) average annual air temperature of 8.5°C and an annual precipitation of approximately 1577 mm, with 70% of the precipitation occurring as heavy rainfall between June and August. In recent decades, a shortening of the monsoon season, as well as an increase in the amount of precipitation, and the number of heavy rainfall days, was observed (Chung et al. 2004). However, the months of June and July in 2010 had precipitation amounts of only 67 mm and 216 mm, respectively, which were exceptionally low compared to the 11-year averages. Very dry periods, each with less than 20 mm precipitation in total, were observed from June 14 to July 1, July 6 to July 15, and from July 19 to August 1. In contrast, the months of August and September were extremely wet, with precipitation amounts of 458 mm and 415 mm, respectively. Due to clearly colder temperatures in March, April and May than during the 11-year mean there was a delay in the start of cropping by approximately two to four weeks.

The 2011 mean air temperature (8.4°C) was in accordance with the 12-year (1999-2010) average whereas precipitation amounts (1440 mm) were slightly lower. Most precipitation occurred in June (372 mm), July (596 mm) and August (148 mm).

2.2.2 Experimental design in 2010

On May 15, the previously fallow field was tilled. On May 31, a commonly used basal fertilizer (30% mineral NPK fertilizer with 4.2-2-1, 70% organic fertilizer, with C/N ratio 4.1:1 and an N content 186.7 kg / ha, SamboUbi, South Korea) was applied as granules and mixed in the top 15 cm of the soil to enhance soil fertility. On June 1, additional NH_4^+ -urea fertilizer in a ratio of 7:3 was applied as a one-time top dressing (mineral NPK fertilizer 11-8-9 +3MgO+0.3B, KG Chemicals, South Korea) at 4 fertilizer N rates on June 1: N50, N200, N250, and N350, reflecting the application of 50, 200, 250, and 350 kg N ha⁻

¹. The recommendations for highland radishes provided by the Rural Development Administration of Korea (RDA 2006) was 250 kg/ha. The plots (7x7 m) were arranged in a randomized block design with three replicates for the applied fertilizer amounts N50, N250 and N350 and there was one more additional plot which received the N200 treatment (Figure 2.1). On June 9, the top 20 cm of the soil was ploughed, implementing a ridge system (35 cm width and about 15 cm height) with a distance of 70 cm between the rows. The ridges were covered with impervious black PE mulch (see Figure 2.2) that contained one row of holes with a diameter of 6 cm every 25 cm along the ridge. Finally, on June 14, radishes were sowed on the top ridges at a rate of two - three seeds for each hole (Hungnong Seeds, South Korea). Weeding during the experiment was performed manually without the application of herbicides. This is not the common practice in this area as farmers usually seem to apply herbicides, but in order not to add any more chemicals and potentially N₂O-emission-causing substances, it was decided to do manually weed. The weeding was done weekly during the month after the seeding of the radish. On August 27, the radish was harvested, the PE mulch was removed and the field lay fallow.

Each N50-, N250- and N350-radish field plot contained three polyvinylchloride (PVC) cylinders (see Figure 2.1). There were two of those cylinders on the PE-mulched ridge: the first one surrounded a hole with one radish plant (plant hole cylinder) and the second one was installed on the PE mulch (PE mulch cylinder). The PE mulch cylinder was accomplished by cutting a hole of the size of the PVC cylinder in the PE mulch, installing the PVC cylinder and then placing the PE mulch in the PVC cylinder. The PE mulch which surrounded that PVC cylinder was placed on the PVC cylinder from its outside so that the PE mulch of the ridge remained impervious. The third cylinder of each plot was installed in the furrow (furrow cylinder). The N200 plot had nine PVC cylinders, three in the furrow, three in the PE mulch and three more surrounding plant holes. Prior to seeding and after the harvesting N₂O flux measurements were taken on the fallow soil.



Figure 2.1 Schematic drawing of the experimental design of the radish field site in 2010



Figure 2.2 Scheme of a typical ridge cultivation system with plastic mulching in a temperate South Korean area with summer monsoon. Shown are the distributions of N fertilizer in the system and width, height and distance of the ridges

2.2.3 Experimental design in 2011

Before the experiment started, the field in which radish had grown the previous year, was ploughed by the farmer without applying any fertilizer in 2011. The ridge and furrow system was implemented (35 cm wide and 15-20 cm high (Figure 2.2)), the ridges were covered with impervious black PE mulch that contained one row of holes every 25 cm along the ridge with a diameter of 6 cm. On May 29, soybeans were sowed on top of the ridges at a rate of two - three seeds for each hole. Some ridges remained uncovered. Weeding during the experiment was performed manually without the application of herbicides. This is not the common practice in this area as farmers usually seem to apply herbicides, but in order not to add any more chemicals and potentially N₂O-emission-causing substances, it was decided to manually weed. The weeding was done one time, on June 15, 2011.

 N_2O fluxes were measured using nine PVC cylinders: three surrounded soybean plants which grew on ridges covered with PE mulch, three surrounded soybean plants which grew on ridges which were not covered with PE mulch and three installed in the furrows which were randomly distributed next to PE-covered and non-PE-covered ridges.

2.2.4 Measurements of N₂O fluxes

 N_2O fluxes were measured every three to seven days from May 13 through October 22, 2010 at the radish field site and from May 16 through September 14, 2011 at the soybean field site using the closed chamber method in conjunction with a photoacoustic infrared gas analyser (Multigas Monitor 1312, INNOVA, Ballerup, Denmark) as described by Yamulki and Jarvis (1999) and Goldberg et al. (2008). Each site contained the amount of PVC cylinders described above with a diameter of 19.5 cm and a height of 15 cm, which were installed 7 cm deep in the soil. They served as connecting points to attach the chambers in whose headspaces the N₂O concentrations were determined in 0, 10, 20, 30 and 40 minute intervals. The reproducibility of one single N₂O concentration measurement was \pm 32 ppb. From a linear increase or decrease of the N₂O concentration in the chambers' headspaces the N₂O flux was calculated taking into account the total chamber volume which includes the chamber headspace volume, volume of the two 25 m long Teflon tubes and of the CO₂ and H₂O gas traps.

Cumulative N_2O emissions were calculated as described by Tilsner et al. (2003a), by multiplying the N_2O emission rates of two consecutive measurement days with the corresponding time period. These time weighted N_2O flux means were then summed up over the measurement period.

2.2.5 Measurement of soil moisture and soil temperature

To measure volumetric soil water content [%] and soil temperature [°C] ECH2O loggers (EM50 Data logger, Decagon Devices, WA, USA) were used. They logged soil moisture and temperature values every 30 minutes from May 13 through August 31, 2010 at the N200 treatment of the radish field and from May 16 through September 14, 2011 at the soybean field. At the N200 treatment of the radish field one sensor was installed 5 cm deep in the furrow and a second sensor was installed 5 cm deep in one of the holes of the PE mulch.

At the soybean field one sensor was installed 5 cm deep in a furrow, one more sensor was installed 5 cm deep in one of the plant holes of a ridge that was covered with PE mulch and a third sensor was installed next to a plant of a ridge which was not covered with PE mulch.

2.2.6 Statistical methods

N₂O flux curves were obtained by calculating mean N₂O flux values \pm 1SE for every day of measurement and linear interpolation between two consecutive measurement days. The mean flux was based on *n*=3 for furrows, PE mulches and plant holes at each amount of fertilizer applied. Statistics were conducted with R 2.12.0. *Via t*-Test (normally distributed data) or Mann-Whitney *U*-test (not normally distributed data) it was tested whether the measured N_2O fluxes are significantly different from zero and whether the soil moisture and temperature conditions underneath the PE mulch were different from those in the furrow. After the t-Test had not shown a difference between the soil temperatures of PE-mulched ridges and furrows, a paired t-Test was conducted. To determine whether furrow-, PE mulch- and plant hole N_2O fluxes of the radish field's N50, N200, N250 and N350 plots and also the N_2O fluxes of the soybean field's furrows, PE- and non-PE-mulched ridges, as well as soil moisture or soil temperature of the soybean field's furrows, PE- and non-PE-mulched ridges were statistically different from each other, t-Tests, ANOVAs or the non-parametric Kruskal-Wallis-tests were calculated. Pearson or Spearman analyses were performed to identify potential correlations between N_2O fluxes and volumetric soil water content and soil temperature and between the cumulative N_2O emissions and the amount of N fertilizer applied.

2.3 Results

 $2.3.1 N_2O$ fluxes and cumulative N_2O emissions at the radish field in 2010

With increasing amount of fertilizer applied there appeared to be a higher N_2O emission rate of the plant hole-spots at all the plots` ridges. The N_2O -emissions of the furrow showed a more complicated pattern: for those plots which had received a lower amount of N fertilizer (N50 and N200), the N_2O emissions of the furrows exceeded the emissions of the plant holes. For the N250 and N350 plots the opposite N_2O emission pattern could be observed.

The N₂O fluxes of ridges with PE mulch were almost zero for all of the treatments during the time of the experiment, except for June 23, when they reached their maximum (N50: 3.15 µmol m⁻² h⁻¹; N200: 1.85 µmol m⁻² h⁻¹; N250: 1.21 µmol m⁻² h⁻¹; N350: 2.84 µmol m⁻² h⁻¹). On that day, the plant holes and furrows also showed the highest N₂O fluxes. Before June 16 and after July 24 only very tiny to zero N₂O fluxes could be measured. There were significantly different N₂O fluxes (*p < 0.05) between PE mulch and plant holes in PE mulch as well as furrows for almost all of the plots (see Table 2.1 in the appendix for all statistical differences). No differences were found among ridges, furrows and PE mulches of the differently fertilized plots.

The measurement period's cumulative N_2O emissions of the furrows and plant holes in PE mulch range between 2 to 6 mmol m⁻² (equals 880.3 to 2640.8 g N_2O ha⁻¹ or 5.5 to 16.4 g N_2O ha⁻¹ d⁻¹), whereas the highest cumulative N₂O emissions degassed from the furrows of the N50 plots (6 mmol m⁻², equals 2640.8 g N₂O ha⁻¹ or 16.4 g N₂O ha⁻¹ d⁻¹). Among all of the different amounts of fertilizer applied the N₂O fluxes of the PE mulches integrated over time amounted to comparably low values of 0.2 to -0.8 mmol m⁻² (equals 88.0 to -352.1 g N₂O ha⁻¹ or 0.5 to -2.2 g N₂O ha⁻¹ d⁻¹).

- -O- N₂O fluxes of furrows
- $-\Phi$ N_2O fluxes of ridges plant holes in PE mulch
- N_2O fluxes of ridges PE mulch
- → N₂O fluxes of bare soil prior to seeding and after the harvesting
- -O- cumulative N₂O emissions of furrows
- Φ cumulative $N_2^{-}O$ emissions of ridges plant holes in PE mulch
- cumulative N₂O emissions of ridges PE mulch



Figure 2.3 N_2O flux [µmol m⁻² h⁻¹] and cumulative N_2O emission [mmol m⁻²] of the radish field site from May 13 through October 22, 2010. The first dotted line indicates the day when the N fertilizer was applied (June 1) and the second dotted line indicates the day when the radish was harvested, the PE mulch

was removed and the ridge and furrow system was dissolved. Error bars in N_2O flux- and cumulative N_2O emission- graphs represent the standard error of the mean (n = 3)

2.3.2 Soil moisture and temperature of the PE-mulched ridges and furrows at the N200 plot

There appeared to be higher temperature fluctuations in the PE-mulched ridges than in the furrows; however, the mean soil temperature during the time of the experiment was 24.80°C (\pm 2.14) in PE-mulched ridges and 24.30°C (\pm 1.58) and furrows (Figure 2.4) which makes a very significant difference of 0.5°C (***p* = 0.005). In contrast, the mean volumetric soil water content in ridges and furrows differed with a mean value of 19.80% (ranging from 10% to 32%) in the furrows and 15.62% (ranging from 5% to 15%) in the ridges underneath the PE mulch, which makes a highly significant difference (****p* < 0.001) of 4.18%.



Figure 2.4 Mean daily volumetric water content [%] and mean daily soil temperature [°C] from June 14 through August 31 of the N200 plot at the radish field site in 2010

2.3.3 N₂O fluxes and cumulative N₂O emissions at the soybean field in 2011

The N₂O fluxes at the soybean field site's PE-covered and non-PE-covered ridges ranged from slightly negative to 5.2 μ mol m⁻² h⁻¹ (Figure 2.5). During the time of the experiment they were comparatively low: flux peaks occurred on May 22, June 6, July 6, August 23 and August 30; however, statistically

significant differences between the PE-mulched and non-PE-mulched ridges could not be found. For the furrows there is a similar pattern; however, their average N_2O exchange at the soil/atmosphere interface most of the times was higher than that of the ridges (Table 2.2).

For the cumulative N₂O emissions the graph (Figure 2.5) shows a difference between the amount of N₂O degassed from PE-covered and non-PE-covered ridges which is not statistically significant. Also, the amount of N₂O degassed from the furrows (Table 2.2) exceeds both the cumulative N₂O emissions of the PE-covered and non-PE-covered ridges. The N₂O fluxes of the non-PE-mulched ridges amounted to 3 mmol m⁻² (equals 1320.4 g N₂O ha⁻¹ or 10.9 g N₂O ha⁻¹ d⁻¹), which is 50% more than the emission from the PE-mulched ridges. The highest cumulative N₂O emissions were found for the furrows (3.9 mmol m⁻² equals 1716.5 g N₂O ha⁻¹ or 14.2 g N₂O ha⁻¹ d⁻¹).



Figure 2.5 N₂O flux [μ mol m⁻² h⁻¹] and cumulative N₂O emission [mmol m⁻²] of the soybean field site from May 15 through September 14, 2011. Error bars represent the standard error of the mean (n = 3)

Table 2.2 N₂O flux $[\mu mol m^{-2} h^{-1}]$ and Standard Error (n = 3) as well as cumulative N₂O emission [mmol m⁻²] and Standard Error (n = 3) of the soybean field site's furrows from May 15 through September 14, 2011. Those N₂O fluxes are a mixture of N₂O fluxes from furrows which were located next to PE-mulched and such which were located next to non-PE-mulched ridges so that they cannot be included into Figure 2.5

Date $\begin{array}{c} \text{Measured N}_2\text{O flux} \\ [\mu \text{mol } \text{m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}] \end{array} \pm 1\text{SE} \\ \begin{array}{c} \text{Cumulative N}_2\text{O emission} \\ [\text{mmol } \text{m}^{-2}] \end{array}$	±1SE	
--	------	--

16.05.2011	-0.29	0.18		
17.05.2011	0.40	0.56	0.00	0.00
22.05.2011	7.83	4.62	0.50	0.09
27.05.2011	0.23	0.41	0.98	0.19
30.05.2011	1.24	0.69	1.03	0.20
06.06.2011	3.03	2.12	1.34	0.32
08.06.2011	0.42	0.15	1.42	0.36
10.06.2011	0.95	0.09	1.46	0.39
13.06.2011	0.55	0.18	1.51	0.42
15.06.2011	1.02	0.08	1.55	0.43
21.06.2011	0.97	0.54	1.69	0.45
28.06.2011	1.95	1.58	1.93	0.50
02.07.2011	1.35	1.37	2.09	0.53
06.07.2011	3.30	2.53	2.31	0.54
10.07.2011	0.52	0.18	2.50	0.54
15.07.2011	0.50	0.43	2.56	0.56
21.07.2011	0.05	0.05	2.60	0.57
25.07.2011	-0.09	0.10	2.60	0.58
29.07.2011	0.14	0.30	2.60	0.59
02.08.2011	0.38	0.30	2.63	0.61
10.08.2011	0.53	0.49	2.71	0.63
15.08.2011	2.83	2.19	2.91	0.66
19.08.2011	-0.05	0.47	3.05	0.67
23.08.2011	2.16	1.09	3.15	0.69
30.08.2011	2.19	1.91	3.51	0.84
13.09.2011	0.15	0.36	3.91	1.09

2.3.4 Soil moisture and temperature of the PE mulched ridges, the non-PE-mulched ridges and furrows at the soybean field

The lowest mean soil temperature (21.47°C±2.44) as well as the smallest temperature fluctuations occurred in the furrows (Figure 2.6), whose soil temperatures were only by trend (p = 0.103) different from mean daily soil temperatures in the PE mulched and non-PE-mulched ridges. The temperature fluctuations and averaged mean daily soil temperature were very similar in PE-mulched (21.96°C±2.57) and non-PE-mulched ridges (22.00°C±2.56). Volumetric soil water content was very similar and statistically not differentiable in the furrows (30.22±0.11%) and non-PE-mulched ridges (28.36±0.08%), whereas the ridges which were covered with the PE film were much drier and statistically different (19.03±4.98%), which is reflected in a highly significant statistical result of p < 0.001, H = 86.684.



Figure 2.6 Mean daily volumetric water content [%] and mean daily soil temperature [°C] from May 15 through September 14 at the soybean field site in 2011

2.3.5 Correlations between N_2O fluxes and soil moisture, soil temperature and amount of N fertilizer applied

Neither soil moisture nor soil temperature affected the N₂O fluxes at the radish or soybean field site significantly ($r^2 < 0.1$, p > 0.05) even though the rain event from June 12 through June 14 apparently triggered the N₂O fluxes and the July 2 through July 5 rain event preceded one more, smaller, N₂O peak at the radish field site in 2010. No correlation could be found between applied N fertilizer amounts and sum of N₂O emitted from the radish field.

2.4 Discussion

2.4.1 General comments on crop yields of the study region

The average yield of radish in the study area in 2010 was 33.1 t ha⁻¹ and in 2011, 32.5 t ha⁻¹; average yield of soybeans was 1.85 t ha⁻¹ in 2010 and 1.56 t ha⁻¹ in 2011 (Yanggu County office statistic 2010, 2011, unpublished data sheets). For radish the average yield data given in the literature varies between 60 and 160 t ha⁻¹ and for soybeans the average yields are 0.6-4.9 t ha⁻¹ (Batti et al. 1983; Morgan and Midmore 2003; Khairul Alam et al. 2010; Steve Lindner, personal communication 2012). Therefore, the yields of soybeans of the study region were on average whereas radish yields were below average. For other crops of the study area which also experience the PE mulching practice such as potato and cabbage, the yields are well on average in comparison to other areas' yields (Horton et al. 1988; Hassal and Associates 2003; Rahemi et al. 2005; Bohl and Johnson 2010).

Also, it is known that the PE mulch - through performing as a greenhouse - in general has a positive effect on the plant productivity, which is the main reason why it is widely used worldwide. The purpose of our study was not to reconfirm it but we took the already well-investigated positive PE mulching effect on crop yields (Kyrikou and Briassoulis 2007) as given and furthermore tried to broaden our knowledge on side effects of the PE mulch, such as its impact on N_2O as its impact on N_2O emissions.

2.4.2 Discussion of the results

An unexpected result was that the soil moisture of the PE-mulched ridges of the radish field as well as those of the soybean field was much lower than we had expected and as other publications predict (Kyrikou and Briassoulis 2007; Nishimura et al. 2012). Nishimura et al. (2012) observed that during the summer the soil moisture under the PE mulch at their experimental site ranged from 26% to 33%, which is in contrast to the considerably lower soil moisture values underneath the PE mulch that we found at our study sites: during the early summer drought period in 2010 it ranged from 9% to 22% at the radish field site and during the early summer drought of the year 2011 it ranged from 12% to 20%. The reason for those low soil moistures could be the soil conditions of the study area. According to Kettering et al. (2013), the soils of the study region were very sandy, as were the soils of our experimental sites. Such soils show a fast infiltration and seepage of water; thus due to quick seeping of water it appears plausible to us that the PE mulch at our experimental sites could not keep the soil moisture high and the soils of our experimental sites were dryer as in the previous studies. This unexpected finding may be the main reason why our initial hypothesis could not be corroborated. We were assuming that plastic mulch films covering agricultural fields would lead to increased N_2O emissions due to higher soil temperatures and moisture but the two experiments which we conducted were not in line with this hypothesis.

The 2010 experiment at the radish field site provided an indication that ridges which are being covered with PE mulch films show very tiny N_2O emissions from the PE mulch surface whereas the adjacent plant hole spots and furrows showed quite high emissions. This raised the question whether less N_2O production occurred underneath the PE mulch film or there was horizontal diffusion of N_2O from the ridge soil covered with the mulch film to the adjacent furrows and plant holes, so that most of the N_2O produced underneath the PE mulch would have degassed from the furrows and plant hole spots. Recently, Nishimura et al. (2012) published that the N_2O flux by permeation through the mulch film and that its permeability increased with increasing ambient temperature in a way that extremely huge amounts of N_2O degassed through the PE mulch film from the field during midday temperatures in the summer. Ou et

al. (2007) also found that another gas the fumigant methyl bromide injected to the soil covered with a PE film was emitted to the atmosphere by permeation through the film to a great extend. Considering that the PE mulch is permeable for gas at high temperatures and the high mean daily soil temperatures of up to 30° C at our site, we conclude that the amount of N₂O degassing from the PE mulch surface to a great extend must have been in accordance with the amount of N₂O that had been produced underneath.

To us it makes sense that low soil moistures as well as high soil temperatures (the conditions underneath the PE mulch at our study sites) lead to a decreased N₂O production even though there are recent previous studies (Arriaga et al. 2011; Nishimura et al. 2012), that suggest otherwise, although at higher soil moistures. Assuming that N₂O is mainly produced during microbial denitrification (Tilsner et al. 2003b) and the recently attention attracting process of nitrifier denitrification (Wrage et al. 2001; Kool et al. 2011), processes which are known to occur at conditions of low oxygen - however the first process mainly takes place at low soil moisture, whereas the latter process takes place when moisture conditions are sub-optimal for denitrification (Linn and Doran 1984; Kool et al. 2011) - there would be less production of N₂O underneath the PE cover.

Interestingly, we neither found significant correlations between N_2O fluxes and soil moisture or temperature nor between N_2O fluxes and amount of fertilizer applied, which would have been an expected result since soil water content, soil temperature and fertilization rates have been identified as main drivers of N_2O fluxes (Dobbie et al. 1999; Ruser et al. 2006; Kool et al. 2011; Nishimura et al. 2012). A previous study which had been conducted in nearby forest sites had shown that there were significant correlations between N_2O fluxes and soil moisture and temperature (Berger et al. 2013).

However, despite not finding a correlation between moisture and N₂O fluxes, it was obvious that the rain event from June 12 to June 14, 2010 had triggered the N₂O fluxes of the radish field. This is consistent with previous studies reporting on greatest N₂O fluxes after the first of summer rains (Davidson et al. 1993; Scholes et al. 1997; Barton et al. 2008). Because the 2010 experiment left so many questions unanswered, we conducted the soybean field experiment in the following year in order to directly compare whether covered or uncovered ridges of a non-fertilized field would show higher N₂O emissions. The interesting result was that the amount of N₂O cumulatively emitted from plant holes of ridges which were covered with the PE mulch (2 mmol m⁻²) was only 68% of the emission of soils around soybean plants of non-PE-mulched ridges (3 mmol m⁻²) and it was only 50% of the N₂O emitted from the furrows (3.9 mmol m⁻²) even though hardly any statistical significant differences could be found between N₂O fluxes at both PE-mulch-covered and –non-covered ridges on the single measurement days. The difference between soil moisture of the PE-mulched ridges and the non-PE-mulched ridges and furrows was even more pronounced than the differences between furrows and PE-mulched ridges in 2010. Thus, our results suggest that PE mulch may reduce N_2O emissions from agricultural fields on sandy soils in temperate areas with summer monsoon like in Korea because the PE mulch keeps the covered soils between the plant holes, where no water can infiltrate into the ridges, at lower soil moisture and higher soil temperatures.

Only taking into account the radish field data, one may argue that there might have ocurred a strong N_2O diffusion to, and stack effect through, the adjacent plant holes and furrows. But since a direct comparison of N_2O emissions of plant holes of PE-mulched ridges and plant spots of non-mulched ridges in the following year showed that mulched ridges certainly do not have higher emissions (if not even lower ones), we believe that PE mulches and the way they are used in Korea (application of fertilizer and PE mulching long before the most of the rainfall occurs, so that most of the fertilizer can get assimilated by the crops) can reduce N_2O emissions from agricultural soils.

To finally answer the title question: "Plastic mulching in Agriculture – friend or foe of N_2O emissions?", it would be necessary to take comparative N_2O flux measurements of furrows located next to PE-mulched ridges would behave in comparison to furrows located next to non-PE-mulched ridges, which has not been done so far. Considering that the PE mulching is a very common method in agriculture in East Asian countries such as Korea, Japan and China, and that its use is increasing in Africa, in the Middle East and also in Germany by 15 - 20% annually (Kwon et al. 2006; Kyrikou and Briassoulis 2007; FBAW information, 2007; unpublished data sheet), it is very important to acquire detailed knowledge on the PE mulch's effects on the environment.

Our results support the general finding that N_2O fluxes from non-fertilized legume cropping systems, which have N fixation as an additional N source, are not necessarily greater than fluxes from N fertilized non-legume crops under similar climatic and management regimes (Helgason et al. 2005; Rochette and Janzen 2005; Parkin and Kaspar 2006; Stehfest and Bouwman 2006; Barton et al. 2008). The N₂O emitted from the non-fertilized soybean field site in 2011 amounted to 5.90 mmol m⁻² (2.06 mmol m⁻² for the PE-mulched ridges and 3.90 mmol m⁻² for the furrow), which is very similar to the amount of N₂O that had degassed from the N200 plots at the radish field site in 2010, which had received an intermediate amount of nitrogen fertilizer.

2.5 Conclusions

Comparative N₂O flux measurements were conducted at a radish field in 2010 and at a soybean field in 2011 in order to elucidate if PE mulching of agricultural fields affected N₂O emissions. Whereas the PE-mulched rows of the radish field showed rather low N₂O emissions, the adjacent furrows and plant holes showed higher emissions among different amounts of nitrogen fertilizer applied, we considered the extremely low soil moisture at our study site to be responsible for the comparatively low N₂O emissions which could neither be correlated with soil temperature and moisture, nor amount of fertilizer applied. The experiment at the soybean field in 2011 brought the interesting result that PE-mulching might decrease N₂O emissions from agricultural soils if applied on sandy soils located in a temperate climate including an early summer drought and monsoon rains. One additional result was that the N₂O emitted by a non-fertilized PE-mulched legume field did not exceed the N₂O emitted by a non-legume field which had received an intermediate amount of nitrogen fertilizer, which supports earlier findings which state that cultivation of nitrogen fixing plants does not cause N₂O emissions above cultivation of non-nitrogen fixing plants and common nitrogen fertilizer use.

2.6 Acknowledgements

This work is part of the research group "TERRECO - Complex TERRain and ECOlogical Heterogeneity" and financially supported by the German Research Foundation (DFG). We are thankful to Bora Lee and Eunyoung Jung for supporting us in the field and for their great language help during negotiations with local farmers. And we thank John Tenhunen for the farseeing, careful and very professional coordination of the TERRECO fieldwork.

2.7 References

- Akiyama, H., Tsuruta, H., 2003a. Nitrous oxide, nitric oxide, and nitrogen dioxide fluxes from soils after manure and urea application. J. Environ. Qual. 32, 423-431
- Akiyama, H., Tsuruta, H., 2003b. Effect of organic matter application on N₂O, NO and NO₂ fluxes from an Andisol field. Glob. Biogeochem. Cycl. 17, 1100, doi:10.1029/2002GB002016, 4
- Arriaga, H., Núñez-Zofio, M., Larregla, S., Merino, P., 2011. Gaseous emissions from soil biodisinfestation by animal manure on a greenhouse pepper crop. Crop. Prot. 30, 412-419
- Ban, D., Žanić, K., Dumičić, G., Čuljak, T.G., Ban, S.G., 2009. The type of polyethylene mulch impacts vegetative growth, yield, and aphid populations in watermelon production. J. Food. Agric. Environ. 7, 543-550

- Barton, L., Butterbach-Bahl, K., Kiese, R., Murphy, D.V., 2008. Nitrous oxide fluxes from a grain– legume crop (narrow-leafed lupin) grown in a semiarid climate. Glob. Change Biol. 17, 1153-1166
- Berger, S., Jung, E., Köpp, J., Kang, H., Gebauer, G., 2013. Monsoon rains, drought periods and soil texture as drivers of soil N₂O fluxes - soil drought turns East Asian temperate deciduous forest soils into temporary and unexpectedly persistent N₂O sinks, Soil Biol. Biochem. 57, 273-281
- Bohl, W.H., Johnson, S.B, 2010. Commercial Potato Production in North America. The Potato Association of America Handbook. Second Revision of American Potato Journal Supplement Volume 57 and USDA Handbook 267 by the Extension Section of The Potato Association of America
- Chung, Y.S., Yoon, M.B., Kim, H.S., 2004. On Climate Variations And Changes Observed In South Korea. Climatic Change 66, 151-161
- Cicerone, R.J., 1987. Changes in stratospheric ozone. Science 237, 35-42
- Davidson, E.A., Matson, P.A., Vitousek, P.M., Riley, R., Dunkin, K., Garciá-Méndez, G., Maass, J.M., 1993. Processes regulating soil emissions of NO and N₂O in a seasonally dry tropical forest. Ecology 74, 130-139
- Díaz-Pérez, J.C., 2010. Bell pepper (*Capsicum annum L.*) grown on plastic film mulches: effects on crop microenvironment, physiological attributes, and fruit yield. Hortscience 45, 1196-1204
- Dobbie, K.E., McTaggart, I.P., Smith, K.A., 1999. Nitrous oxide emissions from intensive agricultural systems: Variations between crops and seasons, key driving variables, and mean emission factors. J. Geophys. Res.-Oc. Atm. 104, 26891-26899
- FBAW information on "Ernteverfrühung, Folien, Vliese und Netze bei Gemüse und Erdbeeren 2007 (Angaben in ha)" unpublished data sheet
- Flessa, H., Dorsch, P., Beese, F., 1995. Seasonal variation of N₂O and CH₄ fluxes in differentially managed arable soils in southern Germany. J. Geophys. Res.-Oc. Atm. 100, 23115-23124
- Goldberg, S.D., Muhr, J., Borken, W., Gebauer, G., 2008. Fluxes of climate-relevant trace gases between a Norway spruce forest soil and atmosphere during repeated freeze-thaw cycles in mesocosms. J. Plant Nutr. Soil Sci. 171, 729-739
- Hassal and Associates Pty Ltd, 2003. Asian Vegetable Industry. A situation Assessment. A report for the Rural Industries Research and Development Cooperation. RIRDC Publication No. 02/168
- Hayakawa, A., Akiyama, H., Sudo, S., Yagi, K., 2009. N₂O and NO emissions from an Andisol field as influenced by pelleted poultry manure. Soil Biol. Biochem. 41, 521-529
- Helgason, B.L., Janzen, H.H., Chantigny, M.H., Drury, C.F., Ellert, B.H., Gregorich, E.G., Lemke, R.L., Patty, E., Rochette, P., Wagner-Riddle, C., 2005. Toward improved coefficients for predicting direct N₂O emissions from soil in Canadian agroecosystems. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 72, 87-99
- Horton, D., Kim, Y.C., Hahn, B.H., Kim, K.K., Mok, I.G., Lee, B.N., Kim, D.M., 1988. Potato Research and Development in the Republic of Korea: Organization, Impact and Issues. Lima, International Potato Center in collaboration with Republic of Korea, Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries, Rural Development Administration, p. 72
- Hussain Batti, M., Inayat Ullah, H., Khan, S., Shakoor, A., 1983. An evaluation of exotic and local cultivars of radish (*Raphanus sativus*). Pakistan J. Agric. Res. 4, No. 1
- IPCC, 2007. Climate Change 2007 The physical science basis. In: Solomon, S., Qin, D., Manning, M., Chen, Z., Marquis, M., Averyt, K.B., Tignor, M., Miller, H.L. (Eds.), Contribution of Working

Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel of Climate Change (IPCC). Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, p. 940

- IUSS Working Group WRB, 2007. World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2006 first update 2007. World Soil Resources Reports No. 103. FAO, Rome
- Katan, J., Devay, J.E., (Eds.) 1991. Soil solarization. CRC, Boca Raton 159-170
- Kettering, J., Ruidisch, M., Gaviria, C., Ok, Y.-S., Kuzyakov, Y., 2013. Fate of fertilizer ¹⁵N in intensive ridge cultivation with plastic mulching under a monsoon climate. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys. DOI: 10.1007/s10705-012-9548-3
- Khairul Alam, M., Farooque, A.M., Nurumazzan, M., Jamal Uddin, AFM., 2010. Effect of Sowing time on Growth and Yield of three radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) varieties. Bangladesh Research Publications Journal 3, Issue 3, 998-1006
- Kool, D.M., Dolfing, J., Wrage, N., van Groenigen, J.W., 2011. Nitrifier denitrification as a distinct and significant source of nitrous oxide from soil. Soil Biol. Biochem. 43, 174-178
- Kyrikou, I., Briassoulis, D., 2007. Biodegradation of Agricultural Plastic Films: A Critical Review. J. Polym. Environ. 15, 125-150
- Kwon, T.R., Pae, D.H., Shin, Y.A., Oh, D.G., Lee, J-M., 2006. *Capiscum* Peppers: A Vital Crop for Korea. Chron. Horticult. 46, 16-19
- Linn, D.M., Doran, J.W., 1984. Effect of water-filled pore space on carbon dioxide and nitrous oxide production in tilled and nontilled soils. Soil. Sci. Soc. Am. J. 48, 1267-1272
- Morgan, W., Midmore, D., 2003. Daikon in Australia A report for the Rural Industries Research and Development Corporation. RIRDC Publication No 03/091
- Nishimura, S., Komada. M., Takebe, M., Yonemura, S., Kato, N., 2012. Nitrous oxide evolved from soil covered with plastic mulch film in horticultural field. Biol. Fert. Soils. 48, 787-795
- Ou, L.T., Thomas, J.E., Allen, L.H. Jr., Vu, J.C., Dickson, D.W., 2007. Emissions and distribution of methyl bromide in field beds applied at two rates and covered with two types of plastic mulches. J. Environ. Sci. Health Part B-Pestic. Contam. Agric. Wastes 42, 15-20
- Parkin, T.B., Kaspar, T.C., 2006. Nitrous oxide emission from corn-soybean systems in the midwest. J. Environ. Qual. 35, 1496-1506
- Rahemi, A., Hasanpour, A., Mansoori, B., Zakerin, A., Taghavi, T.S., 2005. The Effects of Intra-Row Spacing and N Fertilizer on the Yield of two Foreign Potato Cultivars in Iran. Int. J. Agric. Biol., Vol. 7, No. 5, 1560-8530/2005/07-5-705-707
- RDA (Rural Development Administration of Korea) (Ed.), 2006. The standard rate of chemical fertilizer for crops. RDA, Suwon-si (in Korean)
- Rochette, P., Janzen, H.H., 2005. Towards a revised coefficient for estimating N₂O emissions from legumes. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 73, 171-179
- Rodhe, H., 1990. A comparison of the contribution of various gases to the greenhouse-effect. Science 248, 1217-1219
- Ruser, R., Flessa, H., Russow, R., Schmidt, G., Buegger, F., Munch, J.C., 2006. Emission of N₂O, N-2 and CO₂ from soil fertilized with nitrate: Effect of compaction, soil moisture and rewetting. Soil Biol. Biochem. 38, 263-274
- Scholes, M.C., Martin, R., Scholes, R.J., Parsons, D., Winstead, E., 1997. NO and N₂O emissions from savanna soils following the first simulated rains of the season. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosyst. 48, 115– 122

- Shepherd, M.F., Barzetti, S., Hastie, D.R., 1991. The production of atmosphereic NO_X and N₂O from a fertilized agricultural soil. Atmos. Environ. Part A 25, 1961-1969
- Stehfest, E., Bouwman, L., 2006. N₂O and NO emission from agricultural fields and soils under natural vegetation: summarizing available measurement data and modeling of global annual emissions. Nutr. Cycl. Agroecosys. 74, 207-228
- Tilsner, J., Wrage, N., Lauf, J., Gebauer, G., 2003a. Emission of gaseous nitrogen oxides from an extensively managed grassland in NE Bavaria, Germany. I. Annual budgets of N₂O and NO_x emissions. Biogeochemistry 63, 229-247
- Tilsner J., Wrage N., Lauf J., Gebauer G., 2003b. Emission of gaseous nitrogen oxides from an extensively managed grassland in NE Bavaria, Germany. II. Stable isotope natural abundance of N₂O. Biogeochemistry 63, 249-267
- Vitousek, P.M., Aber, J.D., Howarth, R.W., Likens, G.E., Matson, P.A., Schindler, D.W., Schlesinger, W.H., Tilman, D., 1997. Human alteration of the global nitrogen cycle: Sources and consequences. Ecol. Appl. 7, 737-750
- WMO, 2006. The State of Greenhouse Gases in the Atmosphere Using global Observations up to December 2004. WMO Greenhouse Bulletin 1. World Meteorological Organization, Geneve, p. 4
- Wrage, N., Velthof, G.L., van Beusichem, M.L., Oenema, O., 2001. Role of nitrifier denitrification in the production of nitrous oxide. Soil Biol. Biochem. 33, 1723-1732
- Yamulki, S., Jarvis, S.C., 1999. Automated chamber technique for gaseous flux measurements: evalutation of a photoacoustic infrared spectrometer-trace gas analyzer. J. Geophys. Res. 104, 5463-5469
- Zhang, S., Li, P., Yang, X., Wang, Z., Chen, X., 2011. Effects of tillage and plastic mulch on soil water, growth and yield of spring-sown maize. Soil Til. Res. 112, 92-97

2.8 Appendix

Table 2.1 Statistically significant differences between N₂O fluxes of PE mulches, plant holes and furrows of the N50, N200, N250 and N350 plots of those measurement days when such differences occurred. * indicates p < 0.05, ** indicates p < 0.01 and *** indicates p < 0.001

N50	16.06.	2010		23.06.	2010		29.06.	2010		06.07.	2010		24.07.	2010	
		PE	Plant		PE	Plant									
		mulch	hole		mulch	hole									
	Plant	* P =		Plant			Plant	P =		Plant	P =		Plant		
	hole	0.036		hole			hole	0.138		hole	0.173		hole		
	Fur-			Fur-			Fur-	*P =	P =	Fur-	* P =	<i>P</i> =	Fur-		
	row			row			row	0.044	0.158	row	0.017	0.093	row		
N200	12.06	2010		10.00	2010		22.00	2010		02.07	2010		07.07	2010	
N200	12.06.	2010		19.06.	2010		22.06.	2010		03.07.	2010		07.07.	2010	
		PE	Plant		PE	Plant									
		mulch	hole		mulch	hole									
	Plant			Plant	P =		Plant	P =		Plant	P =		Plant	**P=	

	hole			hole	0.063		hole	0.121		hole	0.131		hole	0.003	
	Fur-	P =		Fur-	*P =	* P =	Fur-		* P =	Fur-			Fur-	P =	P =
	row	0.163		row	0.029	0.029	row		0.036	row			row	0.151	0.074
	12.07.	2010		21.07.	2010										
		PE	Plant		PE	Plant									
		mulch	hole		mulch	hole									
	Plant	* P =		Plant											
	hole	0.022		hole											
	Fur-	* <i>P</i> =		Fur-	***P<	**P=									
	row	0.018		row	0.001	0.006									
N250	16.06.	2010		23.06.	2010		29.06.	2010		06.07.	2010		24.07.	2010	
		PE	Plant		PE	Plant		PE	Plant		PE	Plant		PE	Plant
		mulch	hole		mulch	hole		mulch	hole		mulch	hole		mulch	hole
	Plant	mulch	hole	Plant	mulch P =	hole	Plant	mulch * <i>P</i> =	hole	Plant	mulch P =	hole	Plant	mulch	hole
	Plant hole	mulch	hole	Plant hole	mulch P = 0.057	hole	Plant hole	mulch * <i>P</i> = 0.036	hole	Plant hole	mulch P = 0.056	hole	Plant hole	mulch	hole
	Plant hole Fur-	mulch	hole	Plant hole Fur-	mulch <i>P</i> = 0.057 * <i>P</i> =	hole * <i>P</i> =	Plant hole Fur-	mulch * <i>P</i> = 0.036 <i>P</i> =	hole $P =$	Plant hole Fur-	mulch <i>P</i> = 0.056	hole	Plant hole Fur-	mulch	hole
	Plant hole Fur- row	mulch	hole	Plant hole Fur- row	mulch <i>P</i> = 0.057 * <i>P</i> = 0.029	hole * <i>P</i> = 0.011	Plant hole Fur- row	mulch * <i>P</i> = 0.036 <i>P</i> = 0.109	hole <i>P</i> = 0.167	Plant hole Fur- row	mulch <i>P</i> = 0.056	hole	Plant hole Fur- row	mulch	hole
N350	Plant hole Fur- row 16.06.	mulch 2010	hole	Plant hole Fur- row 23.06.	mulch <i>P</i> = 0.057 * <i>P</i> = 0.029 2010	hole * <i>P</i> = 0.011	Plant hole Fur- row 29.06.	mulch * <i>P</i> = 0.036 <i>P</i> = 0.109 2010	hole <i>P</i> = 0.167	Plant hole Fur- row 06.07.	mulch <i>P</i> = 0.056 2010	hole	Plant hole Fur- row 24.07.	mulch 2010	hole
N350	Plant hole Fur- row 16.06.	mulch 2010 PE	hole Plant	Plant hole Fur- row 23.06.	mulch <i>P</i> = 0.057 * <i>P</i> = 0.029 2010 PE	hole * P = 0.011 Plant	Plant hole Fur- row 29.06.	mulch * <i>P</i> = 0.036 <i>P</i> = 0.109 2010 PE	hole <i>P</i> = 0.167 Plant	Plant hole Fur- row 06.07.	mulch P = 0.056 2010 PE	hole Plant	Plant hole Fur- row 24.07.	mulch 2010 PE	hole Plant
N350	Plant hole Fur- row 16.06.	mulch 2010 PE mulch	hole	Plant hole Fur- row 23.06.	mulch P = 0.057 * P = 0.029 2010 PE mulch	hole * P = 0.011 Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 29.06.	<pre>mulch * P = 0.036 P = 0.109 2010 PE mulch</pre>	hole <i>P</i> = 0.167 Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 06.07.	mulch P = 0.056 2010 PE mulch	hole hole hole hole hole	Plant hole Fur- row 24.07.	mulch 2010 PE mulch	hole Plant hole
N350	Plant hole Fur- row 16.06. Plant	mulch 2010 PE mulch * P =	hole Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 23.06. Plant	mulch P = 0.057 * P = 0.029 2010 PE mulch * P =	hole * <i>P</i> = 0.011 Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 29.06. Plant	mulch * P = 0.0360 P = 0.109 2010 PE mulch **P<	hole <i>P</i> = 0.167 Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 06.07.	mulch P = 0.056 2010 PE mulch	hole Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 24.07. Plant	mulch 2010 PE mulch ****P<	hole Plant hole
N350	Plant hole Fur- row 16.06. Plant hole	mulch 2010 PE mulch * P = 0.021	hole Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 23.06. Plant hole	mulch P = 0.057 * P = 0.029 2010 PE mulch * P = 0.026	hole * <i>P</i> = 0.011 Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 29.06. Plant hole	mulch * P = 0.036 P = 0.109 2010 PE mulch **P< 0.005	hole P = 0.167 Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 06.07. Plant hole	mulch P = 0.056 2010 PE mulch	hole Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 24.07. Plant hole	mulch 2010 PE mulch ****P< 0.001	hole Plant hole
N350	Plant hole Fur- row 16.06. Plant hole Fur-	mulch 2010 PE mulch * P = 0.021	hole Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 23.06. Plant hole Fur-	mulch P = 0.057 * P = 0.029 2010 PE mulch * P = 0.026	hole * <i>P</i> = 0.011 Plant hole <i>P</i> =	Plant hole Fur- row 29.06. Plant hole Fur-	<pre>mulch * P = 0.036 P = 0.109 2010 PE mulch **P< 0.005 * P =</pre>	hole P = 0.167 Plant hole ****P<	Plant hole Fur- row 06.07. Plant hole Fur-	mulch P = 0.056 2010 PE mulch	hole Plant hole	Plant hole Fur- row 24.07. Plant hole Fur-	mulch 2010 PE mulch ****P<	hole Plant hole

Given are those p-values which indicate a statistically significant difference as well as *p*-values which indicate a trend ($p \le 0.1$). There were more measurement days but the table only provides the statistical results of such measurement days on which statistical differences between plant holes, PE-mulch and furrows could be found
Chapter 3

Simulation of N₂O emissions and nitrate leaching from plastic mulch radish cultivation with LandscapeDNDC

Youngsun Kim^{1, 2}, Sina Berger³, Janine Kettering⁴, John Tenhunen², Edwin Haas¹, Ralf Kiese¹

¹ Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Institute for Meteorology and Climate Research (IMK-IFU), 82467 Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Germany

- ² Department of Plant Ecology, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany
- ³ BayCEER-Laboratory of Isotope Biogeochemistry, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

⁴ Department of Agroecosystem Research, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

Abstract

Radish is one of the major dry field crops in Asia commonly grown with plastic mulch and high rates of N fertilization, and potentially harming the environment due to N_2O emissions and nitrate leaching. Despite the widespread use of plastic mulch, biogeochemical models so far do not yet consider impacts of mulch on soil environmental conditions and biogeochemistry. In this study, we adapted and successfully tested the LandscapeDNDC model against field data by simulating crop growth, C and N turnover and associated N₂O emissions as well as nitrate leaching for radish cultivation with plastic mulch and in conjunction with different rates of N fertilization (465 - 765 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Due to the sandy soil texture and monsoon climate, nitrate leaching with rates up to 350 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ was the dominant reason for overall low nitrogen use efficiency (32 - 43%). Direct or indirect N₂O emissions (calculated from simulated nitrate leaching rates and IPCC $EF_{ind} = 0.0075$) ranged between 2 - 3 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, thus contributing an equal amount to total field emissions of about 5 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Based on our results, emission factors for direct N_2O emissions ranged between 0.004 - 0.005. These values are only half of the IPCC default value (0.01), demonstrating the need of biogeochemical models for developing site and/ or region specific EFs. Simulation results also revealed that changes in agricultural management by appling the fertilizer only to the rows would be an efficient mitigation strategy, effectively decreasing field nitrate leaching and N_2O emissions by 50 - 60%.

Key words: Biogeochemical modeling, LandscapeDNDC, N2O, Nitrate leaching, Plastic mulch

3.1 Introduction

Agriculture is the major anthropogenic source of nitrous oxide (N₂O) (McCraw and Motes 1991; Smith and Conen 2004). Of global anthropogenic greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, agriculture accounts for about 60% of N₂O emissions (IPCC 2007). N₂O emissions are directly related to the amounts of nitrogen application (Smith and Conen 2004) and have increased by 11% since 1990, primarily due to the increase in fertilizer use and the sectoral growth of agriculture (IPCC 2007). In Korea, agricultural N₂O emission is estimated at about 12 Gg, which accounts for about 24% of the total national N₂O emissions. Agricultural soils are the major source of N₂O, contributing about 58.3% to the total agricultural N₂O emissions (KEEI 2009a). N₂O emissions and nitrate (NO₃⁻) leaching from cultivated soils are influenced by environmental factors such as soil temperature and water content, radiation, pH, Eh, and substrate concentration gradient, as well as management practices such as tillage, manure and fertilizer application, incorporation of crop residues (Li 2007; Smith et al. 2002) and plastic mulching (Nishimura et al. 2012). Worldwide, plastic mulch has been used for crop production since the 1960s (Lamont 2005). Over the last 10 years this form of agricultural management dramatically increased with China being the largest consumer of 40% of the global production (Kasirajan and Ngouajio 2012), and a total of 7 million ha of crop cultivation with plastic mulch (Li et al. 2004).

For many years the use of black and transparent plastic mulch has been widely utilized for various crops in Korea as well. In the traditional plastic mulching system, the crop is sown under the plastic film which is held tightly across the soil surface by covering the edges. The crop emerges through perforations in the plastic mulch, which are usually made at the time of seeding. The plastic mulch is discarded after harvest and new mulch is laid in the following season (Fisher 1995). In arid and semi-arid regions, crop growth is often limited by water. The amount of available water in soils can be increased by mulching (Wang et al. 2009b), since it is effective in improving water use efficiency by up to 25% (Chakraborty et al. 2010). The plastic mulch can also provide other benefits such as weed control, reduction in soil compaction and erosion and increase in soil temperature (Fisher 1995; Liakatas et al. 1986; Romic et al. 2003; Wan and El-Swaify 1999). Therefore, the plastic mulch performs like a greenhouse by capturing and retaining daytime solar radiation and reducing heat loss at night, producing a mini-greenhouse effect (Kwabiah 2004). However, less rainfall can infiltrate and pass through the root zone under the plastic mulch because part of the rain that falls onto an impervious plastic film covering a planting bed can run into the furrows (Haraguchi et al. 2004). A study by Haraguchi et al. (2003) revealed that only about 50% of the total precipitation infiltrated into the soil through plant holes on rows covered with plastic mulch. In addition to the use of plastic mulch, Korean agriculture is characterized by high rates of nitrogen fertilization (Cho 2003; Lee et al. 2010) with potentially strong environmental impacts due to elevated N_2O emissions as well as NO_3^- leaching into aquatic systems. The latter is of uppermost importance, since the receiving reservoirs, in our case Soyang Lake, are major drinking water sources for urban areas including the city of Seoul. Radish is a typical Korean short duration crop cultivated with plastic mulch, mainly in the cool seasons of spring and autumn (Sirtautas et al. 2011). Due to its fast growing character (Akoumianakis et al. 2011; Deng et al. 2011b; Park et al. 2006; RDA 2006), farmers apply particularly high rates of N fertilizer (> 600 kg N ha⁻¹). In the recent past, process-based models were increasingly used to predict the impact of various agricultural management practices on plant nitrogen use efficiency and nitrogen losses to the environment, such as greenhouse gas emissions and NO_3^- leaching, by analyzing the interactions between management practices, primary drivers such as climate and soil properties and biogeochemical reactions (e.g. (Chirinda et al. 2011; Giltrap et al. 2010; Li et al. 2006; Liu et al. 2003)). Although black plastic mulch is a common farming technique in Korea and other parts of Asia, biogeochemical models do not yet consider the impacts of this technique on environmental conditions and soil biogeochemistry. In this study, we adapted and applied the LandscapeDNDC model (Haas et al. 2013) for simulation of crop growth, C and N turnover and associated N₂O emissions as well as NO₃ leaching for typical Korean radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) cultivation under plastic mulch, considering different rates of N fertilization.

3.2 Materials and Methods

3.2.1 Site description

The model was tested with data from summer radish fields (38.3°N, 128.14°E, 420 m a.s.l) in Haean Catchment, located in the northeast of Yanggu County, Gangwon Province, South Korea. The annual average air temperature is about 8.5°C and the annual precipitation is approximately 1,500 mm (Figure 3.1). More than half of the annual precipitation occurs during the monsoon season. Daily meteorological data for the simulation year 2010 such as precipitation, average temperature, wind speed, relative humidity and radiation was provided from an automatic weather station on site.



Figure 3.1 Daily precipitation and average daily air temperature of the study site. The weather data was collected from the automatic weather station on site in 2010

The soil of the site investigated was classified as Anthrosols (IUSS Working Group WRB 2007) characterized by very low soil organic carbon contents (SOC), slight acidification (pH 5.1 - 5.6) and high sand contents (> 10%) resulting in low values of field capacity and wilting point (Kettering et al. 2013). For more details see Table 3.1.

Table 3.1 Physico-chemical soil properties of the study site for 0 - 60 cm soil depth

Soil depth	BD ^a	pН	SOC ^b	Sand	Silt	Clay	SF ^c	FC^d	WP ^e
[cm]	[g cm ⁻]	•	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[vol %]	[vol %]
0 - 20	1.64	5.1	0.21	80.7	16.3	3.0	4.3	0.27	0.14
20 - 40	1.51	5.2	0.22	77.3	19.1	3.6	5.4	0.31	0.14
40 - 60	1.49	5.6	0.37	73.2	22.4	4.4	8.5	0.23	0.10

^a Bulk Density, ^b Soil Organic Carbon, ^c Stone Fraction, ^d Field Capacity, ^e Wilting Point

3.2.2 Agricultural management

Mineral (187 kg N ha⁻¹) and organic N (228 kg N ha⁻¹) were applied as basal fertilisation to the entire field as a topdressing two weeks prior to the radish seeding. Mineral fertilizer contained about 4.2% N of the total as NH_4^+ -N. Organic fertilizer consisted of bean cake (95%) and animal bones (5%) with N contents of about 7.7% and 5.3% N, respectively. To examine the impact of N fertilization on N₂O emissions, NO_3^- leaching and crop growth, the entire field was divided into subplots and in addition to basal fertilization, four different rates of mineral nitrogen (50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N ha⁻¹) were manually added on 4 replicated plots (49 m²) per N treatment. All N treatment plots were plowed in 15 - 20 cm depth one week after fertilization in order to create rows and interrows. The rows were covered with black plastic mulch prior to radish seeding and the mulch had continuously covered the rows until harvest. About 2 or 3 radish (*Raphanus sativus* L.) seeds were sown per one plant hole on rows in mid-June. Detailed information for radish cultivation is shown in Table 3.2.

A ani oultural mana comont	Data [dd/mm]	Doto [lra N ho ⁻¹]
Agricultural management		Rate [kg in ha]
Seeding	14/06	
Basal fertilization		
Inorganic fertilizer ((NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄)	31/05	187
Organic fertilizer (Bean cake)	31/05	228
Additional fertilization		
Inorganic fertilizer ((NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄)	01/06	50, 150, 250, 350 ^a
Tillage ^b	31/05, 09/06	
Harvest	31/08	

 Table 3.2 Agricultural management for radish cultivation including different rates of N fertilizer

 application

^a 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N were applied to each N treatment plot with 4 replicates

^b Tilling depth is 15 - 20 cm

3.2.3 LandscapeDNDC: model description and adaptation

In this study the LandscapeDNDC (Haas et al. 2013) model was applied, which unifies functions of the agricultural-DNDC (Giltrap et al. 2010; Li et al. 2001) and the Forest-DNDC (Kesik et al. 2005; Kiese et al. 2011; Stange et al. 2000). LandscapeDNDC is a process-based biogeochemical model which simulates plant growth, ecosystem C and N cycling, the associated biosphere–atmosphere exchange of greenhouse gases (nitrous oxide: N_2O , carbon dioxide: CO_2 and methane: CH_4) and nitrogen leaching on the basis of

plant physiological, microbial and physicochemical interactions. The model runs at sub-daily time steps and uses data such as maximum and minimum air temperature, precipitation, radiation, and wind speed as meteorological drivers. Further input data is needed to reflect agricultural management practices, e.g., planting/harvesting, tillage, fertilizer application, irrigation and information on soil and vegetation properties (SOC, bulk density, texture, pH and crop types) for site characterization and model initialization. Using these input data, LandscapeDNDC predicts soil environmental factors such as substrate availability (C and N), soil temperature and moisture as well as partitioning of anaerobic/ aerobic micro-sites for all user defined soil layers, which are finally driving microbial N turnover processes of nitrification and denitrification and associated losses of N₂O and NO₃⁻.

Since LandscapeDNDC is a 1-dimensional model and, therefore, cannot consider small scale variation in soil topography, we conducted separate simulations of rows and interrows. To consider the effects of plastic mulch on soil moisture and temperature dynamics, we adjusted meteorological input data of rainfall and air temperature for row simulations based on measurements of soil environmental conditions (see section below). During the period when rows were covered with black plastic mulch (June 11^{th} - August 31^{st}), 90% daily maximum air temperature instead of average air temperature and only half of the daily precipitation data were used. The latter estimate is based on measurements at a nearby comparable field resulting in about 50% surface runoff formation from rainfall, mainly caused by plastic mulch cover (Arnhold et al. 2013). At times without plastic mulch and for total interrow simulations, actual measured weather data was used. LandscapeDNDC was initalized for a soil depth of 60 cm (Table 3.1) divided into 30 sub-layers of 2 cm dimension. All simulations used a model spin-up of 2 years carried out with the management applied in the 50 kg N treatment. Guided by information available from RDA (2002), we set main parameters for radish growth of MaxTDD (sum of daily temperature necessary for complete crop development), TLimit (minimum tempertaure for plant growth) and OptimumYield (potential yield under optimum conditions) to values of 1800° C, 5° C, 2465 kg C ha⁻¹, respectively.

3.2.4 Field measurements used for model validation

The LandscapeDNDC model was tested against field measurements of soil water and temperature, N_2O emissions, NO_3^- concentration in soil water and biomass development of radish crops. All field measurements used for model testing were conducted in the framework of the TERRECO project (Berger et al. 2013b) in 2010. Thereby, N_2O fluxes were measured by the closed chamber technique in conjunction with a photo-acoustic infrared trace gas analyzer from May (before seeding) to October (after harvest) in rows and interrows of each N treatment plot in 3 replicates (Berger et al. 2013b). ECH₂O

loggers (EM50 Data logger, Decagon Devices, WA, USA) were installed in each N fertilizer treatment row in order to measure soil temperature and water content at 15 and 30 cm depth every 30 minutes in 2 replicates. Suction lysimeters connected with a soil hydrological monitoring network of standard tensiometers were installed at soil depths of 15 cm in rows and at 30 cm in interrows in each of the 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N treatment plots for quantification of soil water NO₃ concentrations in weekly sample intervals (Kettering et al. 2013). Data on radish biomass (dry weight from 8 radish plants per plot) were available for different developmental stages, i.e. at 25, 50 and 75 days after seeding.

3.2.5 Model performance criteria

The model performance was evaluated by the normalized root mean square prediction error (RMSPE) and coefficient of determination (r^2) based on following equations:

$$RMSPE = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum (X_{mea} - X_{sim})^2}$$
(1)

$$r^{2} = \frac{\left(\sum (X_{mea} - \overline{X}_{mea})(X_{sim} - \overline{X}_{sim})\right)^{2}}{\left(\sum (X_{mea} - \overline{X}_{mea})^{2} \sum (X_{sim} - \overline{X}_{sim})^{2}\right)}$$
(2)

Where X_{mea} is the measured value and X_{sim} is the simulated value. \overline{X}_{mea} is the average value of field measurements and \overline{X}_{sim} is the average value of model simulations. The coefficient of determination value of 1 indicates that there is strong correlation between measured and the simulated values (Chirinda et al. 2011). Significant difference of measured and simulated values was tested by the Wilcoxon signedrank test (SPSS).

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Soil temperature and water content

LandscapeDNDC simulations of mean daily soil temperature and water content at 15 and 30 cm soil depth in rows of the 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments were compared with field measurements. No measurements were available for interrow conditions. Figure 3.2 shows the correlation of simulated and measured soil temperature in 15 and 30 cm soil depth, including data of all N fertilizer treatments for average air temperature (default setting) and adjusted model input of 90% maximum air

temperature. Using 90% of the maximum air temperature significantly reduced the absolute deviation of simulations from measured values and significantly increased the model's prediction capacity ($r^2 = 0.34 - 0.49$). Since temperature measurements were based only on one sensor per N treatment and soil depth, higher values of r^2 might be hampered by uncertainties associated with the measured values, particularly taking into account a complex system of rows covered with black plastic mulch. Nevertheless, descriptive statistics of simulated and measured soil temperature in 15cm and 30cm soil depth revealed only small differences with respect to the mean (15 cm 23.7 vs. 23.9°C; 30 cm 22.5 vs. 23.1°C), minium and maximum values for the period of plastic mulch coverage.



Figure 3.2 Comparison of measured and simulated temperature at a) 15 and b) 30 cm soil depth of rows including data of all N fertilizer treatments (Note: soil temperature across different treatments were not statistically different). Open circles represent simulated soil temperature with average air temperature (Tair) as input and closed squares represent simulated soil temperature with 90% of maximum air temperature of that recorded at the climate station on site as input. Lines (gray dashed: average air temperature; black solid: 90% maximum air temperature and 1:1 line) represent linear fit and prediction bands

In contrast to the soil temperature, measurements of soil water content at 15 and 30 cm soil depth differed across the N fertilizer treatments. The wide range of soil water content was observed at 30 cm depth, which ranged from 22.0 to 27.7 vol. %. The measured mean soil water content at 15 cm depth showed lower water content ranging from 17.9 to 19.3 vol. %. The comparison of time series of measured and simulated soil water content at 15 and 30 cm soil depth is presented in Figure 3.3, showing a high

dynamic with several drying and re-wetting events over the growing season well captured by model simulations. Due to the high sand content, even after strong rainfall events, simulated and measured soil moisture barely exceeded 30 vol %. This indicated a high percolation rate and, consequently, rather low soil moisture conditions during the growing season.



Figure 3.3 Measured (circle) and simulated soil water content (line) at a) 15 and b) 30 cm depth of rows with 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments

3.3.2 Radish biomass

LandscapeDNDC model differentiates between simulation of above- and belowground biomass. The aboveground biomass includes leaves and stems, and the belowground biomass in the case of radish, fine roots and coarse roots. Comparison between measured and simulated biomass, as well as plant nitrogen content (data not shown) at the day of harvest, revealed that simulated belowground biomass was underestimated for 50, 250 and 350 kg N treatments, but slightly overestimated for 150 kg N treatment. The model overestimated aboveground biomass for all N treatments. Simulated and measured total biomass ranged between 4.0 - 5.4 t DW ha⁻¹ and 4.4 - 5.6 t DW ha⁻¹, respectively (Table 3.3). Thereby, both measured and simulated radish biomass increased with higher rates of N fertilization. However, even though increasing fertilisation rates increased yields, nitrogen use efficiency was rather low and decreased from 43 to 32% when comparing the 50 and 350 kg N treatments.

Table 3.3 Measured and simulated radish biomass dry weight at the last harvest day (75 days after seeding). Note that N treatments have $187 \text{ kg N} \text{ ha}^{-1}$ mineral fertilizer and 228 kg N ha⁻¹ of organic fertilizer addition prior to planting (details see Table 3.2)

N fertilizer treatments	Abovegrou	nd $[t ha^{-1}]^a$	Belowgrou	and $[t ha^{-1}]^{b}$	Total [t ha ⁻¹] ^c		
$[\text{kg N ha}^{-1}]$	Measured	Simulated	Measured	Simulated	Measured	Simulated	
50	1.26	1.72	2.72	2.69	3.99	4.42	
150	1.55	1.92	2.97	3	4.52	4.92	
250	1.82	2.04	3.22	3.18	5.03	5.22	
350	2.01	2.17	3.39	3.39	5.4	5.56	

^aLeaves and stems, ^bRoots, ^cSum of above- and belowground biomass

Figure 3.4 shows the temporal development of measured and simulated radish biomass over the growing season. Model simulations agreed well with the measurements ($r^2 = 0.82 - 0.88$), even though radish biomass was overestimated in all N treatments at the first sampling date (25 days after seeding).



Figure 3.4 Comparison of measured (circle) and simulated (line) radish biomass dry weight from rows with 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments. Above- and belowground radish biomass were measured at 25, 50 and 75 days after seeding. Bars represent standard errors of measurements

3.3.3 N₂O emissions

Simulated as well as measured N₂O emissions of all fertilizer treatments started to increase 3 days after fertilization in the rows and interrows and decrease to lower levels 2-3 months after fertilization (Figure 3.5). Both measured and simulated N₂O emissions from rows slightly increased (approx. 10%) with increasing rates of N fertilization. Peak emissions approximately 17 days after fertilization (> 100 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹) were generally underestimated by model simulations for both row and interrow conditions. However, measurements during that period of time had very high uncertainties as indicated by the large error bars. Mean measured and simulated N₂O emissions in rows (considering only the period when

measurements were available) ranged from 27.9 - 65.8 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹ and from 51.8 - 63.1 μ g N m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively (Table 3.4). N₂O emissions of interrows were not statistically different and measured and simulated fluxes ranged from 26.6 - 78.0 μ g m⁻² h⁻¹ and 54.5 - 73.1 μ g m⁻² h⁻¹, respectively (Table 3.4). The LandscapeDNDC model overestimated mean N₂O emissions from interrows (3 out of 4 treatments) by about 100%, but was better for prediction of N₂O emissions from rows in 3 out of 4 treatments (< 40% overestimation). Taking into account the uncertainty of measurements and the low measuring frequency, the magnitude and temporal representation of N₂O emissions from rows and interrows overall was reasonably captured by model simulations with r² up to 0.45 and RMSPE ranging in the same order than mean measured values +/- standard deviation. For all data presented in Table 3.4 mean simulated values did not statistically differ from mean measured values.



Figure 3.5 Measured (circle) and simulated (line) N_2O emissions from a) rows and b) interrows with 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments. Arrows indicate time and date of N fertilizer application. Bars represent standard deviations of measurements

Table 3.5 shows annual N₂O emissions as calculated from daily simulations of LandscapeDNDC for row and interrow conditions of all fertilizer treatments. Direct N₂O emissions in rows and interrows increased with increasing rates of N fertilization from around 2 to 3 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. Direct N₂O emission factors for rows and interrows were 0.0042 and 0.0055, respectively, with a tendency of higher values for the interrow conditions. Rows and interrows' emission factors were within the uncertainty range of IPCC EF for direct N₂O emission (0.0025 - 0.0225), but about 3 times lower than the default factor of 0.01 (IPCC 2006). Calculations of indirect N₂O emissions from simulated NO₃⁻ leaching (see section below) multiplied by the respective IPCC EF of 0.0075 (IPCC 2006) resulted in the same range as direct N₂O emissions, demonstrating their importance in particular for the given soil, climate and management conditions. Area weighted (equal coverage of rows and interrows) total field N₂O emissions increased with increasing fertilizer applications from 4.90 to 5.37 kg N₂O-N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹.

3.3.4 Nitrate leaching

Simulations of LandscapeDNDC of NO₃⁻ leaching were indirectly evaluated by comparing model results with measured NO_3^- concentration in soil water, since direct field measurements of NO_3 leaching were not available. Figure 3.6 shows simulated time series of NO₃ concentrations in top soil of rows (15 cm) and interrows (30 cm) compared to measured values. In general simulated and measured soil NO_3^{-1} concentrations increased after fertilization reaching a maximum of > 200 mg NO₃-N 1^{-1} approximately one month later, while decreasing to values of around 10 mg NO₃-N l⁻¹ in another months time. For row conditions, simulated peak concentrations were higher than measurements, but a thorough comparison was hampered since field data unfortunately did not cover the slightly earlier timing of simulated peak concentrations. Furthermore, model simulations showed a tendency to overestimate the tailing of decreasing soil NO_3^- concentration in the lower fertilizer treatments (50 and 150 kg N). Model evaluation criteria presented in Table 3.4 demonstrate the overall capability of LandscapeDNDC to capture the temporal dynamics of soil NO_3^- concentration with r^2 values ranging between 0.3 and 0.9 and RMSPE being mostly lower than mean measured values. In addition, the magnitude of simulated soil NO_3^{-1} concentration agreed reasonable well with field measurements, showing higher soil NO₃ concentration in the rows as compared to interrows and a tendency of increasing values with increasing rates of N fertilizer application (Figure 3.6 and Table 3.4). Overall, mean measured and simulated soil NO_3^- concentrations during the investigation period were high but not statistically different and ranged from 53.0 to 108.0 and 91.1 to 124.7 mg NO₃-N l^{-1} , respectively.



Figure 3.6 Measured (circle) and simulated (line) nitrate concentrations at a) 15 cm depth of rows and b) 30 cm depth of interrows with 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments. Arrows indicate time and date of N fertilizer application. Bars represent standard errors of measurements

Table 3.4 Evaluation criteria of LandscapeDNDC simulations of N_2O emissions and soil nitrate concentrations of Korean radish cultivation considering different rates of N fertilization (50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N ha⁻¹). Note that N treatments have 187 kg N ha⁻¹ mineral fertilizer and 228 kg N ha⁻¹ of organic fertilizer addition prior to planting (details see Table 3.2). Note, Wilcoxon signed-rank test revealed no statistical difference between measured and simulated N₂O emissions and nitrate leaching of any treatment

Treatments / N ₂ O / Nitrate	Mean		Model performance		
[kg N h ⁻¹]	Measured	Simulated	RMSPE ^a	r^2	
N_2O emissions from rows [µg N m ⁻² h ⁻¹]					
50	27.9 ± 43.7	51.8±27.2	44.57	0.27	
150	38.9±61.4	53.7±29.0	49.45	0.45*	
250	58.8 ± 106.8	61.3±36.3	87.28	0.44*	
350	65.8±114.0	63.1±38.5	97.16	0.33	
N_2O emissions from interrows [µg N m ⁻² h ⁻¹]					
50	78.0±127.2	56.5 ± 27.9	124.5	0.07	
150	26.6 ± 49.5	55.4±23.2	55.22	0.11	
250	27.1 ± 45.0	54.5 ± 22.4	50.08	0.15	
350	29.9 ± 44.9	73.1±39.0	63.31	0.16	
Nitrate concentrations from rows [mg NO ₃ -N l	·1]				
50	79.8 ± 75.3	$140.4{\pm}134.6$	134.5	0.21	
150	92.5±97.9	172.1±104.5	99.10	0.69*	
250	143.2 ± 86.9	$132.4{\pm}107.8$	95.52	0.29	
350	141.6±79.1	95.47±88.2	122.9	0.01	
Nitrate concentrations from interrows [mg NO ₃	$(-N l^{-1}]$				
50	53.0±59.0	91.1±43.2	44.54	0.89***	
150	56.8 ± 63.8	96.9±39.1	50.05	0.89***	
250	104.8 ± 56.5	118.3±53.6	43.36	0.52*	
350	108.0 ± 66.6	124.7 ± 56.2	64.12	0.25	

^aRoot mean square prediction error

 $p^* < 0.05, p^* < 0.01, p^* < 0.001$

Table 3.5 summarizes annual values of NO_3^- leaching below the rooting zone of radish plants (60 cm soil depth) as calculated from daily simulations of LandscapeDNDC for row and interrow conditions of all fertilizer treatments. Overall, simulation results reveal very high rates of NO_3^- leaching of up to 290 kg NO_3 -N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in rows and significantly higher rates of > 400 kg NO_3 -N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in interrows without plant uptake and higher percolation rates. Annual NO_3^- leaching rates increased with increasing rates of N fertilization in rows; however, this trend was less obvious for interrow conditions (Table 3.5). The field scale area weighted (equal coverage of rows and interrows) annual NO_3^- leaching rates was about 350 kg

 NO_3 -N ha⁻¹ for all fertilizer treatments. Figure 3.7 shows cumulative rates of NO_3^- leaching and percolation for the simulation period of 2010 for row and interrow conditions based on the 150 kg N fertilizer treatment (data from other treatments show same temporal trends). In the interrow - without plastic mulch coverage and plants - percolation and NO_3^- leaching rates started to increase one month after the fertilization, and were highly elevated for a period of about 2 months. In contrast, percolation and NO_3^- leaching rates in the row were much smaller and increased mainly 2 weeks before removal of the plastic mulch, i.e., about 2 months after the fertilization.

Table 3.5 Simulated annual N₂O emissions and nitrate leaching from 50, 150, 250 and 350 kg N fertilizer treatments. Note that all of the treatments have received additional basal fertilization of 187 kg N ha⁻¹ mineral and 228 kg N ha⁻¹ organic N fertilizer. Interrow -N and Field -N represent results of a scenario without fertilizing interrow. Field values were calculated as area weighted mean of row (50%)

Treatments	Direct N ₂ O	Indirect N_2O^a	Total N_2O^b	Nitrate leaching	EF direct
Treatments	$[kg N yr^{-1}]$	$[kg N yr^{-1}]$	$[kg N yr^{-1}]$	$[kg N yr^{-1}]$	N_2O^c
50 kg N ha^{-1}					
Row	2.06	1.98	4.04	264.3	0.0044
Interrow	2.37	3.39	5.76	452.3	0.0050
Interrow -N	0.78	0.15	0.93	20.4	
Field	2.22	2.68	4.90	358.3	
Field -N	1.42	1.07	2.49	142.4	
150 kg N ha^{-1}					
Row	2.16	2.07	4.23	275.8	0.0042
Interrow	2.44	3.20	5.64	426.5	0.0047
Interrow -N	0.82	0.13	0.95	17.9	
Field	2.30	2.64	4.94	351.2	
Field -N	1.49	1.10	2.59	146.9	
250 kg N ha ⁻¹					
Row	2.34	2.13	4.47	283.4	0.0041
Interrow	2.46	3.15	5.61	420.0	0.0043
Interrow -N	0.83	0.14	0.97	18.2	
Field	2.40	2.64	5.04	351.7	
Field -N	1.59	1.14	2.73	150.8	
350 kg N ha ⁻¹					
Row	2.38	2.18	4.55	290.0	0.0042
Interrow	3.16	3.03	6.18	403.4	0.0055

Interrow -N	0.91	0.13	1.04	17.4
Field	2.77	2.61	5.37	346.7
Field -N	1.65	1.16	2.81	153.7

Chapter 3 - Simulation of N₂O emission and nitrate leaching from plastic mulch

^a N_2O emissions from nitrate leaching. Indirect N_2O emissions were calculated with the IPCC's default value, EF₅ (0.0075) (IPCC 2006)

^bSum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions

^c Emission factor calculated according to IPCC (2006): N₂O emission / total N fertilization



Figure 3.7 Simulated cumulative rates of nitrate leaching (solid) and percolation (dashed) in rows (gray) and interrows (black) exemplarily for the 150 kg N treatment

3.4 Discussion

Radish is one of the most important dry field crops in Korea receiving high loads of N fertilization (Cho et al. 1996; Lee et al. 2009). According to an extensive survey by the local government (Gangwon Province 2006, unpublished data) and results of a survey conducted by the TERRECO project, farmers in our study region apply on average about 588 kg N ha⁻¹ up to 1000 kg N ha⁻¹ to radish fields (Shope 2012, personal communication).

In this study, the LandscapeDNDC model was successfully tested against periodic field measurements and finally used for simulation of environmental impacts of Korean radish cultivation (i.e., N_2O emission and NO_3^- leaching) considering different rates of N fertilizer application. Model performance criteria were higher for nitrate leaching than for N_2O emissions (Table 3.4). To our knowledge, biogeochemical models such as LandscapeDNDC have so far not considered impacts of plastic mulch on soil environmental conditions. In a first step here, we adapted model input in order to improve simulations of soil moisture and soil temperature, the main drivers of biogeochemical soil processes. In recent years plastic mulch is of increasing importance, in particular in Asian countries like China and Korea (Jeon et al. 2011: Li et al. 2004b; Zhao et al. 2012). Several studies have reported that N_2O emissions are elevated (Nishimura et al. 2012) since mulching leads to less soil aeration, which can stimulate N₂O emissions via denitrification. However, in our study N_2O emissions from rows and interrows did not differ substantially. This is mainly due to the high sand content (> 80%) of the soil which still allowed decent aeration of the row through the plant hole in the plastic mulch. Furthermore, the LandscapeDNDC simulationssupport the contention that N_2O was mainly produced via the process of nitrification rather than denitrification due to comparable low values of anaerobic volume fraction in the top soil (10 - 60%, yearly average < 20%; data not shown), which is in agreement with Berger et al. (2013b). The main pathway of nitrogen losses was NO_3^{-1} leaching, which can lead to indirect N_2O emissions away from the field of fertilizer application. Using the annual rates of NO_3^- leaching and the specific IPCC EF of 0.0075, our modeling study demonstrates the potentially high importance of indirect N₂O emissions from Korean radish cultivation on sandy soils in the same range as direct N_2O emissions of about 2 - 3 kg N_2O -N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹. However, it is also obvious that IPCC EFs represent global average values rather than being explicitly useful for specific agricultural cultivation systems, since the EF for direct N_2O emissions (0.0041 - 0.0055) in our study is much lower than the default value of 0.01 (IPCC 2006). It is, however, in the same range (0.0039) as reported by Xiong et al. (2006) from a radish cultivation under well aerated soil conditions. This finding makes clear that process-based biogeochemical models have a high potential to further improve (e.g. TIER 3) (IPCC 2006; Smith et al. 2010; Vries et al. 2005) estimates of N_2O emissions from agricultural productions systems, since they are able to take into account field/ regional specific climate, soil and management conditions which are finally driving biogeochemical processes responsible for soil greenhouse gas emissions. Our findings support also the recent finding of Zhou et al. (2013) that NO₃⁻ leaching losses can be a key factor for regulating N₂O emissions in many agricultural areas where significant amounts of NO₃⁻ leaching occur. LandscapeDNDC was successfully tested against field data for soil environmental conditions (temperature and moisture) and NO₃⁻ concentration as well as N₂O emissions for cropping of radish under plastic mulch conditions. Due to the combination of high fertilization rates (465 - 765 kg N ha⁻¹), monsoon climate with high rainfall rates in the growing season and sandy soils (> 80% sand), the investigated sites are very vulnerable to NO_3^- leaching, which is documented by simulated annual $NO_3^$ leaching rates of 350 kg N ha⁻¹ (Table 3.5) with low variation across fertilization treatments. Soil physicochemical properties of the site, in particular low SOC stocks resulted in low microbial biomass and activity. Regarding the high fertilization rates, not all fertilizer (ammonium-sulfate) added NH_4^+ could be transferred into NO_3^- via nitrification. For that reason, LandscapeDNDC, predicted increasing NH_4

accumulation in the soil profile with increasing fertilization rates (approx. 0, 50, 100, 150 kg N ha⁻¹), rather than varying NO_3^- leaching rates. This finding is supported by results of a survey conducted on upland fields before the cultivation season in 2011 showing soil NH_4^+ stocks of > 100 kg N. Simulated NO_3^- leaching rates > 300 kg N ha⁻¹ are much higher than values reported by Cameron et al. (2013b) in a recent literature review on nitrogen losses from arable systems with maximum NO₃⁻ leaching rates of 155 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, and NO₃⁻¹ leaching rates reported from other vegetable cropping studies (Islam et al. 1994; McCraw and Motes 1991; Romic et al. 2003; Zhang et al. 2012). A field study of Perego et al. (2012) on maize cultivation in the Po Valley (Italy) and Sun et al. (2012) of greenhouse cultivation of cucumber in China with more comparable soil conditions to our study show similar values of NO_3^- leaching with up to $> 300 \text{ kg N} \text{ ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1}$. Common of all studies is a significant increase in the fraction of NO₃⁻¹ leaching vs. N fertilization with a range of 0.1 up to 0.8, with our study resulting in 0.6 on average. Our simulation results revealed substantial higher (up to 70%) NO_3^{-1} leaching rates in the interrows without plant uptake (> 200kg N ha⁻¹) and lower infiltration and percolation rates compared to the mulched row situation. Our modeling study also shows that highest NO_3^{-1} leaching rates occurred after the onset of the monsoon with high rainfall events, particularly in the interrow with no plant nitrogen uptake. This finding makes clear that reducing nitrogen loss from radish cultivation under the climate and soil conditions in the Haean catchment (South Korea) must consider changes in fertilizer management. Instead of the current farmer's practice of one high application before planting, demand tailored split applications and reduced fertilization rates as already suggested by governmental recommendations (RDA 2006), or even no fertilization of the interrow, could substantially minimize NO_3^- leaching to the environment. Indeed, simulations with LandscapeDNDC assuming only fertilization of rows would reduce field scale NO₃ leaching by 60%, and also reduce N_2O emissions by 50% (Table 3.5, Field -N vs Field).

3.5 Conclusions

LandscapeDNDC was successfully tested against field data for simulation of water content, soil temperature, crop yield, plant N uptake, NO_3^- leaching and N₂O emissions of Korean radish cultivation under plastic mulch application. Overall, model simulations revealed that with monsoon climate, sandy soils and high rates of N fertilization (465 -765 kg N ha⁻¹) NO_3^- leaching was the dominant nitrogen fate with annual leaching rates up to 350 kg N ha⁻¹. Annual field N₂O emissions (sum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions from row and interrow locations) were about 5 kg N ha⁻¹. Direct N₂O emissions would be 2-fold overestimated by use of standard IPCC EF of 1%. Since radish roots mainly grow vertically, fertilization only of rows could be an efficient mitigation strategy for significantly decreasing nitrogen

losses without harming yields. Since about 50% of field N₂O emissions originate from indirect emissions, mitigating nitrate leaching will also have beneficial impacts on N₂O emissions. A further mitigation option for minimizing nitrogen losses to the environment could be reduction of soil nitrogen accumulation by cultivation of winter crops used as green manure, such as rapeseed. However, more detailed scenario analyses are necessary for improvement of farmers` practices in the study region with the aim of optimizing yields and minimizing nitrogen loads to the environment. Finally, it is still a challenge to implement the effects of plastic mulch on a more physical basis into the source code of biogeochemical models. This would also require considering nutrient and water fluxes across rows and interrows which can only be tackled by at least 2-d description of the complex field topography and linking of spatially distributed hydrological and biogeochemical models.

3.6 Acknowledgements

This research was carried out as a part of International Research Training Group TERRECO (GRK 1565/1) project supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) in Germany and the Korea Science and Engineering Foundation (KOSEF) in Republic of Korea. Furthermore, funding was provided via FACCE MACSUR - Modelling European Agriculture with Climate Change for Food Security, a FACCE JPI knowledge hub. The authors also thank David Kraus, Alexander Froehlich and Steffen Klatt for giving technical support for LandscapeDNDC simulations. Invaluable help was provided by Bora Lee and Steve Lindner along with the TERRECO team who carried out field site installation and biomass harvests.

3.7 References

- Akoumianakis KA, Karapanos IC, Giakoumaki M, Alexopoulos AA, Passam HC (2011) Nitrogen, season and cultivar affect radish growth, yield, sponginess and hollowness. International Journal of Plant Production 5(2): 111-120
- Arnhold S, Ruidisch M, Bartsch S, Shope CL, Huwe B (2013) Simulation of runoff patterns and soil erosion on mountainous farmland with and without plastic covered ridge-furrows cultivation in South Korea. Transactions of the ASABE 56(22):667-679 doi: 10.13031/2013.42671
- Berger S, Kim Y, Kettering J, Gebauer G (2013) Plastic mulching in agriculture friend or foe of N₂O emissions? Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 167C:43-51 doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.01.010
- Cameron KC, Di HJ, Moir JL (2013) Nitrogen losses from the soil/plant system: a review. Annals of Applied Biology 162:145-173 doi: 10.1111/aab.12014
- Chakraborty D, Garg RN, Tomar RK, Singh R, Sharma SK, Singh RK, Trivedi SM, Mittal RB, Sharma PK, Kamble KH (2010) Synthetic and organic mulching and nitrogen effect on winter wheat

(Triticum aestivum L.) in a semi-arid environment. Agricultural Water Management 97:738-748 doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2010.01.006

- Chirinda N, Kracher D, Lægdsmand M, Porter J, Olesen J, Petersen B, Doltra J, Kiese R, Butterbach-Bahl K (2011) Simulating soil N2O emissions and heterotrophic CO2 respiration in arable systems using FASSET and MoBiLE-DNDC. Plant and Soil 343:139-160 doi: 10.1007/s11104-010-0596-7
- Cho JY (2003) Seasonal runoff estimation of N and P in a paddy field of central Korea. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 65:43-52 doi: 10.1023/a:1021819014494
- Cho S, Han K, Cho J (1996) Nitrate Reductase Activity by Change of Nitrate Form Nitrogen Content on Growth Stage of Radish. Korean Journal of Environmental Agriculture 15(3):383-390 (in Korean)
- Deng J, Zhu B, Zhou Z, Zheng X, Li C, Wang T, Tang J (2011) Modeling nitrogen loadings from agricultural soils in southwest China with modified DNDC. J. Geophys. Res. 116:G02020 doi: 10.1029/2010jg001609
- Fisher PD (1995) An alternative plastic mulching system for improved water management in dryland maize production. Agricultural Water Management 27:155-166 doi: 10.1016/0378-3774(95)01134-5
- Giltrap DL, Li C, Saggar S (2010) DNDC: A process-based model of greenhouse gas fluxes from agricultural soils. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 136:292-300 doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.06.014
- Haas E, Klatt S, Fröhlich A, Kraft P, Werner C, Kiese R, Grote R, Breuer L, Butterbach-Bahl K (2013) LandscapeDNDC: a process model for simulation of biosphere–atmosphere–hydrosphere exchange processes at site and regional scale. Landscape Ecology 28:615-636 doi: 10.1007/s10980-012-9772-x
- Haraguchi T, Marui A, Mori K, Nakano Y (2003) Movement of water collected by vegetables in plasticmulching field. Journal of the Faculty of Agriculture - Kyushu University 48(1-2):237-245
- Haraguchi T, Marui A, Yuge K, Nakano Y, Mori K (2004) Effect of plastic-film mulching on leaching of nitrate nitrogen in an upland field converted from paddy. Paddy and Water Environment 2:67-72 doi: 10.1007/s10333-004-0042-7
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2006) IPCC Guidlines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Hayama
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change) (2007) Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Islam T, Hasegawa I, Ganno K, Kihou N, Momonoki T (1994) Vinyl-film mulch: a practice for sweet potato (Ipomoea Batatas Lam. var. Edulis Makino) cultivation to reduce nitrate leaching. Agricultural Water Management 26:1-11 doi: 10.1016/0378-3774(94)90020-5
- IUSS Working Group WRB (2007) World Reference Base for Soil Resources 2006, 1st update 2007. World Soil Resources Reports No. 103. FAO, Rome
- Jeon WT, Choi BS, El-Azeem SAMA, Ok YS (2011) Effects of green manure crops and mulching technology on reduction in herbicide and fertilizer use during rice cultivation in Korea. African Journal of Biotechnology 10(1):1-8 doi: 10.5897/AJB10.1657
- Kasirajan S, Ngouajio M (2012) Polyethylene and biodegradable mulches for agricultural applications: a review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development 32:501-529 doi: 10.1007/s13593-011-0068-3

- KEEI (Korea Energy Economics Institute) (2009) Greenhouse gas emission trends 2006. KEEI, Uiwang City (in Korean)
- Kesik M, Ambus P, Baritz R, Brüggemann N, Butterbach-Bahl K, Damm M, Duyzer J, Horváth L, Kiese R, Kitzler B, Leip A, Li C, Pihlatie M, Pilegaard K, Seufert G, Simpson D, Skiba U, Smiatek G, Vesala T, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S (2005) Inventories of N2O and NO emissions from European forest soils. Biogeosciences 2: 353-375
- Kettering J, Ruidisch M, Gaviria C, Ok Y, Kuzyakov Y (2013) Fate of fertilizer 15N in intensive ridge cultivation with plastic mulching under a monsoon climate. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 95:57-72 doi: 10.1007/s10705-012-9548-3
- Kiese R, Heinzeller C, Werner C, Wochele S, Grote R, Butterbach-Bahl K (2011) Quantification of nitrate leaching from German forest ecosystems by use of a process oriented biogeochemical model. Environmental Pollution 159:3204-3214 doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2011.05.004
- Kwabiah AB (2004) Growth and yield of sweet corn (Zea mays L.) cultivars in response to planting date and plastic mulch in a short-season environment. Scientia Horticulturae 102:147-166 doi: 10.1016/j.scienta.2004.01.007
- Lamont WJ (2005) Plastics: Modifying the microclimate for the production of vegetable crops. HortTechnology 15:477-481
- Lee G, Lee J, Ryu J, Hwang S, Yang J, Joo J, Jung Y (2010) Status and soil management problems of highland agriculture of the main mountainous region in the South Korea. In: Gilkes RJ, Prakongkep N (eds) Proceedings of the 19th World Congress of Soil Science: Soil solutions for a changing world. Symposium 3.2.1 Highland agriculture and conservation of soil and water 2010, Brisbane, pp 154-157
- Lee G, Lee J, Zhang Y, Hwang S, Park C, Joo J (2009) Recommendations of NPK Fertilizers based on Soil Testing and Yield Response for Radish in Highland. Korean Journal of Soil Science and Fertilizer 42(3) 167-171 (in Korean)
- Li C (2007) Quantifying greenhouse gas emissions from soils: Scientific basis and modeling approach. In: Soil Science & Plant Nutrition, pp 344-352
- Li C, Farahbakhshazad N, Jaynes DB, Dinnes DL, Salas W, McLaughlin D (2006) Modeling nitrate leaching with a biogeochemical model modified based on observations in a row-crop field in Iowa. Ecological Modelling 196:116-130 doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.02.007
- Li C, Zhuang Y, Cao M, Crill P, Dai Z, Frolking S, Moore B, III, Salas W, Song W, Wang X (2001) Comparing a process-based agro-ecosystem model to the IPCC methodology for developing a national inventory of N2O emissions from arable lands in China. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60:159-175 doi: 10.1023/a:1012642201910
- Li F-M, Wang J, Xu J-Z, Xu H-L (2004) Productivity and soil response to plastic film mulching durations for spring wheat on entisols in the semiarid Loess Plateau of China. Soil and Tillage Research 78:9-20 doi: 10.1016/j.still.2003.12.009
- Liakatas A, Clark JA, Monteith JL (1986) Measurements of the heat balance under plastic mulches. Part I. Radiation balance and soil heat flux. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 36:227-239 doi: 10.1016/0168-1923(86)90037-7
- Liu X, Ju X, Zhang F, Pan J, Christie P (2003) Nitrogen dynamics and budgets in a winter wheat-maize cropping system in the North China Plain. Field Crops Research 83:111-124 doi: 10.1016/s0378-4290(03)00068-6

- Nishimura S, Komada M, Takebe M, Yonemura S, Kato N (2012) Nitrous oxide evolved from soil covered with plastic mulch film in horticultural field. Biology and Fertility of Soils 48:787-795 doi: 10.1007/s00374-012-0672-7
- Park W, Jeong B, Song Y, Jeon H, Jeong K, Lee C (2006) Standard rates of fertilizer application for each crop Rural Development Administration:87-89
- Perego A, Basile A, Bonfante A, De Mascellis R, Terribile F, Brenna S, Acutis M (2012) Nitrate leaching under maize cropping systems in Po Valley (Italy). Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 147:57-65 doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2011.06.014
- RDA (Rural Development Administration) (2002) Cultivation techniques of radish. RDA, Suwon City (in Korean)
- RDA (Rural Development Administration) (2006) The standard rates of fertilizer for crops. RDA, Suwon City (in Korean)
- Romic D, Romic M, Borosic J, Poljak M (2003) Mulching decreases nitrate leaching in bell pepper (Capsicum annuum L.) cultivation. Agricultural Water Management 60:87-97 doi: 10.1016/s0378-3774(02)00168-3
- Sirtautas R, Samuolienė G, Brazaitytė A, Duchovskis P (2011) Temperature and photoperiod effects on photosynthetic indices of radish (Raphanus sativus L.). Zemdirbystė (Agriculture) 98:57-62
- Smith KA, Conen F (2004) Impacts of land management on fluxes of trace greenhouse gases. Soil Use and Management 20:255-263 doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2004.tb00366.x
- Smith WN, Desjardins RL, Grant BB, Li C, Lemke R, Rochette P, Corre MD, Pennock D (2002) Testing the DNDC model using N2O emissions at two experimental sites in Canada. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 82:365-374
- Smith WN, Grant BB, Desjardins RL, Worth D, Li C, Boles SH, Huffman EC (2010) A tool to link agricultural activity data with the DNDC model to estimate GHG emission factors in Canada. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 136:301-309 doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.12.008
- Stange F, Butterbach-Bahl K, Papen H, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S, Li C, Aber J (2000) A processoriented model of N2O and NO emissions from forest soils: 2. Sensitivity analysis and validation. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 105:4385-4398 doi: 10.1029/1999jd900948
- Sun Y, Hu K, Zhang K, Jiang L, Xu Y (2012) Simulation of nitrogen fate for greenhouse cucumber grown under different water and fertilizer management using the EU-Rotate_N model. Agricultural Water Management 112:21-32 doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2012.06.001
- Vries Wd et al. (2005) Use of measurements and models to improve the national IPCC based assessments of soil emissions of nitrous oxide. Environmental Sciences 2:217-233
- Wan Y, El-Swaify SA (1999) Runoff and soil erosion as affected by plastic mulch in a Hawaiian pineapple field. Soil and Tillage Research 52:29-35 doi: 10.1016/s0167-1987(99)00055-0
- Wang Y, Xie Z, Malhi SS, Vera CL, Zhang Y, Wang J (2009) Effects of rainfall harvesting and mulching technologies on water use efficiency and crop yield in the semi-arid Loess Plateau, China. Agricultural Water Management 96:374-382 doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2008.09.012
- Xiong Z, Xie Y, Xing G, Zhu Z, Butenhoff C (2006) Measurements of nitrous oxide emissions from vegetable production in China. Atmospheric Environment 40:2225-2234 doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2005.12.008
- Zhang H, Liu Q, Yu X, Lü G, Wu Y (2012) Effects of plastic mulch duration on nitrogen mineralization and leaching in peanut (Arachis hypogaea) cultivated land in the Yimeng Mountainous Area, China. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 158:164-171 doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2012.06.009

- Zhao H, Xiong Y-C, Li F-M, Wang R-Y, Qiang S-C, Yao T-F, Mo F (2012) Plastic film mulch for half growing-season maximized WUE and yield of potato via moisture-temperature improvement in a semi-arid agroecosystem. Agricultural Water Management 104:68-78 doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2011.11.016
- Zhou M, Zhu B, Butterbach-Bahl K, Zheng X, Wang T, Wang Y (2013) Nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching from a rain-fed wheat-maize rotation in the Sichuan Basin, China. Plant and Soil 362:149-159 doi: 10.1007/s11104-012-1269-5

Chapter 4

Estimation and mitigation of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from intensive crop cultivation in the Haean catchment, South Korea

Youngsun Kim^{1, 2}, Youngho Seo³, David Kraus¹, Steffen Klatt¹, Edwin Haas¹, John Tenhunen², Ralf Kiese^{1, *}

¹ Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, Institute for Meteorology and Climate Research (IMK-IFU), 82467 Garmisch-Partenkirchen, Germany

² Department of Plant Ecology, University of Bayreuth, 95447 Bayreuth, Germany

³ Gangwondo Agricultural Research and Extension Services, 200-150 Gangwon Province, Republic of Korea

Abstract

Considering intensive agricultural management practices and environmental conditions, the LandscapeDNDC was applied for simulation of yields, N₂O emission and nitrate leaching from major upland crops and temperate deciduous forest of the Haean catchment, South Korea. Considering mean fertilization rates of 314 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, simulated direct N₂O emissions from crop fields cultivated with potato, radish, soybean and cabbage were 1.9 and 2.1 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Nitrate leaching was identified as the dominant pathway of N loss in the Haean catchment with annual mean losses of 112.2 and 125.4 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, causing threats to water quality and leading to substantial indirect N₂O emissions of 0.84 and 0.94 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010 as estimates by applying the IPCC EF₅ of 0.0075. Even under moderate to high N-deposition simulated N₂O emissions from temperate deciduous forest were low (approx. 0.50 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and predicted nitrate leaching rates were even negligible (≤ 0.01 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). On catchment scale more than 50% of total N₂O emissions originated from fertilized upland fields, only covering 27% of the catchment area. The total nitrate leaching rate was 72.0 (2009) and 59.5 (2010) t N yr⁻¹, solely (99%) stemming from fertilizer applications at upland fields. Taking into account area coverage of simulated upland crops and other land uses these numbers agree well with nitrate loads calculated from discharge and concentration measurements at the catchment outlet. The change of current agricultural management practices showed a high potential of reducing N_2O emission and nitrate leaching while maintaining current crop yields. Reducing (28 - 34%) and splitting N fertilizer application into 3 times rather than 2 times was slightly more effective and lead to about 50%

and 70% reducing of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment, the latter potentially contributing to improved water quality in the Soyang River Dam, which is the major source of drinking water for metropolitan residents.

Keywords: LandscapeDNDC, N2O, Nitrate leaching, Water quality, Mitigation strategies

4.1 Introduction

Nitrous oxide (N₂O) is a dominant ozone depleting substance (Ravishankara et al. 2009) and one of the most important non-CO₂ greenhouse gases (GHGs) with a global warming potential 298 times higher (100-year time horizon) than that of carbon dioxide (CO₂) (IPCC 2001; Reay et al. 2012). In the global atmospheric budget agriculture soils are the strongest single source contributing approximately 58% to total N₂O emissions (IPCC 2007). In soils, N₂O originates from microbial processes of nitrification and denitrification and both processes strongly depend on soil environmental conditions and agricultural management (Butterbach-Bahl et al. 2013; Butterbach-Bahl et al. 2004; Li et al. 1992; Snyder et al. 2009).

In agriculture, nitrogen (N) fertilizer has been identified as the major source of soil N₂O emissions (Bouwman et al. 2002b; Mosier et al. 1998). Demanding about 60% of the global N fertilizer production, Asia is the largest consumer of N fertilizer (FAO 2012). Since intensive fertilizer use has been a common agricultural practice to ensure high crop yields, many countries in Asia have used N fertilizer very inefficiently (Agostini et al. 2010; Deng et al. 2011a; Min et al. 2012b). Inefficient use of N fertilizer results in low N use efficiency and enhanced N surplus in soils, which is higly susceptible to be lost as N₂O into the atmosphere and nitrate to the hydrosphere (Deng et al. 2011a; IPCC 2000; Mosier et al. 1998; Zhou et al. 2013). On a global scale, fertilizer induced N₂O emission and nitrate leaching are estimated approximately 0.8 and 19% of N fertilizer input, respectively (Bouwman et al. 2002b; FAO and IFA 2001). With regard to the world average fertilizer application of 132 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2005/2007 (Alexandratos and Bruinsma 2012), South Korea utilizes about 2.5 times more fertilizer (MAFRA 2013) and is therefore classified as the country of the highest fertilizer application per hectare among OECD countries (MAFRA 2008).

The Gangwon Province accounts for approximately 63% of the total uplands (> 400 m a.s.l) in South Korea (ME 2004) and is characterized by intensive N fertilization under plastic mulch and excessive soil dressing. About 94% of these cultivated upland soils are located in the Han River Watershed, which is the main source of drinking water for 24 million metropolitan residents. According to the local survey by Gangwon Province (Gangwon-do 2006), about 60% of local farmers are applying 1.3 - 3 times more than the recommended fertilization rate, exposing high potential risks for drinking water quality (Lee et al. 2007; Shin et al. 2005b) due to significant amounts of nutrients loading to downstream during rainfall events. Previous studies showed that about 70% of the watershed NO₃-N loading could be attributed to the monsoon season with fertilized fields identified as major sources, accounting for approximately 67% of the annual watershed N loading (Deng et al. 2011a; Shin et al. 2005a).

Process-based models have been used to predict the impact of various agricultural management practices on GHG emissions and nitrate leaching by analyzing the interactions between management practices, site characteristics (e.g. climate and soil properties) and biogeochemical processes involved in ecosystem C and N cycling (Smith et al. 2010). These process-based models such as the LandscapeDNDC have been widely validated against field observations of crop growth, trace gas emissions and nitrate leaching at site scale while considering various agricultural management practices (Chirinda et al. 2011; Giltrap et al. 2008; Haas et al. 2013; Kim et al. 2014; Li et al. 2006) and have been used to estimate the regional and national inventories of crop production and GHG emissions (Cardenas et al. 2013; Haas et al. 2013; Li et al. 2001; Smith et al. 2010).

In this study, the process-based biogeochemical LandscapeDNDC model (Haas et al. 2013) was tested against field observations of N_2O emission, soil temperature and water content as well as biomass production. In the next step, the validated model was applied in a coupled model-GIS approach to estimate N_2O emission, nitrate leaching and crop yields of the Haean catchment in South Korea. Thereby, the main objectives were (1) to estimate the impacts of the intensive agricultural management on crop yields, GHG emissions and nitrate leaching, (2) to compare simulated site specific direct N_2O emission factor and (3) to test the potential of mitigation strategies to reduce N loads to the environment while ensuring the current crop yield.

4.2 Materials and methods

4.2.1 Site description

The Haean catchment (38° 19' 34" N, 128°10' 25" E, 400 - 1100 m a.s.l), located in Gangwon Province, South Korea, has a total area of 61.5 km². Main land use is forest (59%) and upland (35%) including 8% rice paddy fields (Yanggu-gun 2012). Upland in the Haean catchment is intensively managed with a high share of potato, radish, soybean and cabbage cultivation.

The climate of Haean catchment falls under the East Asian monsoon with 13-year (1999 - 2011) annual average air temperature of 8.7 °C and annual precipitation of 1617 mm with about 60% concentrated in the monsoon season (mid June - end July) (Figure 4.1). The average air temperature and the annual precipitation collected from automatic weather stations at different locations in the study region were 8.2 and 7.9 °C and 1527 and 1522 mm in 2009 and 2010, respectively. The Haean catchment is one of the upstream catchments of the Soyang River Dam, which is the major source of drinking water for metropolitan residents (NIER 2012). Due to its intensive agriculture the Haean catchment contributes via

the Mandae stream to the drinking water quality by high N fertilization rates in conjunction with heavy rainfall during the monsoon season. According to recent monitoring results, Total Nitrogen (TN) and Total Phosphorus (TP) concentration ranged between 3.3 - 5.3 and 0.16 - 0.96 mg l⁻¹ during monsoon season in 2012, respectively (HRERC 2012). These values are far beyond the threshold of water quality standard (≤ 1.5 mg l⁻¹ TN and ≤ 0.15 mg l⁻¹ TP) for inland water in South Korea (ME 2000).



Figure 4.1 Daily average air temperature and precipitation (2009 and 2010) calculated from 12 available automatic weather stations in the Haean catchment. Gray bars represent the monsoon season

4.2.2 LandscapeDNDC model

The LandscapeDNDC model (Haas et al. 2013) used in this study is a process-based biogeochemical model integrating the agriculture-DNDC (Giltrap et al. 2010; Li et al. 1992; Ludwig et al. 2011) and the forest-DNDC (Butterbach-Bahl et al. 2009; Kiese et al. 2011; Li et al. 2000) by using a generalized soil biogeochemistry. The model is capable to simulate plant growth (arable crops and trees), biogeochemical C and N cycling and associated biosphere-atmosphere exchange of C and N trace gases (N₂O, CO₂ and CH₄) as well as nitrate leaching on daily/ subdaily time steps. The model is comprised of six major components such as air chemistry, microclimate, water cycle, soil biogeochemistry, physiology and vegetation structure. Considering various types of input data (climate, soil properties and management),

the LandscapeDNDC can be run on site mode and coupled to a GIS data source also at regional and national scales (for details see Haas et al. 2013).

4.2.3 Site scale initialization and validation dataset

In a recent study of Kim et al (2014), the LandscapeDNDC model was adapted to allow simulating arable systems with plastic mulch cultivation, a main management feature in the Haean catchment with a focus on radish cultivation. Thus, simulations were preformed for row (plastic mulch) and interrow (no-mulch) conditions according to Kim et al. (2014). For purpose of further validation the LandscapeDNDC in this study was also tested against new field measurements from cabbage and potato fields operated by the Gangwondo Agricultural Research and Extension Services (Seo et al. 2013) and data from soybean cultivation (Berger et al. 2013b). Information on site properties and field management was taken from the references as well as from interviews with local farmers (Table 4.1).

Table 4.1 Soil properties and agricultural management practices of three typical crops cultivated in the Haean catchment used for site scale validation. Note that validation data of N_2O emissions and yields originated from different fields

	Cab	bage	Potato		Soy	bean
	Biomass	N_2O	Biomass	N_2O	Biomass	N_2O
Soil properties ^a						
Bulk density [g cm ⁻³]	1.13	1.40	1.37	1.40	1.37	1.33
SOC [%] ^c	0.75	0.21	0.22	0.21	0.27	0.57
pН	5.17	6.0	6.15	6.0	5.73	5.39
Sand [%]	37.2	54	78.3	54	78.2	36
Silt [%]	48.2	18	18.3	18	18.1	50.8
Clay [%]	14.6	28	3.4	28	3.7	13.2
Stone fraction [%]	1.9		2.9		2.9	0.92
Crop management						
Seeding date [dd/mm]	28/05	29/04 26/08	27/04	29/04	27/05	15/05
Tillage date [dd/mm]	14/05 28/05	28/04 25/08	21/04	28/04	26/05	15/05
Tillage depth [m]	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2	0.2
Decel fartilization						

Basal fertilization

Date [dd/mm]	27/05	28/04 25/08	21/04	28/04	26/05	
Туре	$(NH_4)_2SO_4$	Urea	$(NH_4)_2SO_4$	Urea	$(NH_4)_2SO_4$	
Rate [kg N ha ⁻¹]	145	110	300	190	24	
Additional fertilization						
Date [dd/mm]	28/05	19/05			11/06	
Туре	Poultry manure	15/09 Urea			(NH ₄) ₂ SO ₄	
Rate [kg N ha ⁻¹]	119	210			24	
Harvest date [dd/mm]	22/10	30/06 16/11	10/08	10/07	31/10	26/10

^a cabbage and soybean (0 - 10 cm); potato (0 - 30 cm)

Due to the importance of forests in the Haean catchment, in addition to arable systems the LandscapeDNDC was also tested against field data (N_2O fluxes, soil temperature and water content) of three different forest sites (Berger et al. 2013a; Jung et al. 2014). Information on soil characteristics and dominant tree species of the forest sites located at high (950 m a.s.l), medium (650 m a.s.l) and low (450 m a.s.l) altitudes are presented in Table 4.2.

Tabl	e 4.2 Si	te charact	eristics o	f the	three	simu	lated	forest	sites
------	----------	------------	------------	-------	-------	------	-------	--------	-------

	Site A (950 m a.s.l)	Site B (650 m a.s.l)	Site C (450 m a.s.l)
Soil properties ^a			
Bulk density [g cm ⁻³]	0.87	0.78	0.88
SOC [%] ^c	1.69	4.65	10.91
pH	5.09	4.54	4.78
Sand [%]	75.7	60.4	45.2
Silt [%]	19.5	30.7	42.7
Clay [%]	4.8	8.9	12.2
Stone fraction [%]	4.7	3.5	0
Dominant tree species	Quercus Mongol.	Quercus Mongol.	Quercus Mongol.
Basal area [m ² ha ⁻¹]	20.8	10.8	3.9
DBH [m] ^b	0.06	0.07	0.10
Height [m]	4.92	9.40	9.58
Volume $[m^3 ha^{-1}]$	34.1	34.0	12.4

^a0 - 10 cm soil depth; ^bDiameter at Breast Height

4.2.4 Regional scale model input data

After site scale validation the LandscapeDNDC was used for upscaling of crop yields, N₂O emission and nitrate leaching for the Haean catchment area. For this purpose spatially distributed input data was collected and compiled in a GIS database.

Land use

Based on extensive field surveys conducted within the scheme of the TERRECO project (GRK 1565/1), polygon based land use maps were generated for the year 2009 and 2010 including different land uses such as forest, upland crops and paddy rice, orchard, seminatural and residential area (Figure 4.2) and decomposing the catchment into 1606 and 1411 polygons (agricultural and forest regions) in 2009 and 2010, respectively. The dominant land use is forest, which covers nearly 60% of the total area in the Haean catchment mainly at slopes, followed by upland crops (27.3%) including potato, radish, soybean and cabbage (Yanggu-gun 2012). Other crop fields (e.g. rice, ginseng, pepper, etc) were indicated as other land uses (10.2%) and were neglected in this study.



Figure 4.2 Different land uses of the Haean catchment in a) 2009 and b) 2010

Soil

The field-based soil survey was simultaneously conducted with the land use survey in 2010. The soil map is based on a digital elevation model with 30 m resolution, including 9 different types of soils classified by land use (e.g. forest, upland and rice paddy) and topography. Agricultural soils were subdivided into root-crop soils at low slope (ca. 3.6°) and non-root-crop soils at moderate slope (ca. 7.5°). Forest soils were subdivided into moderate and low slopes (ca. 12.0°) at 546 - 664 and < 546 m a.s.l, respectively with detailed soil characteristics such as soil texture, SOC, bulk density, pH, and other parameters. Rootcrop soils at low slope were applied to the simulation of potato and radish fields and non-root-crop soils at moderate slope were used for the simulation of cabbage and soybean fields. Detailed information on soil properties is described in Table 4.3.

 Table 4.3 Soil properties of agricultural and forest sites on different landscape positions in the Haean catchment

Landuse	Slope	Depth	BD ^a	nЦ	SOC^{b}	Sand	Silt	Clay	FC^{c}	WP^d
Land use	Slope	[cm]	$[g \text{ cm}^{-3}]$	pm	[%]	[%]	[%]	[%]	[vol %]	[vol %]
Agriculture	Low	0 - 30	1.39	5.8	0.5	82.4	15.1	2.5	0.41	0.04
		30 - 60	1.45	5.3	0.3	63	28.9	8.1	0.38	0.04
	Moderate	0 - 30	1.39	5.3	0.5	63.8	28.8	7.5	0.39	0.04
		30 - 60	1.55	5.1	0.7	35.6	55.3	9.1	0.36	0.03
Forest	Low and	0 - 30	0.92	4.3	6.4	43	34.7	22.3	0.54	0.12
	Moderate	30 - 60	1.12	4.4	1.0	50	30	20	0.48	0.10
		60 - 140	1.29	4.5	0.0	70	20	10	0.44	0.07

^a Bulk Density; ^b Soil Organic Carbon; ^c Field Capacity; ^d Wilting Point

Climate

Daily meteorological data (e.g. average, maximum and minimum air temperature, precipitation, radiation, relative humidity and wind speed) was provided from 12 automatic weather stations operated at different altitudes (450 - 1050 m a.s.l) in the Haean catchment in 2009 and 2010. Each polygon was assigned to the nearest weather station with respect to its altitude by ArcGIS (version 10.0) proximity tools.

Crop management

Information on agricultural management practices of upland crops in the Haean catchment such as dates of seeding/transplanting, tilling, fertilization and harvest was provided from the survey of about 300 local farmers conducted by the TERRECO project in 2010 (Shope et al. 2014). Data on N fertilizer types and rates was not available from the survey and was therefore derived from government statistics (RDA 2010; 2011) for the simulation area. Details and timelines of agricultural management for the major upland crops simulated in this study are provided in Figure 4.3, indicating the annual fertilization rates of 68, 272, 325 and 346 kg N ha⁻¹ for soybean, potato, radish and cabbage cultivation, respectively.



Figure 4.3 Scheme of agricultural management practices in 2009 and 2010. Note that all crops were cultivated by mulching with plastic film covering plant rows from seeding to harvest

Note:

2) Dotted lines marked with T indicate the timing of tillage.

3) Arrows represent the N fertilization date.

4) Values in brackets indicate the application rates of N fertilizer [kg N ha⁻¹].

The simulation consisted of 24 different rotations e.g. combining the major upland crops including fallow years. Distribution of the rotations on to the polygons considering different soil properties and climate conditions resulted in an overall number of 204 individual simulations for the regional inventory. Note that fallow fields have not been considered to be simulated. To get the model into the equilibrium after initialization, a 2 year spin-up period was pre-added using the same management information per polygon. Rows (plastic mulch) with the modified meteorological data and interrows (no-mulch) with the measured

¹⁾ Solid lines indicate seeding or harvest dates [dd/mm].
actual weather data were separately simulated and then the average values of row and interrow simulations were taken in order to estimate N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from major upland crop fields of the Haean catchment.

For the mitigation assessment, the split fertilization into 2 or 3 times, their timings and reduction rates by up to 75% were randomly sampled by a Latin Hypercube Sampling covering the discrete space of possible management options and simulated with the LandscapeDNDC model for the regional inventories (154 for Split2 and 899 for Split3). The sampled management options leading to the optimal reduction of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching could be derived for each polygon out of the 1053 regional simulations while ensuring the current crop yield.

4.2.5 Model performance measures

The coefficient of determination (r^2) , model efficiency (EF), relative mean deviation (RMD) and normalized root mean square prediction error (RMSPE_n) were used to evaluate the model performance (see Cui et al. 2014 and Kiese et al. 2011).

$$r^{2} = \frac{\left(\sum(x_{mea} - \bar{x}_{mea})(x_{sim} - \bar{x}_{sim})\right)^{2}}{\sum(x_{mea} - \bar{x}_{mea})^{2}\sum(x_{sim} - \bar{x}_{sim})^{2}}$$
(1)

$$EF = 1 - \frac{\sum (x_{sim} - x_{mea})^2}{\sum (x_{mea} - \bar{x}_{mea})^2}$$
(2)

$$RMD = \frac{1}{\bar{x}_{mea}} \sum \frac{(x_{sim} - x_{mea})}{n} \qquad (3)$$

$$RMSPE_{n} = \frac{\sqrt{\sum(x_{mea} - x_{sim})^{2}}}{SD}$$
(4)

Where x_{mea} is the measured value, x_{sim} is the simulated value, \bar{x}_{mea} is the average of field measured data and \bar{x}_{sim} is the average of simulated data. SD is the standard deviation of field measured data and n is the number of values.

4.3 Results and discussion

4.3.1 Site scale model validation

Soil temperature and water content

Observations of soil temperature and water content were only available for the soybean field and the three different forest sites. Figure 4.4 shows the comparison of model simulations exemplarily for the soybean and the forest site with low sloping conditions. Row (plastic mulch) and interrow (no-mulch) simulations of the soybean field followed the procedure of adjusting meteorological input data as described in Kim et al. (2014). Seasonal dynamics and magnitude of soil temperature was captured very well, indicated by high values r^2 (0.67 - 0.93) summarized for all sites in Table 4.4. Simulation of temporal dynamics of soil water content were of lower agreement but still reasonable represented by model performance measures of r^2 ranging between 0.19 - 0.78. Generally, LandscapeDNDC was able to simulate site differences in average soil water contents ranging from 9.0±4.9 - 31.5±5.2 vol % ($r^2 = 0.43$) (Table 4.4).



Figure 4.4 Comparison between measured (circle) and simulated (line) soil temperature and soil water content of a) a soybean and b) a forest site

Land use	Mean soil temp	perature [°C]	Model p	erforma	ince		Mean soil wate	Model pe				
	Measurement	Simulation	r ²	ME ^a	RMD ^b	RMSPE ^c	Measurement	Simulation	r^{2}	ME	RMD	RMSPE _n
Soybean-Row	22.0±2.6	22.2±2.3	0.67***	0.66	< 0	0.58	9.0±4.9	12.5±6.5	0.61***	< 0	< 0	1.08
Soybean-Interrow	21.5±2.4	19.9±2.6	0.76***	0.30	< 0	0.83	30.2±10.8	17.8±8.0	0.19***	< 0	< 0	1.49
Forest-Site A	15.2±3.6	14.1±3.7	0.86***	0.76	< 0	0.49	27.5±1.5	27.8±2.3	0.30***	< 0	0.01	1.27
Forest-Site B	15.8±3.9	13.9±4.0	0.80***	0.53	< 0	0.69	22.5±3.5	25.5±2.5	0.25***	< 0	0.09	1.05
Forest-Site C	16.7±4.0	16.2±3.8	0.93***	0.91	< 0	0.30	31.5±5.2	28.5±5.6	0.78***	0.42	< 0	0.76

Table 4.4 Evaluation of model j	performance for	simulation of soil	environmental conditions
---------------------------------	-----------------	--------------------	--------------------------

^a Model Efficiency; ^b Relative Mean Deviation; ^c normalized Root Mean Square Prediction Error; *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001

Upland crop yields

In LandscapeDNDC leaves and stems are included in the aboveground biomass, whereas fine and coarse roots, especially for root crops such as radish (see Kim et al. 2014) and potato, are included in belowground biomass. Simulated development of plant biomass were in good agreement with observations ($r^2 = 0.84 - 0.98$), even though the model slightly overestimated the aboveground biomass production at the early growing stage (Figure 4.5). Measured total biomass of cabbage, potato and soybean at the day of harvest were 0.97, 1.13 and 0.58 kg DW m⁻² (TERRECO, unpublished data) which agreed very well with simulation results of 0.96, 1.13 and 0.56 kg DW m⁻², respectively.



Figure 4.5 Measured (circle) and simulated (line) biomass development of a) cabbage, b) potato and c) soybean. Total biomass indicates the sum of above and belowground biomass

Our model validation compiles the evaluation of crop sequences, temporal crop growth and soil temperature and water content variables resulting in model performance measures which are comparable to other studies which focused on soil water dynamics and micrometeorology (Kröbel et al. 2010; Li et al. 2012; Perreault et al. 2013).

A recent study by Kim et al. (2014) showed the potential of LandscapeDNDC for simulating the impacts of plastic mulch on soil microclimate, N_2O emission and nitrate leaching in Korean radish fields. In this study, the LandscapeDNDC model was further tested against field data (i.e. soil temperature and water content, N_2O emission and crop biomass) of other typical crops cultivated in the Haean catchment such as cabbage, potato and soybean (Berger et al. 2013b; Seo et al. 2013) as well as data from the dominating deciduous forest soils (Berger et al. 2013a).

Soil N₂O emissions from upland crop and forest sites

Measured and simulated N_2O emissions varied depending on land uses and agricultural management practices. Mean simulated and measured N_2O emissions of arable and forest sites ranged between 2.9 -58.0 ug N m⁻² h⁻¹ (Table 4.5). Highest deviation of mean fluxes was observed for the soybean field (Table 4.5) but simulations were still in the range of measurement uncertainty which significantly increased with the magnitude of fluxes (Figure 4.6c). Overall temporal dynamics of N_2O emissions were much higher in the fertilized arable systems (cabbage and potato) with measured and simulated peak N_2O emissions mainly following the interplay of fertilization and rainfall events (Figure 4.6).



Figure 4.6 Comparison of measured (circle) and simulated (line) N_2O emissions from a) cabbage, b) potato, c) soybean and d) forest sites. Arrows indicate the dates of N fertilizer application. Bars represent standard errors of measurements

The LandscapeDNDC model did underestimate these peak emissions mainly at the first fertilization events in the cabbage and potato field. Still, simulations of daily N_2O emission patterns were of reasonable agreement (see values of model performance measures in Table 4.5, Figure 4.6), even though

climate input data representing field conditions were not available and needed to be taken from the closest weather station significantly differing in elevation. Bouwman et al. (2010) demonstrated that r^2 and ME values from model studies on daily time resolution are rarely reported for N₂O because model performance is often low. Bell et al. (2012) suggested that aggregating N₂O data from daily to longer time resolutions increases the representativeness of simulated N₂O emissions. This is also the case in our study with r^2 values for daily N₂O emissions from arable soils up to 0.21 for cabbage and 0.31 for potato. Correlating means of measured and simulated N₂O emissions (N₂O_{mea} = $0.84 * N_2O_{sim}$) revealed a much higher values of model performance measures i.e. $r^2 = 0.92$ and ME = 0.88, indicating the capability of LandscapeDNDC to represent site differences very well. This finding is supported by a recent study with LandscapeDNDC being successfully applied for simulation of N₂O emissions and nitrate leaching from radish cultivation in the Haean catchment (Kim et al. 2014). Overall, simulation performance of LandscapeDNDC is highly comparable to other modeling studies focusing on plant growth, soil water and temperature dynamics as well as N₂O emission of arable systems worldwide (e.g. CERES-EGC: Lehuger et al. 2010; DAYCENT; Smith et al. 2008; Abdalla et al., 2010; DNDC: Deng et al. 2013; ECOSSE: Bell et al., 2012; Khalil et al. 2013; FASSET: Chirinda et al. 2011; STICS: Jégo et al., 2010; RIWER Jing et al. 2010), which further evidences the robustness of LandscapeDNDC to simulate typical Korean (i.e. Southeast Asia) agricultural systems.

Dynamics and magnitude of measured and simulated N_2O emissions from the three forest sites were much lower as compared to the arable sites (Figure 4.6 and Table 4.5) with simulated N_2O emissions slightly underestimating measured values. These deviations were mainly due to sporadic uptake of atmospheric N_2O by forest soils, which cannot be simulated by the current version of LandscapeDNDC, yet. This limitation was one of the main reasons for the rather poor values of model performance for daily comparison of forest simulations (Table 4.5).

The capability for simulating of C and N turnover and associated losses such as N_2O and nitrate is further supported by more studies of successful LandscapeDNDC applications and earlier model versions for other arable and forest ecosystems worldwide (Cui et al. 2014; Haas et al. 2013; Kiese et al. 2011; Kim et al. 2014; Kraus et al. 2015; Werner et al. 2007), indicating that LandscapeDNDC is generally capable to be used also in the framework of up-scaling procedures from site to regional/ catchment scale.

Landusa	Mean N ₂ O emissio	on [ug N m ⁻² h ⁻¹]	Model Performance						
Land use	Measurement	Simulation	r ²	ME ^a	RMD^b	RMSPE ^c			
Cabbage	58.0±80.4	54.3±62.2	0.21***	0.11	< 0	0.94			
Potato	27.1±27.6	21.7±22.1	0.31***	0.21	< 0	0.89			
Soybean-Row	16.5±24.3	5.7±7.5	< 0.1	< 0	< 0	1.15			
Soybean-Interrow	34.7±46.1	14.9±11.5	< 0.1	< 0	< 0	1.16			
Forest-Site A	0.35 ± 3.59 $(2.89\pm 2,82)^{d}$	3.27±1.16 (3.53±1.34)	< 0.1 0.46	< 0 < 0	8.38 0.22	1.34 1.39			
Forest-Site B	-1.25±5.89 (4.30±2.34)	4.94±1.50 (6.07±1.43)	0.18* 0.1	< 0 < 0	< 0 0.41	1.40 1.29			
Forest-Site C	0.55±6.08 (5.87±5.31)	4.09±1.53 (4.75±1.57)	< 0.1 < 0.1	< 0 < 0	6.48 < 0	1.13 1.09			

Table 4.5 Evaluation of model performance for simulation of N_2O emissions from major upland crop fields and forest sites

^a Model Efficiency; ^b normalized Root Mean Square Prediction Error; ^c Relative Mean Deviation

^d Values in brackets indicate N₂O emissions, except for N₂O uptake by forest soils

p < 0.05, p < 0.01, p < 0.001

4.3.2 Regional scale model application (Haean catchment)

Upland crop yields

Regional biomass production agreed well with observation of cabbage, potato and soybean yields as reported from the TERRECO project (unpublished data) and national statistics (Yanggu-gun 2009; 2010). Due to favored climate conditions with higher temperatures the LandscapeDNDC predicted generally higher mean yields for the specific crops in 2009 as compared to 2010 (Table 4.6).

N₂O emission

Simulated direct N₂O emission in 2009 and 2010 ranged between 1.17 - 2.78 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ with mean values of 1.92 and 2.14 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively (Table 4.6). Figure 4.7a shows the regional distribution of simulated direct N₂O emissions from the Haean catchment exemplarily for 2010 with N₂O emissions mainly represented by orange to red colors (green colors represent forest sites). In 2009, the highest direct N₂O emission was predicted for radish fields with a mean value of 2.78 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹,

followed by potato and cabbage fields. This sequence was different in 2010 with highest mean emissions for radish fields (2.77 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) > cabbage > potato. Overall, lowest N₂O emissions were predicted for non-fertilized soybean fields with 1.17 and 1.29 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively (Table 4.6).



Figure 4.7 Spatial variability of simulated a) direct N_2O emissions and b) nitrate leaching rates from major upland crop fields and temperate deciduous forest of the Haean catchment in 2010

For calculation of N₂O emission factors (EF_d), model simulations were compared with N₂O emissions (data not shown) from 0-N fertilizer simulations. EF_d ranged between 0.54 - 1.09 and 0.59 - 1.22% in 2009 and 2010, respectively (Table 4.6), which is within the uncertainty range EF_d (0.3 - 3%) summarized by IPCC (IPCC 2006). N₂O EF_d of radish and soybean fields were slightly higher than the IPCC's default value of 1.0% (IPCC 2006), whereas EF_d of cabbage and potato fields showed much lower values. Indirect N₂O emissions were estimated by applying the IPCC EF₅ of 0.0075 (IPCC 2006) to simulated

nitrate leaching rates and ranged between 0.53 - 1.14 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ in the two years simulated with highest values found for cabbage and radish fields (Table 4.6). Due to high rates of nitrate leaching (see next section indirect N₂O emissions from crop production in the Haean catchment are more than significant and contribute about 30.3% to total (direct and indirect) N₂O emissions (Table 4.6). The highest total N₂O emission with values up to 4 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ was estimated for the radish cultivation.

Regression analysis of total catchment simulations revealed that N_2O emissions mainly correlated with rates of N fertilization and less with soil (sand content) and climate (precipitation) conditions (Table 4.7), which showed only minor spatial variation (Table 4.3). In relation to the high fertilization rates (catchment average: 314 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ neglecting soybean cultivation), direct N₂O emissions were low to moderate (1.17 - 2.78 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) which is also reflected by values of N₂O EF_d mostly lower than the IPCC default (Table 4.6). These results are comparable to N₂O emissions and N₂O EF_d reported for similar intensively managed agricultural systems in Southeast Asia (Min et al. 2012a; Zhou et al. 2013).

Simulations of N₂O emissions from temperate deciduous forest sites ranged between 0.35 - 0.65 kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Slightly higher N₂O emissions were estimated for the moderate slope as compared to the low slope soil conditions (Table 4.6). Due to very low rates of nitrate leaching (< 0.01 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), indirect N₂O emissions of the forest ecosystems were negligible. Even though intensive agriculture in the Haean catchment leads to elevated atmospheric N deposition (24 - 51 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹ reported by Berger et al. 2013a), simulated N₂O emissions of forest ecosystems in the Haean catchment are still low (< 1 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and did not correlate with the magnitude of atmospheric N deposition. Previous studies have revealed different results when correlating N deposition and N₂O emission from forest soils which were significant (Kesik et al. 2005) or not significant (Ambus and Robertson 2006; Pilegaard et al. 2006). In our young (50 - 60 years old) temperate deciduous forest stands this might be attributed to the significant plant N uptake (simulated yearly average: 68.2 kg N ha⁻¹, data not shown) to sustain the tree growth.

The estimation of the total N_2O emissions from the Haean catchment (sum of the total N_2O emissions from agricultural and forest regions) was lower in 2010 (2.93 t N yr⁻¹) than in 2009 (3.31 t N yr⁻¹) mainly due to a decrease of agricultural cropping area (-23%) and thus total amounts of N fertilization (-28%) (Figure 4.2). Even though the temperate deciduous forest covers approximately 59% of the total area of the Haean catchment, more than half of estimated total N_2O emission was derived from the fertilized upland fields (27% of the catchment area) through 2009 - 2010.

Nitrate leaching

Simulated nitrate leaching rates ranged between 48.9 - 166.2 (mean 112.2) and 52.8 - 226.6 (mean 125.4) kg N ha⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Figure 4.7b shows the regional distribution of simulated nitrate leaching from major upland crops exemplarily for the year 2010. In general, nitrate leaching rates positively correlated with N fertilization rates (Table 4.7), thus higher nitrate leaching rates were simulated for cabbage, radish and potato fields (> 100 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) compared to much lower rates (< 75 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) were much lower in fields cultivated with soybean (Table 4.6). As shown for N_2O emissions including other parameters such as sand content and precipitation did hardly improve the prediction capacity of more complex regression models (Table 4.7). Compared to arable simulations the LandscapeDNDC predicted insignificant (≤ 0.01 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) rates of nitrate leaching from the temperate deciduous forest sites. Overall, predicted total nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment (sum of nitrate leaching from agricultural and forest regions) was 72.0 and 59.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010, respectively, with approximately 99% of the total nitrate leaching originating from upland crop fields (Table 4.6, Figure 4.7b). Studies on nitrate leaching considering other crop types (e.g. corn, oilseed rape and winter wheat), soil and climate conditions (Engström et al. 2011; Gehl et al. 2006; Sieling and Kage 2006) identified the decomposition of crop residues after harvest as a significant source of nitrate leaching beside N fertilizers. In this study, the majority of the plant biomass was removed thus, nitrate leaching was mainly caused by excess N from the basal and additional fertilizer applications.

Simulated annual nitrate leaching rates from upland fields in the Haean catchment were 72.0 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 59.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2010 which is 51.4 and 58.9% of applied N fertilizer in 2009 and 2010, respectively. Thus, nitrate leaching was the main pathway of N losses in the intensively cultivated Haean catchment, which is in agreement with results of previous studies, showing also high vulnerability of nitrate leaching under sandy soils and intensive N fertilization regimes (Fan et al. 2010; Hu et al. 2008). Taking into account that in this study regional simulations covered about 86% of the Haean catchment area, LandscapeDNDC estimated total nitrate leaching rates were quite similar to NO₃-N loadings calculated (concentration * discharge) at the catchment outlet of the Mandae stream, which were 89.9 and 81.5 t N yr⁻¹ in 2009 and 2010 (Eum 2015), respectively.

Land use Ye	Vear	Biomass	Nitrate leaching [kg N ha ⁻¹]			Direct N ₂ O [kg N ha ⁻¹]			Indirect N ₂ O [kg N ha ⁻¹] ^b			Total N ₂ O [kg N ha ⁻¹] ^c				$N_2O_{i}EF_{d}$			
	i cai	$[t DW ha^{-1}]$	mean	P25 ^a	P50	P75	mean	P25	P50	P75	mean	P25	P50	P75	mean	P25	P50	P75	[%] ^d
Cabbage	2009	11.0	135	111	132	150	1.85	1.69	1.85	1.88	1.01	0.84	0.99	1.13	2.86	2.48	2.86	3.00	0.61
	2010	11.0	150.5	115.9	139.9	155.1	2.59	2.15	2.39	2.71	1.13	0.87	1.05	1.16	3.72	3.06	3.45	4.20	0.93
Potato	2009	17.8	111.6	102.8	109.5	120.9	1.87	1.71	1.9	2.01	0.84	0.77	0.82	0.91	2.71	2.48	2.72	2.89	0.54
	2010	14.8	129.2	114	120.2	142.8	1.92	1.79	1.84	1.94	0.97	0.86	0.9	1.07	2.89	2.6	2.78	3.16	0.59
Radish	2009	6.4	127.3	122.1	129.1	136.2	2.78	2.53	2.8	2.92	0.96	0.92	0.97	1.02	3.74	3.43	3.79	3.91	0.95
	2010	5.5	151.4	134.7	143.3	156.9	2.77	2.52	2.66	2.9	1.14	1.01	1.07	1.18	3.91	3.56	3.67	4.16	1.03
Soybean	2009	6.3	74.7	57.9	61.5	82.3	1.17	1.1	1.16	1.23	0.56	0.43	0.46	0.62	1.73	1.53	1.62	1.84	1.09
	2010	5.8	70.4	58.2	63.3	67.3	1.29	1.21	1.24	1.29	0.53	0.44	0.47	0.51	1.82	1.63	1.72	2.04	1.22
Forest-Moderate	2009		0.00				0.62	0.61	0.62	0.63					0.62	0.61	0.62	0.63	
	2010		0.01				0.60	0.59	0.61	0.62					0.60	0.59	0.61	0.62	
Forest-Low	2009		0.00				0.40	0.39	0.40	0.41					0.40	0.39	0.40	0.41	
	2010		0.00				0.39	0.39	0.40	0.40					0.39	0.39	0.40	0.40	

Table 4.6 Regional simualtion of annual crop biomass, N₂O emission and nitrate leaching from the Haean catchment

^a Percentile values

^bN₂O emissions from nitrate leaching were calculated with the IPCC default value of 0.0075 (IPCC 2006)

^c Sum of direct and indirect N₂O emissions

^d Direct N₂O emission factors for applied N fertilizer: EF_d [%] = 100 x (N₂O emission from fertilized field - N₂O emission from unfertilized field) / applied N fertilizer

	N_2O	emissio	ı			Nitrat	Nitrate leaching							
Model	r	r^2	Adjusted r ²	Std error of the estimate	r ² change	r	r^2	Adjusted r ²	Std error of the estimate	r ² change				
1 ^a	0.76	0.57	0.26	0.54	0.57	0.92	0.85	0.73	16.14	0.85				
2 ^b	0.75	0.56	0.39	0.49	-0.01	0.91	0.82	0.75	15.71	-0.03				
3 ^c	0.73	0.53	0.45	0.47	-0.04	0.88	0.77	0.73	16.14	-0.05				

Table 4.7 Regression analysis of N₂O emission and nitrate leaching

^a Fertilizer, Precipitation and Sand content ^b Fertilizer and Precipitation

^c Fertilizer

4.3.3 Assessment of mitigation strategies

The effects of mitigation strategies (Split2 and Split3) on N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from major upland crops of the Haean catchment compared to current farmers` practices in 2009 and 2010 are presented in Figure 4.8.



Figure 4.8 Comparison of fertilization rates, N_2O emissions and nitrate leaching from a) cabbage, b) potato, c) radish and d) soybean fields considering current farmers` practices and optimized agricultural management

Overall, Split2 and Split3 resulted in significant lower fertilization rates (-16 - -209 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), in particular for cabbage and radish and less for potato and soybean cultivation. The reduction in fertilization rates in combination with optimized application dates (Figure 4.9) significantly decreased nitrate leaching (17 - 137 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) and N₂O emissions (0.3 - 2.1 kg N ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) in all cropping systems (Figure 4.8). Further splitting fertilization from 2 into 3 applications was most effective for radish cultivation but of lower value for reduced N loads to the environment for other crops. Nevertheless, regarding the whole cropping area of the Haean catchment mitigation effects of Split3 were slightly higher as compared to Split2 and resulted in a reduction of N₂O emission by 49 and 52% and nitrate leaching rates by 68 and 78% in 2009 and 2010 (Table 4.8).



Figure 4.9 Comparison between current farmers` practices and optimized agricultural management for major upland crop cultivation in the Haean catchment

Note:

2) Dotted lines marked with T indicate the timing of tillage.

3) Arrows represent the N fertilization date.

4) Values in brackets indicate the application rates of N fertilizer [kg N ha⁻¹].

Instead of indicating each application rate of NH_4 -N, urea and manure (e.g. Figure 4.3), the sum of these rates were presented for the simple comparison between farmers' practices and mitigation strategies in 2010.

¹⁾ Solid lines indicate seeding or harvest dates [dd/mm].

Reduced nitrate leaching totals in values of 30 - 40 t N yr⁻¹ which would significantly decrease mean nitrate concentrations in the Mandae stream from currently 3.5 to about 2 mg l⁻¹, which is much closer to the South Korean quality standard for inland waters of 1.5 mg l⁻¹. Compared to other studies our reduction potentials for N₂O emissions and nitrate leaching are in the upper range. Deng et al. (2013) demonstrated that a 75% reduction of N fertilization would result in a 31% lowering of N₂O emissions from intensively managed Chinese vegetable fields without penalizing yields. Arregui and Quemada (2006) reported about 57.7% reduced nitrate leaching rates for fertilizer split application as compared to one single application in barley fields. Considering similar changes in agricultural management in potato fields Burton et al. (2008) and Zebarth et al. (2012) showed about 25 and 39.5% reduced N₂O emissions, respectively.

Table 4.8 Mitigation potential of N_2O emission and nitrate leaching from major upland crop fields of the Haean catchment

Year	Practice	Fertilization rate [t N yr ⁻¹]	N_2O emission [t N yr ⁻¹]	Nitrate leaching $[t N yr^{-1}]^{b}$
2009	Split2 ^a	-43 (26) ^c	-0.64 (34)	-29.0 (60)
	Split3 ^b	-46 (28)	-0.93 (49)	-32.7 (68)
2010	Split2	-46 (40)	-0.71 (47)	-38.8 (77)
	Split3	-47 (41)	-0.78 (52)	-39.5 (78)

Note that values are differences between mitigation strategies and current farmers` practices

^a Split fertilizer application into 2 times

^bSplit fertilizer application into 3 times

^c Values in brackets indicate the reduction rate [%] compared to the current farmers` practices

4.4 Conclusions

In this study, the biogeochemical LandscapeDNDC model demonstrated its capability for predicting crop yields, N_2O emission and nitrate leaching at site and catchment scale considering different agricultural management practices and environmental conditions. Estimated high nitrate leaching and N_2O emissions from fertilized upland fields of the Haean catchment demonstrated the urgent need to develop strategies for mitigating N exports to the environment. Reduction in N fertilization rates and adopting numbers and timing of fertilizer applications proofed to be most suitable to significantly reduce N_2O emissions and nitrate leaching without penalizing yields.

The results of this study could be used to guide improvement of current farmers` practices in order to reduce environmental impacts of crop cultivation in the Haean catchment such as water quality issues in the Soyang River Dam a downstream drinking water reservoir. However, further studies should consider

other mitigation options such as cover crops (e.g. rapeseed and winter wheat) and reduced tillage both potentially contributing also to increase of soil carbon stocks and soil fertility. Up to now mitigation options were evaluated retrospectively based on observed climate data. In particular, under monsoon climate conditions, application of process-based models such as the LandscapeDNDC linked to prediction of actual weather forecast data (4 weeks) could further help to define optimal timing and rates of fertilization as well as seeding and planting of crops.

4.5 Acknowledgments

This research was carried out as a part of the International Research Training Group TERRECO (GRK 1565/1), a project funded by the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Korea Science and Engineering Foundation (KOSEF). Additional support was provided by FACCE MACSUR-Modeling European Agriculture with Climate Change for Food Security, a FACCE JPI knowledge hub. We are grateful to Dr. Sina Berger for supporting measured data on soybean and forest sites and Dr. Rüdiger Grote for giving technical support for forest simulations.

4.6 References

- Abdalla M, Jones M, Yeluripati J, Smith P, Burke J, Williams M (2010) Testing DayCent and DNDC model simulations of N2O fluxes and assessing the impacts of climate change on the gas flux and biomass production from a humid pasture. Atmospheric Environment 44: 2961-2970. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2010.05.018.
- Agostini F, Tei F, Silgram M, Farneselli M, Benincasa P, Aller MF (2010) Decreasing Nitrate Leaching in Vegetable Crops with Better N Management. In: E Lichtfouse (ed) Genetic Engineering, Biofertilisation, Soil Quality and Organic Farming. Springer Netherlands.
- Alexandratos N, Bruinsma J (2012) World agriculture towards 2030/2050: the 2012 revision. FAO, Rome.
- Ambus P, Robertson GP (2006) The Effect of Increased N Deposition on Nitrous oxide, Methane and Carbon dioxide Fluxes from Unmanaged Forest and Grassland Communities in Michigan. Biogeochemistry 79: 315-337. doi: 10.1007/s10533-005-5313-x.
- Arregui LM, Quemada M (2006) Drainage and nitrate leaching in a crop rotation under different Nfertilizer strategies: application of capacitance probes. Plant and Soil 288: 57-69. doi: 10.1007/s11104-006-9064-9.
- Bell MJ, Jones E, Smith J, Smith P, Yeluripati J, Augustin J, Juszczak R, Olejnik J, Sommer M (2012) Simulation of soil nitrogen, nitrous oxide emissions and mitigation scenarios at 3 European cropland sites using the ECOSSE model. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 92: 161-181. doi: 10.1007/s10705-011-9479-4.
- Berger S, Jung E, Köpp J, Kang H, Gebauer G (2013a) Monsoon rains, drought periods and soil texture as drivers of soil N2O fluxes – Soil drought turns East Asian temperate deciduous forest soils into temporary and unexpectedly persistent N2O sinks. Soil Biology and Biochemistry 57: 273-281. doi: 10.1016/j.soilbio.2012.09.026.

- Berger S, Kim Y, Kettering J, Gebauer G (2013b) Plastic mulching in agriculture friend or foe of N₂O emissions? Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 167C: 43-51. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2013.01.010.
- Bouwman AF, Boumans LJM, Batjes NH (2002) Modeling global annual N2O and NO emissions from fertilized fields. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 16: 1080. doi: 10.1029/2001gb001812.
- Bouwman L, Stehfest E, Kessel Cv (2010) Nitrous oxide emissions from the nitrogen cycle in arable agriculture: estimation and mitigation. Nitrous Oxide and Climate Change. Earthscan, London.
- Burton DL, Zebarth BJ, Gillam KM, MacLeod JA (2008) Effect of split application of fertilizer nitrogen on N2O emissions from potatoes. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 88: 229-239. doi: 10.4141/cjss06007.
- Butterbach-Bahl K, Baggs EM, Dannenmann M, Kiese R, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S (2013) Nitrous oxide emissions from soils: how well do we understand the processes and their controls? The Royal Society, London.
- Butterbach-Bahl K, Kahl M, Mykhayliv L, Werner C, Kiese R, Li C (2009) A European-wide inventory of soil NO emissions using the biogeochemical models DNDC/Forest-DNDC. Atmospheric Environment 43: 1392-1402. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2008.02.008.
- Butterbach-Bahl K, Kesik M, Miehle P, Papen H, Li C (2004) Quantifying the regional source strength of N-trace gases across agricultural and forest ecosystems with process based models. Plant and Soil 260: 311-329. doi: 10.1023/B:PLSO.0000030186.81212.fb.
- Cardenas LM, Gooday R, Brown L, Scholefield D, Cuttle S, Gilhespy S, Matthews R, Misselbrook T, Wang J, Li C, Hughes G, Lord E (2013) Towards an improved inventory of N2O from agriculture: Model evaluation of N2O emission factors and N fraction leached from different sources in UK agriculture. Atmospheric Environment 79: 340-348. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.06.033.
- Chirinda N, Kracher D, Lægdsmand M, Porter J, Olesen J, Petersen B, Doltra J, Kiese R, Butterbach-Bahl K (2011) Simulating soil N2O emissions and heterotrophic CO2 respiration in arable systems using FASSET and MoBiLE-DNDC. Plant and Soil 343: 139-160. doi: 10.1007/s11104-010-0596-7.
- Cui F, Zheng X, Liu C, Wang K, Zhou Z, Deng J (2014) Assessing biogeochemical effects and best management practice for a wheat-maize cropping system using the DNDC model. Biogeosciences 11: 91-107. doi: 10.5194/bg-11-91-2014.
- Deng J, Zhou Z, Zhu B, Zheng X, Li C, Wang X, Jian Z (2011) Modeling nitrogen loading in a small watershed in southwest China using a DNDC model with hydrological enhancements. Biogeosciences 8: 2999-3009. doi: 10.5194/bg-8-2999-2011.
- Deng J, Zhou ZX, Zheng XH, Li CS (2013) Modeling impacts of fertilization alternatives on nitrous oxide and nitric oxide emissions from conventional vegetable fields in southeastern China. Atmospheric Environment 81: 642-650. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.09.046.
- Engström L, Stenberg M, Aronsson H, Lindén B (2011) Reducing nitrate leaching after winter oilseed rape and peas in mild and cold winters. Agron Sustain Dev 31: 337-347. doi: 10.1051/agro/2010035.
- Eum J (2015) Runoff Characteristics of Non-point Source Pollution from Forest-agricultural Watershed and Water Quality Simulations with Crop Change Environmental Science. Kangwon National University, Chuncheon-si.
- Fan J, Hao M, Malhi SS (2010) Accumulation of nitrate N in the soil profile and its implications for the environment under dryland agriculture in northern China: A review. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 90: 429-440. doi: 10.4141/cjss09105.
- FAO (2012) Current world fertilizer trends and outlook to 2016. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, Rome, Italy.
- FAO, IFA (2001) Global estimates of gaseous emissions of NH3, NO and N2O from agricultural land. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and International Fertilizer Industry Association, Rome, Italy.
- Gangwon-do (2006) The survey of upland field farmers Chuncheon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).

- Gehl RJ, Schmidt JP, Godsey CB, Maddux LD, Gordon WB (2006) Post-Harvest Soil Nitrate in Irrigated Corn: Variability Among Eight Field Sites and Multiple Nitrogen Rates. Soil Science Society of America journal 70: 1922-1931. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2006.0330.
- Giltrap D, Saggar S, Li C, Wilde H (2008) Using the NZ–DNDC model to estimate agricultural N2O emissions in the Manawatu–Wanganui region. Plant and Soil 309: 191-209. doi: 10.1007/s11104-007-9527-7.
- Giltrap DL, Li C, Saggar S (2010) DNDC: A process-based model of greenhouse gas fluxes from agricultural soils. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 136: 292-300. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.06.014.
- Haas E, Klatt S, Fröhlich A, Kraft P, Werner C, Kiese R, Grote R, Breuer L, Butterbach-Bahl K (2013) LandscapeDNDC: a process model for simulation of biosphere–atmosphere–hydrosphere exchange processes at site and regional scale. Landscape Ecology 28: 615-636. doi: 10.1007/s10980-012-9772-x.
- HRERC (2012) Monitoring and evaluation of NPS pollution priority management region (IV) -Soyanggang dam watershed -. Han River Environment Research Center, Gyeonggi-do (in Korean).
- Hu K, Li B, Chen D, Zhang Y, Edis R (2008) Simulation of nitrate leaching under irrigated maize on sandy soil in desert oasis in Inner Mongolia, China. Agricultural Water Management 95: 1180-1188. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2008.05.001.
- IPCC (2000) IPCC Good Practice Guidance and Uncertainty Management in National Greenhouse Gas Inventories. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Hayama, Japan.
- IPCC (2001) Climate Change 2001: The Scientific Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Thrid Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA.
- IPCC (2006) 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme. Institute for Global Environmental Strategies (IGES), Hayama, Japan.
- IPCC (2007) Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, USA.
- Jégo G, Pattey E, Bourgeois G, Morrison MJ, Drury CF, Tremblay N, Tremblay G (2010) Calibration and performance evaluation of soybean and spring wheat cultivars using the STICS crop model in Eastern Canada. Field Crops Research 117: 183-196. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr.2010.03.008.
- Jing Q, Keulen Hv, Hengsdijk H (2010) Modeling biomass, nitrogen and water dynamics in rice–wheat rotations. Agricultural Systems 103: 433-443. doi: 10.1016/j.agsy.2010.04.001.
- Jung E, Otieno D, Kwon H, Berger S, Hauer M, Tenhunen J (2014) Influence of elevation on canopy transpiration of temperate deciduous forests in a complex mountainous terrain of South Korea. Plant and Soil 378: 153-172. doi: 10.1007/s11104-013-2019-z.
- Kesik M, Ambus P, Baritz R, Brüggemann N, Butterbach-Bahl K, Damm M, Duyzer J, Horváth L, Kiese R, Kitzler B, Leip A, Li C, Pihlatie M, Pilegaard K, Seufert G, Simpson D, Skiba U, Smiatek G, Vesala T, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S (2005) Inventories of N2O and NO emissions from European forest soils. Biogeosciences 2: 353-375.
- Khalil MI, Richards M, Osborne B, Williams M, Müller C (2013) Simulation and validation of greenhouse gas emissions and SOC stock changes in arable land using the ECOSSE model. Atmospheric Environment 81: 616-624. doi: 10.1016/j.atmosenv.2013.09.038.
- Kiese R, Heinzeller C, Werner C, Wochele S, Grote R, Butterbach-Bahl K (2011) Quantification of nitrate leaching from German forest ecosystems by use of a process oriented biogeochemical model. Environmental Pollution 159: 3204-3214. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2011.05.004.

- Kim Y, Berger S, Kettering J, Tenhunen J, Haas E, Kiese R (2014) Simulation of N2O emissions and nitrate leaching from plastic mulch radish cultivation with LandscapeDNDC. Ecological Research 29: 441-454. doi: 10.1007/s11284-014-1136-3.
- Kraus D, Weller S, Klatt S, Haas E, Wassmann R, Kiese R, Butterbach-Bahl K (2015) A new LandscapeDNDC biogeochemical module to predict CH4 and N2O emissions from lowland rice and upland cropping systems. Plant and Soil 386: 125-149. doi: 10.1007/s11104-014-2255-x.
- Kröbel R, Sun Q, Ingwersen J, Chen X, Zhang F, Müller T, Römheld V (2010) Modelling water dynamics with DNDC and DAISY in a soil of the North China Plain: A comparative study. Environmental Modelling & Software 25: 583-601. doi: 10.1016/j.envsoft.2009.09.003.
- Lee G, Yum K, Park U, Song S (2007) Analysis of the major cause of muddy water in Soyang River Dam Water and Future 40: 73-82 (in Korean).
- Lehuger S, Gabrielle B, Cellier P, Loubet B, Roche R, Béziat P, Ceschia E, Wattenbach M (2010) Predicting the net carbon exchanges of crop rotations in Europe with an agro-ecosystem model. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 139: 384-395. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2010.06.011.
- Li C, Aber J, Stange F, Butterbach-Bahl K, Papen H (2000) A process-oriented model of N2O and NO emissions from forest soils: 1. Model development. J Geophys Res 105: 4369-4384. doi: 10.1029/1999jd900949.
- Li C, Farahbakhshazad N, Jaynes DB, Dinnes DL, Salas W, McLaughlin D (2006) Modeling nitrate leaching with a biogeochemical model modified based on observations in a row-crop field in Iowa. Ecological Modelling 196: 116-130. doi: 10.1016/j.ecolmodel.2006.02.007.
- Li C, Frolking S, Frolking TA (1992) A Model of Nitrous Oxide Evolution From Soil Driven by Rainfall Events: 1. Model Structure and Sensitivity. J Geophys Res 97: 9759-9776. doi: 10.1029/92jd00509.
- Li C, Zhuang Y, Cao M, Crill P, Dai Z, Frolking S, Moore B, III, Salas W, Song W, Wang X (2001) Comparing a process-based agro-ecosystem model to the IPCC methodology for developing a national inventory of N2O emissions from arable lands in China. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 60: 159-175. doi: 10.1023/a:1012642201910.
- Li H, Qiu J-j, Wang L-g, Xu M-y, Liu Z-q, Wang W (2012) Estimates of N2O Emissions and Mitigation Potential from a Spring Maize Field Based on DNDC Model. Journal of Integrative Agriculture 11: 2067-2078. doi: 10.1016/S2095-3119(12)60465-1.
- Ludwig B, Jäger N, Priesack E, Flessa H (2011) Application of the DNDC model to predict N₂O emissions from sandy arable soils with differing fertilization in a long-term experiment. Journal of Plant Nutrition and Soil Science 174: 350-358. doi: 10.1002/jpln.201000040.
- MAFRA (2008) Policy directions for resource cycling environmentally-friendly livestock farming. Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, Sejong-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- MAFRA (2013) Major Statistics of Food, Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries. Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs, Sejong-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- ME (2000) Improvement of water quality standards Ministry of Environment Sejong-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- ME (2004) Mitigation plan for non-point pollution of highlands. Ministry of Environment, Sejong-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Min J, Shi W, Xing G, Powlson D, Zhu Z (2012a) Nitrous oxide emissions from vegetables grown in a polytunnel treated with high rates of applied nitrogen fertilizers in Southern China. Soil Use and Management 28: 70-77. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2011.00377.x.
- Min J, Zhang H, Shi W (2012b) Optimizing nitrogen input to reduce nitrate leaching loss in greenhouse vegetable production. Agricultural Water Management 111: 53-59. doi: 10.1016/j.agwat.2012.05.003.
- Mosier A, Kroeze C, Nevison C, Oenema O, Seitzinger S, van Cleemput O (1998) Closing the global N2O budget: nitrous oxide emissions through the agricultural nitrogen cycle. Nutrient Cycling in Agroecosystems 52: 225-248. doi: citeulike-article-id:1437935.

- NIER (2012) Monitoring and evaluation of NPS pollution priority management region in the Soyang Lake Watershed. In: HRER Center (ed). National Institute of Environmental Research, Incheon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Perreault S, Chokmani K, Nolin MC, Bourgeois G (2013) Validation of a Soil Temperature and Moisture Model in Southern Quebec, Canada. Soil Sci Soc Am J 77: 606-617. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2012.0311.
- Pilegaard K, Skiba U, Ambus P, Beier C, Brüggemann N, Butterbach-Bahl K, Dick J, Dorsey J, Duyzer J, Gallagher M, Gasche R, Horvath L, Kitzler B, Leip A, Pihlatie MK, Rosenkranz P, Seufert G, Vesala T, Westrate H, Zechmeister-Boltenstern S (2006) Factors controlling regional differences in forest soil emission of nitrogen oxides (NO and N2O). Biogeosciences 3: 651-661. doi: 10.5194/bg-3-651-2006.
- Ravishankara AR, Daniel JS, Portmann RW (2009) Nitrous Oxide (N2O): The Dominant Ozone-Depleting Substance Emitted in the 21st Century. Science 326: 123-125. doi: 10.1126/science.1176985.
- RDA (2010) Regional income data of agricultural product. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- RDA (2011) Regional income data of agricultural product. RDA, Suwon-si, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Reay DS, Davidson EA, Smith KA, Smith P, Melillo JM, Dentener F, Crutzen PJ (2012) Global agriculture and nitrous oxide emissions. Nature Clim Change 2: 410-416. doi: 10.1038/nclimate1458.
- Seo Y, Kim G, Park K, Kim K, Jung Y (2013) Nitrous Oxide Emissions from Red Pepper, Chinese Cabbage, and Potato Fields in Gangwon-do, Korea. Korean Journal of Soil Science and Fertilizer 46: 463-468. doi: 10.7745/KJSSF.2013.46.6.463.
- Shin Y, Choi J, Lim K, Shim H, Lyou C, Shin M (2005a) Nonpoint source pollutants loads characteristics of rural watershed. Korean Society on Water Environment • Korean Society Of Water And Wastewater, Kumoh National Institute of Technology (in Korean).
- Shin Y, Kim C, Kim T, Joo J (2005b) A Basic Study for Environmentally Friendly Reorganization of Highland Agriculture. Korea Rural Economic Institute Seoul (in Korean).
- Shope CL, Maharjan GR, Tenhunen J, Seo B, Kim K, Riley J, Arnhold S, Koellner T, Ok YS, Peiffer S, Kim B, Park JH, Huwe B (2014) Using the SWAT model to improve process descriptions and define hydrologic partitioning in South Korea. Hydrol Earth Syst Sci 18: 539-557. doi: 10.5194/hess-18-539-2014.
- Sieling K, Kage H (2006) N balance as an indicator of N leaching in an oilseed rape winter wheat winter barley rotation. Agriculture, Ecosystems & amp; Environment 115: 261-269. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2006.01.011.
- Smith WN, Grant BB, Desjardins RL, Rochette P, Drury CF, Li C (2008) Evaluation of two processbased models to estimate soil N2O emissions in Eastern Canada. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 88: 251-260. doi: 10.4141/cjss06030.
- Smith WN, Grant BB, Desjardins RL, Worth D, Li C, Boles SH, Huffman EC (2010) A tool to link agricultural activity data with the DNDC model to estimate GHG emission factors in Canada. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment 136: 301-309. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.12.008.
- Snyder CS, Bruulsema TW, Jensen TL, Fixen PE (2009) Review of greenhouse gas emissions from crop production systems and fertilizer management effects. Agric Ecosyst Environ 133: 247-266. doi: 10.1016/j.agee.2009.04.021.
- Werner C, Butterbach-Bahl K, Haas E, Hickler T, Kiese R (2007) A global inventory of N2O emissions from tropical rainforest soils using a detailed biogeochemical model. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 21: GB3010. doi: 10.1029/2006gb002909.
- Yanggu-gun (2010) The Statistical Yearbook of Yanggu-gun 2009. Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Yanggu-gun (2011) The Statistical Yearbook of Yanggu-gun 2010. Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea (in Korean)

- Yanggu-gun (2012) The Statistical Yearbook of Yanggu-gun 2011. Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea (in Korean).
- Zebarth BJ, Snowdon E, Burton DL, Goyer C, Dowbenko R (2012) Controlled release fertilizer product effects on potato crop response and nitrous oxide emissions under rain-fed production on a medium-textured soil. Canadian Journal of Soil Science 92: 759-769. doi: 10.4141/cjss2012-008.
- Zhou M, Zhu B, Butterbach-Bahl K, Zheng X, Wang T, Wang Y (2013) Nitrous oxide emissions and nitrate leaching from a rain-fed wheat-maize rotation in the Sichuan Basin, China. Plant and Soil 362: 149-159. doi: 10.1007/s11104-012-1269-5.

Assurance and Declaration / Versicherungen und Erklärungen

Hiermit erkläre ich mich damit einverstanden, dass die elektronische Fassung meiner Dissertation unter Wahrung meiner Urheberrechte und des Datenschutzes einer gesonderten Überprüfung hinsichtlich der eigenständigen Anfertigung der Dissertation unterzogen werden kann.

Hiermit erkläre ich eidesstattlich, dass ich die Dissertation selbständig verfasst und keine anderen als die von mir angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe.

Ich habe die Dissertation nicht bereits zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades anderweitig eingereicht und habe auch nicht bereits diese oder eine gleichartige Doktorprüfung endgültig nicht bestanden.

Hiermit erkläre ich, dass ich keine Hilfe von gewerbliche Promotionsberatern bzw. -vermittlern in Anspruch genommen habe und auch künftig nicht nehmen werde.

.....

Ort, Datum, Unterschrift